DESIGN OF KNEE JOINT MECHANISMS AND IN-SOCKET SENSORS FOR TRANSFEMORAL AMPUTEES

AMR MOHAMMED EL-SAYED AHMED

FACULTY OF ENGINEERING UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2015

DESIGN OF KNEE JOINT MECHANISMS AND IN-SOCKET SENSORS FOR TRANSFEMORAL AMPUTEES

AMR MOHAMMED EL-SAYED AHMED

THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

FACULTY OF ENGINEERING UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2015

DEDICATION

To my beloved Mother, my Wife for her endless support, my Sons (Youssef and

Adam) and my Daughter (Salma).

To the spirit of the late Father.

UNIVERSITI MALAYA

ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATI ON

Name of Candidate: AMR MOHAMMED EL-SAYED

Registration/Matric No: KHA110091

Name of Degree: DOCTOR OF PHILOSPHY (BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING)

Title of Project Paper/Research Report/Dissertation/Thesis ("this Work"):

Design of Knee Joint Mechanisms and In-Socket Sensors for Transfemoral Amputees

Field of Study: Biomechatronics

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

(1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;

(2) This Work is original;

(3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;

(4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;

(5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;

(6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date

Name:

Designation:

ABSTRACT

Lower limb prostheses are developed to assist amputees in restoring mobility functions such as walking, sit-to-stand, stair ascent/descent, and ramp climbing. Although the current prostheses are equipped with sensors, actuators, controllers, and mechanical structures, they require improvements to mimic the function of the natural limbs. The first challenge in prosthetic development is to monitor the amputee/prosthesis interaction by using sensors built into the socket. This interaction helps in detecting the gait phases and events, in addition to develop new control strategies for prostheses, which may enhance the amputees' comfort. The second challenge is to develop a knee prosthetic mechanism that could imitate the functions of the natural knee.

To accomplish the aims of this thesis, studies were undertaken consecutively. First, the technology of the knee prosthesis was studied to understand the functionality of its components. The technology review showed that the sensory system requires enhancement, in particular, a new sensory system can be added-on to the mechanical sensors to sense the user's intent, identify the transition between phases, and improve the control performance of the prosthesis. Based on this study, the piezoelectric bimorph (PB) was selected as the sensing element while a linear motor was selected as the most appropriate actuator.

Next, the PB was validated as a sensing element by finding out its characteristics for the intended application. The static and dynamic characteristics of the PB were investigated and tested as an in-socket sensor with a transfemoral amputee to check its ability to sense the movement of the knee prosthesis. Moreover, the PB was tested as an actuation element in an application named microgripper that was capable of grasping a small object. Also, the PB was compared with a force sensitive resistor (FSR) as an in-socket sensor for a transfemoral

amputee performing activities such as walking, sit-to-stand, and stair climbing. The PB could track the knee angle at most of the activities, while the FSR could be used as a trigger sensor at different movements.

In the second stage, the focus was on the actuation system and mechanical structure of the knee prosthesis. It was found that, the mechanical actuation system needs improvement in terms of the normal range of motion and the power generation in activities that require extra torque and power. Therefore, a new design of knee prosthesis mechanism that contains a linear actuation system was presented and modeled using a physical modelling tool. The mechanism was physically simulated and controlled using PID controller at activities of daily living (ADL). Finally, an overall control framework of the knee mechanism using in-socket sensor was presented to guide the researchers to develop a knee prosthesis that could be controlled using in-socket sensors.

In conclusion, the study demonstrates the possibility of using the piezoelectric bimorph as an in-socket transducer. Furthermore, a knee prosthesis mechanism was successfully designed, modelled, and tested at ADL. Further, clinical trials are recommended for the knee mechanism upon future development. Moreover, more subjects with different types of sockets may be tested towards improving the functionality of the knee prosthesis.

ABSTRAK

Prostesis betis dibangunkan untuk membantu amputi dalam mengembalikan fungsi pergerakan seperti berjalan, duduk-ke-berdiri, naik turun tangga, dan ber jalan mendaki cerun. Walaupun alatan prostesis yang ada sekarang dilengkapi dengan alat pengesan, penggerak, pengawal, dan struktur mekanikal, alatan prosthesis ini memerlukan penambahbaikan bagi meniru fungsi anggota badan semula jadi. Cabaran pertama dalam pembangunan prostesis adalah dalam memantau interaksi antara amputi dengan alatan prostesis yang dipakainya dengan menggunakan alat pengesan yang dibina di dalam soket. Interaksi ini membantu dalam mengesan fasa dan gaya berjalan, di samping membangunkan strategi kawalan baru untuk prostesis, yang boleh meningkatkan keselesaan amputi tersebut. Cabaran kedua adalah dalam membangunkan satu mekanisme prostesis lutut yang boleh meniru fungsi lutut semula jadi.

Untuk mencapai matlamat tesis ini, beberapa kajian telah dijalankan. Pertama, teknologi prostesis lutut dikaji untuk memahami fungsi komponen-komponennya. Kajian menunjukkan bahawa teknologi sistem deria memerlukan peningkatan, khususnya, sistem deria baru boleh ditambah bersama alat pengesan mekanikal untuk mengesan niat pengguna secara tidak langsung, mengenal pasti peralihan antara fasa pergerakan kaki, dan meningkatkan prestasi kawalan prostesis. Berdasarkan kajian piezoelektrik bimorph (PB) telah dipilih sebagai elemen penderiaan manakala motor linear telah dipilih sebagai penggerak yang paling sesuai.

Seterusnya, PB telah disahkan sebagai elemen penderiaan yang sesuai dengan mengenalpasti ciri-ciri maklumat yang dikehendaki. Ciri-ciri statik dan dinamik PB telah disiasat dan diuji sebagai penderia dalam soket dengan amputi transfemoral untuk memeriksa

keupayaan mengesan pergerakan prostesis lutut. Selain itu, PB telah diuji sebagai satu elemen dalam aplikasi menggerakkan microgripper yang mampu menggenggam objek kecil. Di samping itu, PB telah dibandingkan dengan perintang sensitive daya (FSR) sebagai pengesan dalam soket untuk amputi transfemoral yang melakukan aktiviti seperti berjalan, duduk-ke-berdiri, dan memanjat tangga. PB dapat mengesan sudut lutut untuk kebanyakan aktiviti, manakala FSR boleh digunakan sebagai sensor pencetus pada pergerakan yang berbeza.

Pada peringkat kedua, tumpuan adalah pada sistem penggerak dan struktur mekanikal prostesis lutut. Kajian telah mendapati bahawa, sistem penggerak mekanikal memerlukan peningkatan keperluan mekanikal dari segi julat normal gerakan dan penjanaan tenaga dalam aktiviti yang memerlukan daya kilas dan tenaga yang tinggi. Oleh itu, reka bentuk baru mekanisme prostesis lutut yang mengandungi sistem penggerak linear telah dibentangkan dan dimodelkan menggunakan alat pemodelan fizikal. Mekanisme ini telah disimulasi secara fizikal dan dikawal menggunakan pengawal PID bagi aktiviti harian asas. Akhirnya, satu rangka kerja kawalan keseluruhan mekanisme lutut menggunakan sensor dalam soket disampaikan untuk memandu penyelidik membangunkan prostesis lutut yang boleh dikawal menggunakan sensor dalam soket.

Kesimpulannya, kajian ini jelas menunjukkan kebolehupayaan menggunakan piezoelektrik bimorph sebagai alat pengesan pergerakan kaki yang dimasukkan di dalam soket. Tambahan pula, mekanisme prostesis lutut telah berjaya direka bentuk, dimodel, dan diuji pada aktiviti harian asas. Ujian klinikal juga telah disarankan untuk mekanisme lutut selepas proses pembangunan pada masa depan. Selain itu, kajian dengan lebih ramai pengguna prostetik kaki atas lutut dengan pelbagai jenis soket adalah disarankan ke arah meningkatkan fungsi prostesis lutut tersebut.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the help and guidance of ALLAH through my whole life, the merciful, the compassionate for the uncountable gifts given to me.

Many thanks and deep appreciations are due to Dr. Azah Hamzaid for introducing me to this interesting topic. I wish to express my appreciation to Prof. Azuan Abu Osman for his support and encouragement.

I would like to acknowledge the incredible tolerance and patience displayed by my wife for her continuous encouragement during my postgraduate study. To the people who allow me to study and accomplish my goals, I am always thankful. To my friends, many sincere thanks.

Amr Mohammed, 2015

ABSTRACT	IV
ABSTRAK	VI
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	.VIII
LIST OF FIGURES	XI
LIST OF TABLES	XII
CHAPTER 1 : INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.1.1 Classification of the knee prostheses	2
1.1.2 Electromyography (EMG) and electroencephalography (EEG) sensory systems in the prosthesis	knee 6
1.1.3 Actuation mechanism in the knee prosthesis	7
1.2 Overview of biomechatronics philosophy	9
1.3 Motivation for the study	12
1.4 Aim and scope of the study	14
1.5 Structure of the thesis	15
CHAPTER 2 : LITERATURE REVIEW	19
2.1 Introduction	19
2.2 Passive knee prosthesis	19
2.3 Powered/ motorized knee prosthesis	20
2.4 Adaptive dissipative knee prosthesis	22
2.5 Sensors in the knee prosthesis	24
2.6 Actuators in the knee prosthesis	26
2.7 Control scheme in the knee prosthesis	27
2.8 Weight Considerations in the knee prosthesis	27
2.9 Operation and power sources in the knee prosthesis	28
2.10 Overview of prosthetic foot type	29
2.11 Summary	30
CHAPTER 3	32
Paper 1: Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur Azah Hamzaid, Noor Azuan Abu Osman. Piezoelectric bimor Characteristics as in-Socket sensors for transfemoral amputees. <i>Sensors</i> , 2014, 14(12 23724-23741	rphs' .), 32
Paper 2: Amr M. El-Sayed; Abo-Ismail, Ahmed; El-Melegy, Moumen T.; Nur Azah Hamzaid Noor Azuan Abu Osman. Development of a micro-gripper using piezoelectric bimor Sensors, 2013, 13(5), 5826-5840.	; phs. 33
Paper 3: Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur A. Hamzaid, Kenneth Y.S. Tan, Noor A. Abu Osman. Detect of prosthetic knee movement phases via in-socket Sensors: A feasibility study. <i>The Scientific World Journal</i> , 2015, 13 pages	ion 34

TABLE OF CONTENTS

of a linear actuated transfermoral knee joint in basic daily movements. Appli	ied
Mathematics & Information Sciences, 2014, (In press).	
CHAPTER 4 : DISCUSSION	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Outcome of the research questions	
4.2.1 Sensory system	
4.2.2 Actuation system	2
4.2.3 Mechanism and materials of the knee prosthesis	2
4.2.4 Framework of controlling the knee prosthesis using in-socket sensor	
CHAPTER 5 : CONCLUSION	
5.1 Directions for Future Work	
5.1.1 Knee prosthesis design and development	4
5.1.2 Useful points for the upcoming research	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Classification of the current knee prosthetic systems
Figure 1.2: Various types of passive knee prosthesis devices for transfemoral amputees, (a) Heritage Polycentric Pneumatic 4 Bar Knee, (b) Heritage Single Axis Hydraulic, (Heritage Medical Equipment, IA, USA) (c) Prosthetics Freada 2SR320 Mechanical knee joint with four bar (Fujian Prosthetics Center, Fuzhou, China)
Figure 1.3: Various types of active/powered knee prosthesis devices for transfemoral amputees, (a) Vanderbilt leg (Sup et al., 2011), (b) MIT Biomimetic agonist-antagonist active knee (Martinez-Villalpando & Herr, 2009), (c) The Ossur Rheo knee (Ossur, CA, USA), and (d) the Ottobock C-Leg [®] represent the microprocessor controlled damping knee prostheses (Ottobock, TX, USA)4
Figure 1.4: Components of bimoecharonics system include mechanical structure, sensors, actuators, and control
Figure 1.5: The main questions and sub-questions covered during the current study
Figure 1.6: A diagram concludes the thesis chapters and their relation to the thesis sections
Figure 4.1: Piezoelectric bimorph harvesting kit, (a) Harvesting piezoelectric element circuit (Piezo Systems, Inc., MA, USA), (b) Harvesting electronic circuit
Figure 4.2: Diagram shows the possibility of using the piezoelectric bimorph as a power harvesting device besides controlling the knee prosthesis using piezoelectric in-socket sensor
Figure 4.3: Suggested development stages of the future knee prosthesis
Figure 4.4: Detailed description of the controlling the prosthetic limb via in-socket sensors

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Weight of the current knee prosthesis	28
Table 2.2: Power sources in the prosthetic knee systems	29
Table 2.3: Prosthetic foot devices in the prosthetic knee systems	30

university

CHAPTER 1 : INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

Disability in some people causes limitations in movement, vision, respiration, hearing, and balance. Disabled people have the same health needs as non-disabled people that let them do the activities of daily living (ADL) such as socializing, work, and sports. In particular, a person with limitations in movements, especially people with lower limb amputations, are unable to perform basic daily movements such as walking, running, standing, siting, and stair ascent/ descent without any assistive devices. Movement related disability may be either congenital, i.e. present from birth, or occurs during a person's lifetime. For instance, some people may face some diseases or accidents during their lifetime leading to upper or lower extremities amputations.

The level of lower limb amputations is defined with respect to the knee joint. Thus, below knee amputations (Transtibial) and above knee amputations (Transfemoral) are categorized as the two types of amputations of the lower extremities. People who lost their lower extremities need assistive devices to help them to perform movements. Thus, different classes of assistive devices are used by amputees who suffer from transtibial and transfemoral amputations (Brooker, 2012). In fact, transfemoral amputations are increasing each year, an average of 185,000 amputations are found each year due to accidents and diseases like diabetes and peripheral vascular disease (McGimpsey & Bradford, 2011). Therefore, the need to restore mobility to amputees is necessary especially to those doing repetitive daily activities. The assistive devices and prostheses are used by the amputees to replicate those activities.

Nowadays, technology is involved in the field of the upper and lower prostheses. The type of prosthesis is selected based on what part of a limb is missing of particular importance is the above knee amputation, where the loss of the knee joint affects the movement of the whole human body. The knee joint plays an essential role in the human movement as it is responsible for carrying the body weight in horizontal (running and walking) and vertical (jumping) movements. So, technology can be used to develop a knee prosthesis that can assist the user to replicate different movements.

1.1.1 Classification of the knee prostheses

Basically, the knee prostheses are categorized into passive, active, and powered/motorized prostheses as shown in Figure 1.1. Each type of knee prosthesis has its own characteristics and functions. For instance, passive knee prosthesis consists of a mechanical structure and operating fluid that assist the prosthesis to vary the rate of damping during walking.



Figure 1.1: Classification of the current knee prosthetic systems

In addition, the passive knee prosthesis is classified according to its number of axes, either single axis or multi axes. A typical passive knee prosthesis behaves as a variable damper during walking. However, some weaknesses are still found in passive knee prosthesis in some movements such as stair climbing and sit-to-stand. The user requires additional torque to replicate those movements.

The evolution of the knee prostheses over the recent decades has progressed from purely mechanical systems to systems that include microprocessor, actuators, and sensors. Figure 1.2 represents the passive types of knee prosthesis, namely (a) pneumatic, (b) hydraulic, and (c) mechanical knees.



Figure 1.2: Various types of passive knee prosthesis devices for transfemoral amputees, (a) Heritage Polycentric Pneumatic 4 Bar Knee, (b) Heritage Single Axis Hydraulic, (Heritage Medical Equipment, IA, USA) (c)
Prosthetics Freada 2SR320 Mechanical knee joint with four bar (Fujian Prosthetics Center, Fuzhou, China)

Due to the daily needs of the transfermoral amputees, passive knee prosthesis was updated to active and powered knee prosthesis as shown in Figure 1.3. Active and powered knee prostheses are able to adapt to different terrains. In addition, the powered knee prosthesis is able to generate the amount of torque and power at activities such as a stair ascent, sit-tostand, and slope climbing.



Figure 1.3: Various types of active/powered knee prosthesis devices for transfemoral amputees, (a) Vanderbilt leg (Sup et al., 2011), (b) MIT Biomimetic agonist-antagonist active knee (Martinez-Villalpando & Herr, 2009), (c) The Ossur Rheo knee (Ossur, CA, USA), and (d) the Ottobock C-Leg[®] represent the microprocessor controlled damping knee prostheses (Ottobock, TX, USA)

On the other hand, an active knee prosthesis is composed of a mechanical structure, control unit, and mechanical sensors. In particular, the function of the mechanical sensors in active knee prosthesis is to measure the knee kinematic and kinetic parameters during movement. The kinematic and kinetic parameters are the knee angle and torque, respectively. Accordingly, the sensors signals are used as a feedback to the controller to execute movement

commands such as the flexion and extension of the knee prosthesis during stride. However, active knee prosthesis cannot yet assist the amputees to perform activities such as stair ascent/descent and standing up. This is because such activities require significant torque and range of motion at the knee joint and involve the coordinated movement of the entire body to substantially raise the body center of mass in a generally economical manner.

The last type of the knee prosthesis consists of a mechanical structure, control unit, actuation system, and mechanical sensors. This type is called powered/motorized knee prosthesis. The powered knee prosthesis is able to generate extra torque that is produced by the actuation system in situations such as sit-to-stand and stair ascent/descent. Also, powered knee prosthesis contains pure mechanical sensors such as angle sensors, torque sensors, and on/off switches, and those sensors are functioning independently from the motor system of the human body. As a result, the control algorithms of the knee prosthesis need some artificial intelligence, thus making it complex. In addition, the control performance of the knee prosthesis does not function as if it was a natural limb.

Sensing system is a crucial part in the development of the knee prosthesis. As previously mentioned, the knee prosthesis is composed of mechanical sensors that measures knee parameters to get kinematic and kinetic information about the prosthesis movements that should be processed by the controller. For example, a potentiometer and encoder are used in the knee prosthesis to measure the flexion and velocity of the knee. However, it is essential to use on/off switches which give information about heel strike and toe off states. Those switches are placed away from the knee prosthesis as they are attached below the prosthetic foot. For example, one of the available types of the lower powered prosthesis consists of knee and foot prostheses that are connected permanently to each other. Although the lower limb powered prosthesis has benefits of replicating walking and slope climbing movements, it is

believed that both the knee and foot prosthesis cannot be used separately by the user with complete or partial amputations. The user in some situations may have to upgrade or replace the foot prosthesis with another one. As a result the user faces some difficulty to do that, because the foot prosthesis contains on/off switches that detect the transitions between phases. This concern may cause inflexibility to the user, especially if he/she needs to use a new ankle module or use a more comfortable foot or ankle prosthesis.

1.1.2 Electromyography (EMG) and electroencephalography (EEG) sensory systems in the knee prosthesis

In order to improve the interaction between the user and the sensing system of the prosthesis, attempts were conducted by multiple researchers that are related to using additional sensors. The purpose is to improve the intention of the user's movement in some daily activities. The electromyography (EMG) and electroencephalography (EEG) techniques are recently used as additional sensory system to enhance the control performance of the knee prosthesis beside the existing mechanical sensors. The EMG technique uses electrodes to detect the activity of the muscles. The output signal from the electrodes is fed to the control unit to adjust the movement of the knee prosthesis. The knee prosthesis which is controlled using EMG is named a myoelectric control of knee prosthesis, which is used by the transfermoral amputees to perform repetitive tasks in the workplace. Myoelectric control is used to control the locomotion of the knee prosthesis (Dawley et al., 2013). Some shortcomings of using EMG were observed, for example, EMG signals require amplification circuits in which developing a differential amplifier for EMG poses few real problems if the appropriate precautions are not taken. When a muscle contracts, the distribution of electrolytes within the tissue changes, which induces small voltages which need signal conditioning circuit (amplification circuit). The problem is to sense and isolate this signal so that it can be used to control the movement of a prosthesis device. In addition, electrodes that are placed in specific locations may cause discomfort and problems to the skin of the residual limb due to sweating.

Electroencephalography (EEG) is a technique that is used to measure the brain activity from the scalp (Teplan, 2002). EEG is widely used in many areas of clinical work and research. One of the biggest challenges in using EEG is the very small signal-to-noise ratio of the brain signals (Repovš, 2010). EEG signals have very small amplitudes and because of that they can be easily contaminated by noise. The noise can be electrode noise or can be generated from the body itself (Khatwani & Tiwari, 2013).

In conclusion, a part from the limitations that were mentioned earlier about EMG and EEG techniques, using EMG and EEG needs some considerations such as health and ethical procedures that may be required during the experiments. Also, a practical consideration is required when using EMG or EEG electrodes every time before and after donning and doffing the prosthesis socket. Therefore, it is recommended to search for alternative techniques that can be used as a sensing element to improve the interaction between the human body or residual limb with the control system of the knee prosthesis in order to develop the knee prosthesis to become closer to the natural limb.

1.1.3 Actuation mechanism in the knee prosthesis

The knee prosthesis is composed of an actuation system and a mechanical structure which can briefly be called the knee prosthesis mechanism. Nowadays, various types of actuators are used throughout the development of the knee prostheses. For example, magnetorheological (MR) fluid is an actuator system that uses the shear mode to produce primary torque (Herr & Wilkenfeld, 2003). MR actuator assists the controller to vary the damping of the knee prosthesis during walking. However, MR is still not able to produce sufficient torque for movements such as climbing slopes or stair ascent. Another type of actuators is electric motors that are used as an actuation system in powered knee prostheses (Sup et al., 2011). The actuation system of the knee prosthesis has to meet the daily activities of the amputees, especially movements such as sit-to-stand and slope climbing. In some situations such as sit-to-stand or stair ascent/descent, the actuation system should produce the required torque to assist the knee mechanism to rotate in a specific range of motion. In addition, the actuation system should be light in weight and compact. Bulky actuation system may cause problems and inconvenience to the amputee. The second part of knee prosthesis mechanism is the mechanical structure of the knee prosthesis which affects the overall performance of the knee prosthesis (Borjian, 2008). The design of a mechanical structure that is meant to be used in biological and human applications has to be smart, light in weight, and also durable. Moreover, the designer should take into consideration the appropriate location of the components of the knee prosthesis such as sensors, control unit, and actuation system.

During the actual situation, the actuation system may be not be able to produce continuous torque and power to move the prosthesis as expected, because of the inertia of the knee system that may need a pre-adjustment before the development process. Therefore, a physical modelling tool could simulate and control the performance of the actuation system along with the knee mechanism through the design stage. Physical simulation can mimic the real knee prosthesis mechanism at different movements. In addition, physical simulation assists the designer to update the mechanical design for better optimizing the parameters with the control system for better performance. Also, control scheme can be designed and established during the physical simulation and also tuning of the control parameters can be adjusted to investigate the appropriate control scheme. Full characteristics of the actuation system,

controller, and the knee prosthesis mechanism can be obtained from the physical simulation which is useful during development stage of the real system.

The physical simulation tool also provides a feedback to the designer about the static and dynamic behaviors in terms of dimensions and mass of various knee components. The physical simulation tool is a part of the biomechatronics approach. In this thesis, this strategy has been adopted to assist in the pre-development process of the knee prosthesis mechanism.

1.2 Overview of biomechatronics philosophy

Biomechatronics philosophy is a sub-discipline of the Mechatronics approach. Biomechatronics is useful during the design and development process of a biological system or human body with mechanical, electronic, and control schemes. Basically, biomechatronics system consists of four components: biosensors, controller, mechanical sensors, and actuators (Brooker, 2012). Biomechatronics is found in biomedical applications, such as biology, medicine, health care, minimally invasive surgery, and also microgrippers that are used to grasp or cut cells and organisms, and surgical robots (Gultepe et al., 2013). The four components of the biomechatronics system are shown in Figure 1.4.

An example of the application of biomechatronics in the field of biology and human body study can be illustrated as follows. Biosensors can be used to detect the user intentions or identify the transition between states during the knee movements. In another biomechatronics system, information can be relayed by the user's nervous system or muscle system. This information is sent by the biosensor to a controller that is located inside or outside the biomechatronics system. On the other hand, biosensors can be utilized to receive information from the position of the amputee limb, and the force generated from the limb and the actuator of an assistive device. Biosensors have variety of forms. They can be configured by wires that detect electrical activity, needle electrodes implanted in muscle, and electrode arrays with nerves growing through them. Otherwise, mechanical sensors measure information about the biomechatronics system and relate that information to the biosensor or the controller (El-Sayed et al., 2014).

The controller relays the amputee's intention to the actuation system. It also interprets feedback information about the user as received from the biosensors and mechanical sensors. Furthermore, the controller adjusts the performance of the biomechatronics system (Brooker, 2012).



Figure 1.4: Components of bimoecharonics system include mechanical structure, sensors, actuators, and control

Biomechatronics contains measurement of physical parameters that come out either from biological system or mechatronics system. Measurement can be variables such as voltage, chemical concentration, pressure, position, and displacement. The variables are processed and then transferred into the actuation system that is responsible for moving the whole system. Therefore, selection of the sensors and actuators that are created from active components or smart materials plays a crucial role in the development of biomechatronics system with minimal complexity in the control schemes.

It is essential to get a brief information about the smart materials, or intelligent materials, that have the intrinsic and extrinsic capabilities. Firstly, they respond or stimulate environmental changes and secondly, they activate their functions according to these changes (El-Sayed et al., 2013). There are various types of smart materials, for example, piezoelectric materials are able to function as sensing and actuation elements. Once mechanical stress is applied to the piezoelectric surface, it generates an electric charge. In contrast, when the charge is applied to the piezoelectric surface, it expands and contracts according to its polarization direction. Other examples of smart materials are the magnetorheological fluid, shape memory alloys, and optical fibers. Smart materials are found in many applications such as industrial, aerospace, surgical, and medical applications (Bishop, 2007).

Nowadays, biomechatronics is related to the recent technology that is being involved in the field of assistive devices for the amputees, specifically knee prosthesis for transfemoral amputees. Knee prosthesis contains sensors, actuators, and control unit that have to function simultaneously to provide the knee prosthesis the suitable range of motion according to the type of movement. For instance, activities such as walking at different speeds could be replicated using the knee prosthesis. However, some movements such as stair ascent/descent and sit-to-stand still require sufficient continuous torque and power that should be produced by the actuation system of the knee prosthesis.

Although researchers have attempted to develop a knee prosthesis that assists the amputated person to perform various activities, movements such as sit-to-stand, stair ascent/descent, and slope climbing have still not been validated by extensive studies. In

addition, the normal range of motion of the knee joint has to be achieved by the knee prosthesis. Moreover, the direct interaction between the amputee's residual limb with the knee prosthesis needs to be studied by using new sensing elements rather that EMG and EEG techniques. In particular, the control performance of the knee prosthesis can be improved if the human control system is matched with the knee controller by means of a sensing system. Researchers have to think of new techniques to improve the control performance of the knee prosthesis and, accordingly, meet the transfemoral amputees' demands.

1.3 Motivation for the study

In analyzing the existing active and power knee prostheses, it was found that knee prostheses are controlled by microprocessors that are based on artificial intelligence or preprogrammed algorithm to predict a response to environmental situations. The environment is sensed using pure mechanical sensors such as load cells and gyroscopes.

The existing knee prostheses could replicate walking. A few of them could assist in performing sit-to-stand and slope climbing movements. However, transition between states such as washing car or kicking football can be difficult to the user in some cases. This means the user's intention detection can be improved to better recognize those transitions. Also, the current knee prosthesis operates independently from the user's intention, although the user can improve the control performance of the system by moving or loading the prosthesis.

Detecting the transition between phases is a step to study the intention of the user, which is beneficial beside the pure mechanical sensors to achieve movement similar to the natural limb. EMG technique has some limitations of low voltage levels which vary from 50 μ V up to 5 mV, and needs some kind of amplification circuits. Also, the contact between the electrode and the skin could distort a recording signal. Besides, EMG technique causes skin problems due to sweating, and the signal may vary due to the skin impedance. Although there are attempts to study and use EEG technique in the field of controlling prostheses, it is becoming limited because of the short life span and robustness, and noise produced by electrodes or the body.

The available knee prosthesis mechanism (actuation system and mechanical structure) has some shortcomings to replicate the basic daily movements at a normal range as well as different speeds. Moreover, the knee prosthesis mechanism has limitation to provide the normal range of motion up to 120° . The range of movement that is produced by the current prosthesis is not sufficient to assist the transfemoral amputees to imitate some activities within the normal range from 0° - 120° . Thus, the current thesis presents three main questions and a few sub-questions that have to be addressed according the literature related to the knee prosthesis (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5: The main questions and sub-questions covered during the current study

The outcomes of the questions Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4 require studying the current knee prostheses, in terms of the mechanical structure, actuation system, and other sensor's characteristics. Thus, a comprehensive survey was necessary to study the main components of the knee prosthesis. Accordingly, sub-questions have to be answered based on the knowledge and answers of the three main questions. Finally, the answer to question number 4 that is considered one of the main contributions of the current study, will be presented in the coming chapters.

1.4 Aim and scope of the study

The motivation for the study is the improvement in the sensory system of the existing knee prosthesis in order to better control its performance. In addition, the aim is to establish a new design of a knee prosthesis mechanism that is able to achieve anthropomorphic range of motion. The current knee prosthesis mechanism has limitation in achieving the normal range of motion as well as in emulating the different daily activities at different time intervals.

The aim specifically is to examine the possibility of using an alternative sensory system that could directly interact with motor control system of the human body. In other words, the amputee's residual can be in direct contact with the sensory system to provide information about the intention and transition between states at different daily movements. The sensory system basically consists of sensing element that is used as a feedback to the control unit of the knee prosthesis.

Furthermore, the designing, testing, and investigating of a knee prosthesis mechanism that could function within the normal range of about 120°, and could mimic basic activities namely walking, sit-to-stand, stair ascent/descent, and slope climbing at different speeds. It

is believed that the main aim of the dissertation is as mentioned in the previous paragraphs. However specific aims can be listed based on the main aim:

- i. To test a new sensing element that is appropriate to be used in the field of the knee prosthesis, as well as, to work out the full characteristics of the smart piezoelectric bimorph element that has the benefits of self-sensing, without the need of external power supply that is normally required by conventional sensors such as inductive, resistive, and conductive types.
- ii. To simulate and test the knee joint mechanism for basic daily movements, to make sure that it provides sufficient torque and power, as well as, to adjust parameters such as mass and inertia of the knee mechanism.
- iii. To check the normal range of motion for most of the daily activities which varies from $0^{\circ}-120^{\circ}$, to set the required parameters of the knee prosthesis mechanism to replicate basic daily movements, and to establish a framework of controlling the knee prosthesis via an in-socket sensor, where the framework presents the integration between the actuation system, in-socket sensor, and control unit. Moreover, the framework proposed works as a platform for the future research in the field of the lower prosthesis.

1.5 Structure of the thesis

The thesis is organized into seven chapters, as follows:

Chapter 1 presents the introduction, motivation, research questions, and scope of the thesis. Chapter 2 reviews the current technologies of the knee prostheses in terms of sensors, actuators, and control methods.

Chapter 3:

Paper 1: Piezoelectric Bimorphs' Characteristics as in-Socket Sensors for Transfemoral Amputees.

"This study presents the use of piezoelectric bimorphs as in-socket sensors for transfemoral amputees. Static and dynamic characteristics of the piezoelectric bimorph were investigated. This paper highlighted the capacity of piezoelectric bimorphs to be functioned as in-socket sensors for transfemoral amputees".

Paper 2: Development of a Micro-Gripper Using Piezoelectric Bimorphs.

"In this study, the dynamic behaviors of bending piezoelectric bimorphs actuator were theoretically and experimentally investigated for micro-gripping applications in terms of its deflection along the length, transient response, and frequency response with varying driving voltages and driving signals. In addition, its implementation as a parallel micro-gripper using bending piezoelectric bimorphs was presented. The micro-gripper could perform precise micro-manipulation tasks and could handle objects such as a small strain gauge".

Paper 3: Detection of Prosthetic Knee Movement Phases via in-Socket Sensors:

"This paper presents an approach of identifying the movements of the knee prosthesis through pattern recognition of mechanical responses at the internal socket's wall. Force sensitive resistor (FSR) and piezoelectric outputs were measured with reference to the knee angle during each phase. Piezoelectric sensors could identify the movement of midswing and terminal swing, pre-full standing, pull-up at gait, sit-to-stand, and stair ascent. In contrast, FSR could estimate the gait cycle stance and swing phases and identifying the pre-full standing at sit-to-stand. The study highlighted the efficacy of using in-socket sensors for knee movement identification".

Paper 4: Control the performance of a linear actuated transfemoral knee joint in basic daily movements.

"This paper presents new proposed design of an actuated knee prosthesis mechanism that consists of an actuation system that is capable of feeding the knee's mechanism with the required moment and power at different movements. The PID control parameters were tuned until the measured angle of the actuated knee mechanism could track the desired angle within a time period of 1s and 0.1 s, however, the mechanism shows the deviation from the input at time periods of 0.05 s and 0.0125 s".

Chapter 4 presents the outcome of the research questions and discusses the correlation between the obtained results with the existing studies.

Chapter 5 provides the conclusion and recommendations for future studies.

A diagrammatic view of the thesis structure and the four chapters is shown in Figure 1.6. The diagram shows the storyline of the current thesis, including all the thesis chapters and their relation with respect to each part of the thesis.



Figure 1.6: A diagram concludes the thesis chapters and their relation to the thesis sections

CHAPTER 2 : LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

A knee prosthesis is the key component of a transfemoral prosthesis prescribed to an above knee amputee as it replaces the functional joint. The development of knee prosthesis has increasingly enabled amputees to perform activities of daily living (ADL). The variation in the needs of daily movements of the persons who lost their lower limbs has encouraged scientists to continuously improve the sensory system and the knee prosthesis mechanism.

This chapter shows the recent advancement of technology in the knee prosthesis. Different types of knee prostheses are classified according to their functional mechanism. Also, sensory system, actuation system, and control system in the knee prosthesis are presented. Moreover, weight consideration of the current knee prosthesis and the power supply sources are discussed. Furthermore, current types of prosthetic foot that may affect the biomechanics of the knee prosthesis are also presented.

2.2 Passive knee prosthesis

Passive knee prosthesis. has fixed impedance that is provided from either pneumatic or hydraulic systems, in which the friction of the prosthesis might change according to the walking speed of the amputees (Radcliffe, 1977). Unlike active prosthesis, passive knee types are not equipped with sensors that aid the interaction between the amputee and the environment (Alzaydi et al., 2011; Dunmin et al., 2011). For example, Mechanical–based prostheses employ passive prosthetic knee systems that have limited ability to mimic the behavior of a normal knee (Jay Martin, 2010). In a manual locking knee, a remote release cable is utilized to provide the user stability during knee extension. However, this device leads to high energy costs during ambulation. In weight-activated knees, constant-friction is

used to supply high stability during stance phase. Transferring the body weight to the knee shall activate an embedded brake that prevents buckling. This brake is released once the knee is unloaded. However, constant friction is still presents during the swing phase and these results are inefficient during gait. An element that is capable of storing energy, such as a spring may assist the knee during the swing phase in which it is loaded during weight bearing and released during the swing phase itself (Martinez-Villalpando & Herr, 2009; Michael, 1999). Another type of passive knee device is the single axis knee, which utilizes a simple pivot mechanism. It is robust, lightweight, and relatively cheaper than other knee systems that are commonly in use. However, amputees have to use their own muscles to maintain the device stable at standing, as it is not equipped with a stance control function. Thus, users often use manual lock to compensate for lack of stance control and utilize the available friction to prevent the leg from over-speeding during the forward swing when moving into the next step. Polycentric knees offer an advantage in terms of low maintenance but do not contribute towards walking pattern that resembles an able-bodied person. Other than the spring-loaded friction, polycentric knees offer little or no stance control. Stance control is a very important feature that prevents the knee from buckling in the event of an accident or an unexpected change during gait control. Nevertheless, some polycentric knees incorporate a simple locking mechanism that allows the knee to be locked in the extended position (Michael, 1999). Such passive knee devices cannot adjust or control the amount of power during different terrains.

2.3 Powered/ motorized knee prosthesis

Another type of knee prosthesis is the powered knee prosthesis, that has the capability to assist amputees to perform level walking, ramp descent, stair descent, standing, and detect instances of stumble (Wang et al., 2007). However, the devices still has some limitation to

deliver sufficient joint power to restore functions such as climbing stairs, running, many locomotive functions, and standing stability during slope terrain (Dedic & Dindo, 2011; Lawson et al., 2011; Song et al., 2008). On the other hand, powered knee devices can reduce the hip power demand during stance and swing phase (Hoover et al., 2013). External power delivered to the prosthetic knee enables adaptation at different walking environments. In addition, different types of sensors can be utilized to provide interaction between the prosthetic knee and the external environment. To date, there are two models of the powered knee devices: Ossur power knee[®] and the Vanderbilt leg (Sup et al., 2011). The two models have motors that generate power to facilitate the user to perform (ADL).

To improve the mobility of the knee prosthesis system, it incorporated the ability to restore user stability. The knee prosthesis was referred to as active device, as it is capable of delivering active response to prevent the amputee from falling due to obstacles. One example of those active powered knee can be seen in the stumble detection feature in which real time stumble can be detected using three separate accelerometers on the prosthesis. Ten subjects were employed to validate the stumble detection through these signals and all 19 stumble responses were correctly identified (Lawson et al., 2010). Further study was performed to enhance the interaction between the user and the environment whereby new knowledge of adaptive locomotion-mode-recognition system was developed to enhance the performance of the prior system. That system was based on the integration of EMG and mechanical signals, which showed great potential at locomotion-mode recognition (Du et al., 2012). EMG based control was successfully used to control the active knee prosthesis as presented through a set of swing experiments (Wu et al., 2011).

2.4 Adaptive dissipative knee prosthesis

Adaptive dissipation knees refer to devices that can regulate the impedance by adjusting the hydraulic valves such as the Ottobock C-Leg[®] or the devices that use magnetorheological fluid such as Rheo knee[™]. Microcontroller on board can regulate the impedance by tuning hydraulic valve, i.e. the orifice that rectifies the flow rate. Adaptive knees adjust the resistance to control the knee after calculating the comparisons between steps and monitoring the position, velocity, forces, and moments of the prosthetic knee (Hoover et al., 2013). To differentiate between passive and active knees in terms of the advantages of each type to the transfemoral amputees, a clinical comparison was performed to identify the damping in mechanical passive and active prosthetic knee devices. The study established the idea that variable-damping knee prostheses offer transfemoral amputees significant advantages over mechanically passive designs (Johansson et al., 2005). To solve the problems associated with passive knee systems and in order to enhance amputees' functional performance, researchers started to involve electronics in the design of prosthetic knees. For example, a prosthesis that consisted of a hydraulic actuator tethered to an external source power was used to move the knee joint and subsequently control the knee (Stein & Flowers, 1987).

In general, the working principle of a smart or active device involves the integration of intrinsic computational sensors, whereby the sensors detects the physical performance of the system and this corresponds to real-time alterations in the actuator. However, an embedded controller adjusts and coordinates the knee movement accordingly (Jay Martin, 2010). The first version of an active prosthetic has been developed and the electronic prosthesis is now available as a product on the wider market (Popovic & Schwirtlich, 1988). The Ottobock C-Leg[®], Össur Rheo Knee[®], Adaptive2[®], and Synergy knee (Bellmann et al., 2012) are all active adaptive dissipation knee. Nevertheless, the prior knee systems are still unable to

generate sufficient mechanical power for normal ADLs. The experiences of nine transfemoral amputees who wore C-Leg[®], Rheo knee[®], and Adaptive2[®], were acquired in order to identify which of these commercial knee systems offer functional benefits to amputee. The results revealed that C-Leg[®] could offer the most functional benefits during everyday gait (Bellmann et al., 2010).

One study compared the kinetics and kinematics performance of the C-Leg[®] and the Mauch SNS[®] knee prosthesis during gait (Segal et al., 2006). The study reported that the C-Leg[®] offers low performance in terms of knee angle, knee moment, and knee power with comparison to the Mauch SNS[®]. A review study presented transfemoral amputees' opinion of the C-Leg[®] microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knee in terms of three categories: safety, gait energy efficiency, and cost effectiveness. The study concluded that C-Leg[®] is safe, energy efficient, and cost effective compared to other prosthetic knee systems (Highsmith et al., 2010).

On the other hand, it is important to identify and evaluate the performance of each sensory, actuation and control element of knee prosthesis, a more crucial element in designing the knee prosthesis is to build a knee mechanism that has the capability of performing functional tasks such as sit-to-stand and stair climbing. Researches nowadays are investigating better prosthetic devices to assist the amputees during sit to stand and stair climbing. The functional capability that requires modulation of the power output of the limb should be achieved with the knee joint to contain the motorized actuators, sensors, and the controller. The following sections discuss the components of various technology utilized in the retrieved studies.
2.5 Sensors in the knee prosthesis

A prosthetic knee system requires many input variables to perform optimally, thus different types of sensors are used in the knee prosthesis. To select appropriate sensory systems for the knee devices, the control variables have to be determined. Adaptive-control of prosthetic knee (Herr & Wilkenfeld, 2003), was reported to monitor two types of variables namely, force/moment and flexion parameter. Microprocessor acquires information from the sensors to vary the resistance of the knee movement during gait. Strain gauges were located at appropriate positions close to the knee axis to identify a suitable correlation of the knee joint movement. Angle sensors were attached at the knee axis to measure the knee extension/flexion during walking. The sensors were used to duplicate the normal gait cycle for the adaptive-control prosthetic knee by varying the impedance. Active artificial knee joint (Kapti & Yucenur, 2006), provides the tracking position of the knee joint during the gait cycle. Measuring the knee flexion and identifying the appropriate knee position during gait cycle can assist tracking of the knee position reference trajectory. Angle rotary sensor was attached to be able to perform that task. Agonist-antagonist knee prosthesis (Martinez-Villalpando & Herr, 2009; Martinez-Villalpando et al., 2008), used knee angle sensor, hall effect sensor, and force sensitive resistor (FSR). Different impedance was identified by the controller during the stance and swing phases. All the described technology related to the mentioned researches employed different sensory systems integrated with the knee devices based on the controlled parameters.

Both angle sensor and moment or torque sensors plays a prominent role in developing an active knee. In order to record heel strike and toe-off to provide information about walking phases, FSR is used, located directly below the prosthetic foot. Furthermore, it is low in price, relatively thin, small, and produces analog based signal (Syrseloudis et al., 2008). Basically,

the FSR sensor is a pressure sensor that is used to detect the walking phase of the prosthetic knee. FSR provides sufficient information about different walking phases, but as the FSR is located below the prosthetic foot itself, replacement of the foot would require technical adjustment, which may be quite impractical amongst normal prosthetists or amputee users themselves. In order to improve the control performance of the knee prosthesis, sensors should be located near to the knee axis. Also, the direct interaction between the residual limb and sensor will improve the user intention as well as the control of the knee. However, most of the configurations have limitation further to the interaction between user and knee device, especially in detecting transition between phases and the user intention. Some studies presented EMG and electroencephalography (EEG) that are used to improve the intention and control of the knee prosthesis.

The detection of muscle activity can be detected using electromyography (EMG). The EMG technique is used to measure the muscle activities of the residual limb that is consequently fed to the control unit to control the performance of the knee prosthesis. The knee prosthesis that is controlled using EMG is named a myoelectric control of knee prosthesis, and these were being used by the transfemoral amputees to perform repetitive tasks in the workplace. Myoelectric control was used to control the locomotion of the knee prosthesis (Dawley et al., 2013). Some shortcomings of using EMG were observed, the output amplitude of the EMG signals is measured in mV, which requires additional signal conditioning circuits to process them. In addition, electrodes that are placed in specific locations may cause discomfort and problems to the skin of the residual limb due to sweating.

Electroencephalography (EEG) is a technique that measures the brain activity from the scalp (Teplan, 2002). Although there are attempts to study and use EEG technique in the field of controlling prosthesis, it is becoming limited because of the short life span and robustness

(Hardaker et al., 2014). On the other hand, using EMG or EEG techniques needs some considerations such as health and ethical procedures that are be required during the experiments. Therefore, it is recommended to search for alternative techniques that can be used in the development of the knee prosthesis for better performance.

2.6 Actuators in the knee prosthesis

The natural knee produces an internal flexor moment, due to contraction of the hamstrings, which prevents hyperextension at the end of the swing phase. As the knee starts to flex, concentric contraction of the hamstrings, as well as the release of energy stored in the ligaments of the extended knee, results in short-lived power generation (Hollander et al., 2005). For amputees who have lost their lower limb, utilizing an appropriate actuation system could facilitate walking and other daily activities. Actuators used in damping strategies (Herr & Wilkenfeld, 2003), can be categorized as: hydraulic, pneumatic, and magnetorheological (MR). However, motorized actuation was used in knee prosthesis technology to deliver positive power to assist the amputee in performing some ADLs such as generating sufficient power during stair ascent/descent, stand/sit, as well as slope climbing. Motors are connected to gear box and lead screw assembly to generate the required moment and knee power. For example, electric motors are used as an actuator in powered knee prosthesis. In addition, the actuation system should be light in weight and compact. Otherwise, a bulky actuation system may cause problems and inconvenience to the amputee. It is expected that the actuation system will produce the required mechanical torque and power during the actual movement of the knee prosthesis. In contrast, the actuation system during the actual situation may be not be able to produce continuous torque and power as expected, because of the inertia of the system that may need a pre-adjustment.

2.7 Control scheme in the knee prosthesis

Control strategy is considered as the critical part in a knee prosthesis. Impedance control algorithm was the most commonly used control strategy, in which the torque generated is adapted to the produced knee angle. This mode of control ensures that the knee joint generates torque that is suitable for each gait phases (Martinez-Villalpando & Herr, 2009; Sup et al., 2007; Sup et al., 2008). Another type of control algorithm is the tracking control, whereby the joint was made to follow or track a pre-defined trajectory (Geng et al., 2010). This tracking method controls angle and velocity of the knee joint during stance and swing phase. The control strategy is related to the sensors that are involved in the knee prosthesis. the control strategy can be improved if the sensors are located in direct contact with the human body or the residual limb, some attempts are found to detect the intention and transitions between phases in order to improve the whole performance of the knee prosthesis.

2.8 Weight Considerations in the knee prosthesis

Weight of the prosthesis is an important aspect during the development of the knee prosthesis. Nowadays, researchers try to optimize the weight during the developing the prosthetic knee. In addition, accompanying devices and weight reduction, strength and functionality are usually the primary goals in prosthetic fabrication. Metal is mainly used for rotating components whereas aluminum as an alternative to steel is used conservatively for smaller components. Titanium is more expensive, however due to its biocompatibility, it is considered for some aspects of prosthetic devices (Bradley, 2010).

Lower limb prostheses need to support the body weight during the stance phase and must prevent the knee from sudden joint flexion (Herr & Wilkenfeld, 2003). Lighter prosthetic knee may also provide more comfort to the user when walks on sloped terrains or up and down stairs. The overall weight of the active prosthesis can be reduced by minimizing the overall volume of the selected actuators (Sup et al., 2007). Knee prosthesis should not exceed the size and weight of the missing limb, thus the weight of the transfemoral prosthesis plays an essential role in its development. Table 2.1 classified the corresponding weight of the current knee prosthesis.

Author	System description, volunteer's weight, and walking speed	Weight
Ernesto et al., 2009	Volunteer mass= 97 kg, walking speed = 0.8 m/s.	3 kg.
Kapti and Yucenur, 2006	Titanium, aluminum and polyamide materials were used. Volunteer mass and walking speed were not cited.	6.9 kg.
Sup et al., 2007	A tethered transfemoral prosthesis with pyramid connectors.	2.6 kg.
	Volunteer mass= 75 kg, walking speed= 0.7 m/s.	
Sup et al., 2008	Volunteer mass= 85 kg, walking speed= slow, normal and fast (2.2, 2.8 and 3.4 km/hr) respectively.	3.8 kg.
Fite et al., 2007	Volunteer mass= 85 kg, walking speed= 0.8 m/s.	3 kg.
Torrealba et al., 2010	Volunteer mass (not cited), walking speed= self-selected speed.	2 kg.
Sup et al., 2011	Volunteer mass= 80 kg, walking speed= 5.1 km/h.	4.2 kg.
Gong et al., 2010	Volunteer mass= 62 kg, walking speed= slow, normal, and fast (0.7, 0.7, and 1.2 m/s) respectively.	Not cited.
Geng et al., 2010	Volunteer mass= 62 kg, walking speed= slow, normal, and fast of average values (1, 1.2, and 1.5 m/s) respectively.	Not cited.
Hoover et al., 2013	Volunteer mass= 83 kg.	3.5 kg.

Table 2.1: Weight of the current knee prosthesis

2.9 Operation and power sources in the knee prosthesis

The sensors and actuators that are incorporated in the knee prosthesis normally require electrical power source for their operation. Different power sources of the existing prosthesis are listed in the power sources that mentioned in the available studies are listed in Table 2.2. New techniques of providing alternative power source from smart material such as piezoelectric are adopted by the researchers. Harvesting power circuit that can be build using piezoelectric bimorph is capable to deliver about 5.2 V. The smart piezoelectric material can be placed below the foot to charge some amount of power that can be saved and used to operate electronics circuits and controller. These techniques might decrease the weight of the battery while saving some power and can also be utilized as an emergency power source (Almouahed et al., 2011; OBE et al., 2005).

Author	Power Source for various prosthetic knee systems	Weight
Ernesto et al., 2009	A 6-cell Lithium polymer battery with 22.2 V nominal	0.2 kg.
	rating.	
Gong et al., 2010	Rechargeable lithium ion battery.	Not cited.
Sup et al., 2011	A lithium polymer battery with 29.6 V nominal rating and	0.8 kg.
	4000 mAh capacity.	
Fite et al., 2007	A high-power Li-ion battery with nominal capacity of a	0.1 kg.
	single battery is 2.3 Ah and 3.3 V.	
Hoover et al., 2013	Four 11.1 V, 2000 mAh lithium polymer batteries.	0.1 kg.

Table 2.2: Power sources in the prosthetic knee systems

2.10 Overview of prosthetic foot type

Prosthetic foot is considered one of the lower prosthesis components, which may have an effect on the biomechanical outcomes of the knee prosthesis (Van der Linde et al., 2004). Therefore, different types of prosthetic foot that are incorporated in the lower prosthesis systems are presented in Table 2.3. Prosthetic foot affect the selection of the suitable control scheme of the lower prosthesis at different locomotion such as ground-level walking, sitting/

standing mode, and stair ascent/descent (Jimenez-Fabian & Verlinden, 2012). In overall, most systems used conventional passive prosthetic foot except (Sup et al., 2011), which contains a custom sensorized foot.

Author	Prosthetic foot type	
Ernesto et al., 2009	Conventional passive-elastic ankle-foot prosthesis, flex-foot, VariFlex	
	from Össur [®] .	
Kapti and Yucenur, 2006	No specific type cited.	
Gong et al., 2010	No specific type cited.	
Sup et al., 2011	Custom Sensorized prosthetic foot.	
Hoover et al., 2013	Commercial low-profile prosthetic foot, Lo Rider from Ottobock [®] .	
Sup et al., 2008	Custom Sensorized prosthetic foot.	
Fite et al., 2007	Low profile prosthetic foot, Lo Rider from Ottobock [®] .	
Torrealba et al., 2010	No specific type cited.	

Table 2.3: Prosthetic foot devices in the prosthetic knee systems

2.11 Summary

This chapter presented a brief review regarding the existing technology in the knee prosthesis. It is noted that, in order to achieve a more realistic prosthetic knee system for transfemoral amputees, additional sensors might be integrated in the knee prosthesis to recognize the transition of movement for the amputee, so alternative sensing element may overcome the limitations of the EMG and EEG techniques. From a biomechatronics point of view, the integration of different types of sensors and actuators is possible to enhance the performance of the whole knee prosthesis The main challenge in the development of knee prosthesis is the ability of the sensory system to identify precisely the transition between different phases at various daily activities. On the other hand, the knee prosthesis mechanism has to be able to replicate the normal range of motion of various activities. Furthermore, the actuation system should produce the required torque and power at different daily movements.

CHAPTER 3

Paper 1: Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur Azah Hamzaid, Noor Azuan Abu Osman. Piezoelectric bimorphs' Characteristics as in-Socket sensors for transfemoral amputees. *Sensors*, 2014, 14(12), 23724-23741.

university chalays



Article

Piezoelectric Bimorphs' Characteristics as In-Socket Sensors for Transfemoral Amputees

Amr M. El-Sayed ^{1,2,*}, Nur Azah Hamzaid ¹ and Noor Azuan Abu Osman ¹

- ¹ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur 50603, Malaysia; E-Mails: azah.hamzaid@um.edu.my (N.A.H), azuan@um.edu.my (N.A.A.O.)
- ² Mechatronics Section, Mechanical Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Assiut University, Assiut 71516, Egypt
- * Author to whom correspondence should be addressed; E-Mail: amr.ahmed2@eng.au.edu.eg; Tel.: +603-7967-5201; Fax: +603-7955-5781.

External Editor: Panicos Kyriacou

Received: 12 August 2014; in revised form: 23 October 2014 / Accepted: 5 November 2014 / Published: 10 December 2014

Abstract: Alternative sensory systems for the development of prosthetic knees are being increasingly highlighted nowadays, due to the rapid advancements in the field of lower limb prosthetics. This study presents the use of piezoelectric bimorphs as in-socket sensors for transfemoral amputees. An Instron machine was used in the calibration procedure and the corresponding output data were further analyzed to determine the static and dynamic characteristics of the piezoelectric bimorph. The piezoelectric bimorph showed appropriate static operating range, repeatability, hysteresis, and frequency response for application in lower prosthesis, with a force range of 0–100 N. To further validate this finding, an experiment was conducted with a single transfemoral amputee subject to measure the stump/socket pressure using the piezoelectric bimorph embedded inside the socket. The results showed that a maximum interface pressure of about 27 kPa occurred at the anterior proximal site compared to the anterior distal and posterior sites, consistent with values published in other studies. This paper highlighted the capacity of piezoelectric bimorphs to perform as in-socket sensors for transfemoral amputees. However, further experiments are recommended to be conducted with different amputees with different socket types.

Keywords: in-socket sensor; piezoelectric bimorph; stump/socket pressure

1. Introduction

Advancements in prosthetic knee systems are of increasing importance to assist transfemoral amputees perform their different daily activities [1] such as walking, stair climbing, and running [2,3] more naturally. Prosthetic knee devices are categorized into passive and active types [4]. In order to assist the amputees to replicate such daily movements, active knee devices have to be used to perform those functions. Active knee systems imply that the amputee can interact with the device to facilitate his/her movements. In other words, improving the sensory system of the active knee device shall assist amputees to perform their activities better and more efficiently. Therefore, the development of a prosthetic knee control system is related to sensory signals which facilitate the design of the control algorithm [3,5]. Different types of sensors are involved in active knee devices, for example, a potentiometer acts as an angle sensor to measure the knee joint angle, a load cell is used to measure the knee torque, a gyroscope sensor to detect the acceleration of the knee joint, and a force sensing resistor (FSR) is utilized as on/off sensor to detect the prosthetic knee phases [6]. Each sensor measures a certain parameter. For example the angle sensor (potentiometer) measures the inclination angle of the knee joint during the stride, while a torque sensor identifies the amount of torque that is needed for the knee to perform the movement [7]. These sensors are called passive sensors [6,8,9], as they are placed around the prosthetic knee joint to identify the knee movement. Nevertheless, the interaction between the socket and the amputee subjects is not involved in identifying the knee movement. The direct contact between the amputee subject and the socket device in the presence of the in-socket sensor would be more useful to acquire direct measurements from specific socket locations.

So far, to receive input signal from the stump muscles, electromyography systems (EMGs) were used to detect the muscle activities. An EMG embedded in an active knee system reads the interaction from the user as they detect the user's flexor and extensor muscle activities, generally from the rectus femoris, vastus lateralis, vastus medialis, biceps femoris, and semitendinosus. In order to make use of the EMG signals, such signals are analyzed to formulate the control algorithm that assists the amputee to control the torque in activities such as stair ascent/descent. However, EMG signals measure the muscle activity without considering the reaction forces and moments generated from the ground via the socket by means of pressure distribution. Considering the measurement of the pressure distribution inside the socket that originated from the ground reaction forces to understand the stress distribution during stride might be useful for gait phase identification.

Unlike measuring static pressure distribution such as the interface pressure on the buttocks, the pressure characteristics between the prosthetic socket wall and the stump would have a dynamic interaction between the socket interface pressure [10]. One example of transducer is the load cell, which has different types such as strain gauges to detect force in various applications [11]. Strain gauges are also being used in applications such as wind-tunnel balances and force sensors for robot linkages [12]. Measurement of the interactive forces between human hand and limb rehabilitation devices is achieved using a custom four degree of freedom strain gauge [13]. However, strain gauges

show better behavior for static force measurements rather than dynamic investigations, as they show some limitations in the transient responses compared to piezoelectric (PVDF) materials [14]. Another sensing element that is appropriate for detection of dynamic measurements is the piezoelectric material. A piezoelectric bimorph is considered an active element, thus no external power is required to activate the sensor [15]. Moreover, one advantages of the piezoelectric bimorph is that it can adapt to vibrations in such dynamic applications. Piezoelectric bimorphs are among the most widely used sensors in academic research and industrial applications [16].

Piezoelectric materials with a bimorph configuration are used as sensors/actuators in many fields including industrial, aerospace, and medical systems [17-19]. Upon applying a load to the surface of the bimorph, an electrical charge is produced. The relation between the applied force versus the piezoelectric bimorph and the output deflection is essential in surgical applications and micro-gripping of fragile objects [16,19]. The charge generated inside the bimorph is measurable in volts, which is proportional to the load applied across its surface [16]. Because of the ability of the piezoelectric bimorph to be used as both the sensor/actuator element [19], current research aims to leverage the advantage of using the piezoelectric bimorph as a sensing element to detect the distribution of the pressure in transfemoral amputees' stump/sockets. In addition, the approach presented in this paper should provide better understanding of the gait characteristics of transfemoral amputees and assist the fabrication process of various socket types [20]. The appropriate location of the sensor inside the socket's wall would provide flexibility to the amputee while wearing the socket and improve the interaction during different activities. On the other hand, researchers in the lower prosthesis field are searching for alternative techniques to improve the sensory system of prosthetic knee devices. Such techniques shall assist the amputee to interact with his/her prosthesis via the sensory system. Thus, sensory system selection may assist the implementation of the control algorithm of the prosthetic knee and could provide alternative solutions for measurement of the interface pressure inside the stump.

Another challenge nowadays is how to find new methods of measuring the interface pressure for transfemoral amputees. Measuring the interface forces between the socket and the stump could provide information about the socket fabrication in the lower amputation field [21,22]. To date, the interface pressure for transfemoral amputees has not been clearly investigated, due to the shape of the stump that may vary from one amputee to another. Researchers have attempted to predict the amount of forces generated inside the stump of transtibial and transfemoral amputees. One study on interface pressure inside the stump measured it for transtibial amputees using F-socket transducers 9811E (Tekscan, Inc., South Boston, MA, USA) in which the transducers were attached to the posterior, anterior, lateral, and medial compartments of the stump to obtain better insights into the pressure between the stump and socket. The trials were conducted for the amputees during stair ascent and descent, and the study revealed that a high interface pressure exists between the stump and socket with the Seal-In X5 interface system [23]. A Flexforce network sensor made up of five Flexforce elements was used to measure the pressure inside the stump for transfermoral amputees, in which the study reported the amount of forces that can be measured at the x-direction which was about 26 N [24]. Another attempt was performed by using a Fiber Bragg grating (FBG) sensor that was developed to measure the interface pressure between stump and interface socket for transtibial amputees [25], where the range of measurement of the FBG was reported to be about 30 N. The study reported acceptable behavior of the FBG in terms of linear relationship between the shift in the peak wavelength and the applied force. The

piezoelectric bimorph can be easily embedded inside the socket to measure the interface pressures at specific regions of the lower limb where high pressure is expected, such as at the posterior, posterior distal, or interior regions [26]. In this paper an investigation of the usage of piezoelectric bimorphs in the field of prosthesis is reported. More specifically, the current approach aims to determine the static and dynamic behavior of the piezoelectric bimorphs in order to utilize them as a sensory system inside a transfemoral amputee's prosthesis socket. Moreover, transient and frequency response analysis were performed to provide information about the response time and the frequency response which would provide useful information during dynamic applications. To validate the piezoelectric bimorph performance in a real situation, an experiment with a single transfemoral amputee subject was conducted while wearing a socket embedded with piezoelectric bimorphs that were placed at different socket sites. The experiment aimed to identify the variation of piezoelectric bimorph performance at different socket sites during the amputee's stride.

2. Materials and Methods

A piezoelectric bimorph (T220-A4-503X, Piezo Systems, Inc., Woburn, MA, USA) was selected as the sensory element in this work. Its static and dynamic characteristics were investigated. The piezoelectric bimorph was intended to be utilized as a sensing element inside the socket of transfemoral amputees. Detailed procedures for investigating the static and dynamic characteristics of the piezoelectric bimorph are presented in the following sections.

2.1. Piezoelectric Bimorph Characteristics

In order to assess the overall characteristics of the piezoelectric bimorph, a calibration procedure was conducted to estimate the static and dynamic behavior of the piezoelectric bimorph. The piezoelectric bimorph consists of two layers sandwiched by brass layer as shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1. (a) Basic dimensions of the piezoelectric bimorph in a simple supported beam configuration; (b) Piezoelectric bimorph consists of two layers sandwiched with supporting layer.



A series of input signals were applied to the input of piezoelectric bimorph and its corresponding outputs were recorded. In the current approach, static and dynamic calibrations were performed on the piezoelectric bimorph. Figure 2a shows a simple schematic of the calibration experimental setup. Also, an Instron machine (Instron Worldwide Headquarters[®], Norwood, MA, USA) was used to perform the calibration of the piezoelectric bimorph as illustrated in Figure 2b. The machine consists of two lower and upper heads, while the bimorph was fixed on the lower head with the force exerted from the upper head. The purpose of the bimorph calibration is to set the static and dynamic behaviour of the bimorph that is used in development and fabrication of the active amputee's socket [21]. The calibration procedure was conducted by applying specific loads to the piezoelectric bimorph in both static and cyclic form to mimic the real situation of pressure dynamics inside the socket.

Figure 2. Overall diagram of the sensor calibration. (**a**) Simple schematic illustrating the calibration experimental setup; (**b**) Experimental setup.



2.2. Calibration Procedure

2.2.1. Static Characteristics

In this section the static characteristics of the piezoelectric bimorph were investigated. To predict the static characteristics, a series of independent-time input values were sent to the piezoelectric bimorph and the output will increase to a level that is proportional to that input. Independent-time values mean that values of inputs do not change with time. The output will remain at that level until

the input level is changed. Static characteristics such as sensitivity, hysteresis, range, linearity, and repeatability were referenced in the current work to evaluate the piezoelectric bimorph's response. The benefit of the calibration is to get the characteristics of the sensor, one of the calibration techniques that can provide accurate measurements and collect data in short time is the motion and shape approach [12]. However, one of the limitations of that technique appear in the dynamic measurements as the sensor should be moved with minimum acceleration to make the measurements quasistaic. In addition, the common calibration method of the force sensor is performed by loading input forces on the sensor element. Afterwards the output voltage is recorded [27,28]. The common calibration procedure uses a loading device such as a loading plate, weights, and such a base. Here, the calibration technique that was adopted uses a standard calibration machine in which, a known force value from an Instron (Microtester 5848) strain machine was produced. The corresponding voltage output from the bimorph was recorded simultaneously. The calibration was done in the range of interest, because measurements within the range of interest will assist to enhance the bimorph's sensitivity and resolution. A schematic view of the piezoelectric bimorph that was placed between the machine's heads is shown in Figure 2b. The applied compressive force started at 0 N and increased up to 100 N. The rated deflection and force were recorded versus the corresponding output voltage of the piezoelectric bimorph. Data were acquired with both increasing and decreasing loads steps to highlight the hysteresis characteristics. The sensitivity of the piezoelectric bimorph was determined by calculating the slope of the static calibration curve.

2.2.2. Dynamic Characteristics

One of the significant characteristics of the bimorph is the capability to measure different parameters such as force or displacement while the input varies with time. Dynamic characteristics show the behavior of the bimorph during dynamic applications. Each bimorph has the ability to measure static and dynamic movements up to a specific range. Basically, the piezoelectric bimorph was evaluated to predict its behavior when exposed to a family of variable dynamic input waveforms such as a sinusoidal function to obtain the frequency response and a square signal to find out the response time and the damping [29].

The transfer function can be derived to attain a relation between input and output of the piezoelectric bimorph. The piezoelectric bimorph element can be modeled as a simple vibratory system (spring-mass-damper system) [30,31], that presents the analytical dynamic behavior of the piezoelectric. The output voltage *versus* the input force can be provided in terms of damping coefficient and frequency. The dynamic response of the bimorph was described as a second-order system a Laplace form as in Equation (1) [24]:

$$\frac{C(s)}{R(s)} = \frac{\omega_n^2}{s^2 + 2\xi\omega_n s + \omega_n^2} \tag{1}$$

where C(s), the output of the system, R(s), input to the system, ω_n , natural frequency of the system, ζ , Damping of the system.

The behavior of the second order system is described by ξ and ω_n ; as an assumption damping of $\xi = 1$ is considered. Therefore, C(s) for R(s) = 1/s was expressed as in Equation (2):

$$\frac{V(s)}{F(s)} = \frac{\omega_n^2}{(s + \omega_n)^2 s} \tag{2}$$

where V(s), the output voltage, F(s), applied force to the bimorph.

The inverse Laplace transform of Equation (1) may be written in the time domain as in Equation (3):

$$c(t) = 1 - e^{-\omega_n t} (1 + \omega_n t), \text{ for } t \ge 0$$
(3)

Equation (3) is essential to characterize the dynamics of the piezoelectric bimorph, that is useful at the overall closed loop system control.

The dynamic input wave forms were generated by the 5800 series Instron machine, that includes Advanced Cyclic WaveMaker Software[®], that could generate sine and square waveforms [32]. The response was acquired by a DAQ system (NI USB 9221, National Instruments[®], Austin, TX, USA) for further processing. The dynamic characteristics namely the frequency response, response time, and damping have been highlighted to evaluate the bimorph behavior [33]. In order to estimate the operating frequencies of the piezoelectric bimorph, a sinusoidal wave was chosen as an input to validate the transient characteristics of the bimorph. Then, the frequency response curves due to the change of the input frequencies were plotted. The diagram to perform the frequency response is shown in Figure 3. The frequency response was tested with different force levels to predict the bandwidth of the bimorph.

Figure 3. Block diagram shows the procedure of measuring the frequency response of the piezoelectric bimorph.



Labview software was utilized to process the acquired data from the NI USB 9221 DAQ system. The overall procedure of acquiring the data was established. To obtain the whole set of data during the calibration procedure, an interface was developed using Labview software to save the data for post-processing.

2.3. Theoretical Calculation of Loads at the Knee Joint

To measure the interface pressure at the lower limb prosthesis, the mechanical concept of forces and moments were calculated. Basically, forces and moments that are present at a prosthetic device are generated due to the contact with the ground. These forces and moments transferred to interface the amputee. The dynamic analysis is basically based on Newton's second law, with the calculation of the forces and moments [34]. Figure 4 shows the diagram of forces and moments relative to the x, y, z axes.

Equation (4) shows the knee rotation by the sum of moments with respect to the origin O (Figure 4):

$$M_{oz} - m_1 g_1 l_1 sin(b) - m_2 g_2 l_2 sin(b) - m_3 g_3 l_3 sin(b) + F_{gx} y_g + F_{gy} x_g = I_0 f$$
(4)

where, *b* is the angular displacement on sagittal plane; m_i (i = 1, 2, 3) are the stump masses, socket with the tube and prosthetic foot respectively; l_i (i = 1, 2, 3) are the distances from the center of mass to the origin *O*. Equation (5) shows the sum of moments *x* regarding *O*:

$$M_{ox} + F_{gz} y_g + F_{gy} z_g = 0 \tag{5}$$

Figure 4. Free body diagram of forces and moments during prosthetic leg heel strike [34].



Equation (6) shows the sum of moments y regarding O:

$$M_{oy} + F_{gz} x_g + F_{gx} z_g = 0 \tag{6}$$

Equations (7)–(9) show the sum of forces on the different coordinated axis (x, y, z):

$$F_{ox} + F_{gx} = (m_1 + m_2 + m_3) \left(rfcos(b) - rp^2 sin(b) \right)$$

$$\tag{7}$$

$$F_{oy} + F_{gy} - (m_1 + m_2 + m_3)g = (m_1 + m_2 + m_3) \left(rfsin(b) - rp^2 cos(b) \right)$$
(8)

$$F_{oz} + F_{gz} = 0 \tag{9}$$

where p is the angular velocity, f is the angular acceleration and r is the distance from the origin to the center of mass of the entire model. The interface pressure is described according to the previous equations. According to Equations (7)–(9), the maximum exerted force was 26.1 N. Based on the calculated values of the maximum exerted force, a sensor that can be used to measure the generated pressure was selected. Therefore, an experimental case of using the piezoelectric bimorph to measure the stump/socket pressure for transfemoral amputees were undertaken.

Transfemoral Subject Trials

To investigate the approach of using a piezoelectric bimorph to detect the stump/socket pressure for a transfemoral amputation subject, an experiment with a single amputee was conducted. The piezoelectric bimorphs were placed in particular socket regions to acquire the maximum amount of pressure from the lower limb that would provide an indication about the gait characteristics. Three piezoelectric bimorphs were embedded to transfemoral amputee's socket as shown in Figure 5.

The session was started by asking a transfemoral amputee subject (age 29 years old, male, 75 kg, height 182 cm) who had been wearing an above knee prosthetic leg for the past 10 years, to perform walking movements at self-selected speed. Piezoelectric bimorphs were inserted in three different locations inside the socket at the anterior proximal, anterior distal, and posterior positions in which the maximum stresses are generated from those sites [22,31,35]. The bimorphs were tethered and the output signals were transmitted via wires to the workstation.

Figure 5. Piezoelectric bimorph sensors embedded to the transfemoral amputee's socket.



3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Results and Discussion of the Static Test

The static characteristics such as range, linearity, hysteresis, and repeatability were presented to show the bimorph behavior and the operating range at static measurements. Figure 6 shows the output force *versus* the vertical deflection at *z*-direction in reference to Figure 2a. A hysteresis effect was also determined by measuring forces in the upward and downward directions (Figure 6). Figure 7 shows the relation between the input force *versus* the output voltage and the deflection at different values of forces that ranged from 0 to 120 N.

Figure 6. Relation between applied force versus the deflection of the piezoelectric bimorph.



The bimorphs' output voltage and deflection can be calculated against the input force value within the range of measurements (Figure 7). The full scale output (FSO) hysteresis of the piezoelectric bimorph at the applied forces during upscale and downscale was calculated and is shown in Figure 8. The sensitivity and linearization can be figured out by plotting the regression line of the piezoelectric bimorph data as shown in Figure 9. The static validation of the piezoelectric bimorph shows a capacity of measuring forces up to 100 N under static operation conditions (Figure 8).





Figure 8. Output voltage from the sensor *versus* the applied force in upward and downward directions.



Figure 9. Output voltage of the piezoelectric bimorph *versus* the applied force showing the regression line.



Further comparison between the adopted piezoelectric bimorph and the other existing sensors would be useful to show the differences in terms of the linearity and the range of measurement. Figure 10 shows a comparison that was conducted between the piezoelectric bimorph, FBG sensor, and Flexforce sensors [24,25]. The FBG sensor can measure force and produce s wave length shift that predicts the amount of force. As shown in Figure 10, FBG exhibits an acceptable linearity along the scale of measurements. However, the range of force was smaller compared to the piezoelectric bimorph and Flexforce units. The piezoelectric bimorph has a range of static force measurements of 0–100 N as shown in Figure 10, which is almost same as the Flexforce that has a range of 0–98 N. While both the piezoelectric bimorph and Flexforce have almost a similar range in terms of static force, the piezoelectric bimorph has better dynamic characteristics in terms of dynamic range and operating bandwidth, 0–77 N and 0–35 Hz, respectively (Table 1). However, The Flexforce has a limitation in the dynamic range when it is placed on curved surfaces, as the effective area is bent and this affects the dynamic response of the device [36].





Table 1. Overall characteristics of piezoelectric bimorph.

Characteristic	Value
Average sensitivity	0.3 (V/N) of reading
Linearity error	16.8% FSO
Repeatability	1.1% FSO
Static range	0–100 N
Hysteresis	0.4% FSO
Dynamic range	0–77 N
Operating bandwidth	0–35 Hz
Response time at 95% and 98%	0.22 s at 95% and 0.27 s at 98%
Damping	Overdamped
Overall instrument error and uncertainty	1.9%

Where FSO, full-scale operating range.

A simulation was conducted using Comsol Software[®] to illustrate the show the deflection behavior of the bimorph under different applied forces (Figure 11a). The bimorph was deflected according to the amount of load that was applied to the surface area. The forces were applied at 60, 80 and 100 N, respectively, and the bimorph's corresponding deflection along the length was recorded and plotted.

The bimorph showed variations of the deflection values along with different loads, with a maximum deflection of 0.73 mm at 100 N applied force. The maximum values of the deflected bimorph occurred

at the middle of the bimorphs length as shown in Figure 11b, thus, the current simulation will assist to better understand the behavior of the bimorph when the real interface pressure of the amputee subject is considered. Furthermore, the surface area of the piezoelectric bimorph (0.001085 mm²) as shown in Figure 11b provided a wide range of pressure measurement.

Figure 11. Performance of the piezoelectric bimorph, (a) Bimorph deflection when load applied at both faces; (b) Piezoelctric bimorph's deflection at different applied loads, simulation performed using Comsol software.



3.2. Results and Discussion of the Dynamic Tests

The dynamic characteristics basically show the capability of the piezoelectric bimorph under certain dynamic conditions. In this section, the dynamic behavior of the piezoelectric bimorph is represented. The methods adopted to define the piezoelectric bimorph are namely the frequency response, response time, and damping. These methods were adopted to estimate the dynamic behavior of the piezoelectric bimorph in order to determine the functionality of the device in the field of prosthetic knee development.

3.2.1. Frequency Response

The frequency response is a technique to measure the dynamic response of the piezoelectric bimorph. To obtain the frequency response, a harmonic test function (sinusoidal function) was used as an input signal to the piezoelectric bimorph. The sinusoidal input forces selected were 9 N, 26 N and

77 N, to check the functionality of the bimorph under dynamic conditions. The output was monitored and plotted as shown in Figure 12, presented as the frequency response graph of different applied harmonic forces. In addition, it illustrates the operating frequencies and bandwidth of the piezoelectric bimorph. The frequency investigation shows the capability of the bimorph up to 77 N at dynamic region (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Dynamic response of the piezoelectric bimorph.

3.2.2. Response Time and Damping of the Piezoelectric Bimorph

Response time is another means to define the bimorph's dynamic response. Response time is calculated while the bimorph's output reaches a specific percentage of output value when a step change is applied to its input. The step input function is applied to the system to determine the behavior and speed of the system in response to a change in input. Figure 13 shows the transient response of the voltages that were measured at different levels of 1, 3 and 5 V. Particularly, the 5 V response delivered from the piezoelectric bimorph was selected to calculate its response time at 95% and 98%, respectively. The 5 V response produced response times of about 0.22 s and 0.27 s, respectively, which shows an acceptably rapid response for such a level of voltages.





Damping is a sensor's characteristic that defines both how energy from a rapid change in input is dissipated within the bimorph and how it affects the dynamic response characteristics. A critical damping behavior was noticed for the piezoelectric bimorph as can be seen in Figure 13, as it has no

overshoot, it is delayed until it reached the final value. An increase in damping in a bimorph may cause the response time and the upper limit of the frequency response to fall. The overall static and dynamic characteristics of the adopted piezoelectric bimorph were obtained and are listed in Table 1.

3.3. Results and Discussion of the Case Study

The results of the pressure distribution inside the socket during the subject trials were presented in Figure 14. Three tests were performed while the subject was wearing a prosthetic knee device. In each gait test, the pressure at the three locations (anterior, proximal, anterior distal, and posterior) was measured. In Figure 14, the pressure distribution was plotted against a time interval of 450 ms each. The average pressure in the anterior proximal region shows a higher amount of pressure during the tests compared to the anterior distal and posterior regions. This agrees with the results of Dumbleton *et al.* [37], although Dumbleton *et al.*, conducted their study on transtibial amputee subjects who wore the socket for daily use for at least 6 months. Zhang *et al.* [32] considered the pressure interface between the stump and the socket by using finite element analysis. Their research revealed that the distribution of the pressure at the anterior region is higher than the posterior region which emphasised the results of the current study. The maximum pressure that was measured at the anterior region was about 25 kPa as can be seen in Figure 14a,b. However, the piezoelectric showed distortion at the measurement level of 30 kPa during the anterior proximal measurement. Due to the internal properties of the piezoelectric material which affect the hysteresis effect, the coupling effect between the mechanical and electrical parameters became saturated during that level of measurements [14,27].

Figure 14. Stump/socket pressure distribution of transfemoral amputee subject during gait, (a); (b) and (c).







In this work, the overall characteristics of piezoelectric bimorphs were investigated in order to apply them in lower prosthesis development and interface pressure measurement. A case study was considered to present their capability in that field. More specifically, a preliminary measurement of stump/socket pressure of a transfemoral amputee was considered. Gait socket/stump pressure measurements were conducted because of their significant role in prosthesis research.

4. Conclusions

This study was performed to validate the application of piezoelectric bimorph in the prosthetics field. Static and dynamic characteristics of the piezoelectric bimorph were conducted. The dynamic behavior of the bimorph in terms of the response time and bandwidth of operation was investigated. According to the determined characteristics of the piezoelectric bimorph, an assessment of its use as an in-socket sensor was presented. The piezoelectric bimorph sensor was compared to the current Flexforce and FBG sensors in terms of force range and linearity. The piezoelectric bimorph showed similarity to the fFexforce sensor in terms of the static operating range, however the bimorph presented a more suitable dynamic measuring range compared to both the Flexforce and FBG sensors. Furthermore, the current study discussed the usage of the bimorph to measure the interface pressure inside the socket for transfermoral amputee subjects at three different sites. The experiment was conducted with a transfermoral amputee to validate the concept of using the bimorph as a sensing element inside the socket. The results showed that the maximum distribution of the pressure occurs at the anterior region compared to the posterior region. On the other hand at a certain amount of pressure (30 kPa) the signal was truncated due to the saturation of the bimorph's material properties. Thus it can be concluded that the bimorph showed acceptable results for pressure measurements up to 27 kPa and has some limitations for measuring pressures higher than that value. It is recommended to conduct more experiments with subjects of different body weights and pathological considerations to come up with a better understanding of the current approach. Specifically, the measurement of the interface pressure is quite complex due to the combination of normal and shear stress which requires further investigation.

Overall, the preliminary results gathered from the experiments reported in this paper were promising at this stage of research and provided indication about the consistency of the piezoelectric bimorph signals under real measurement conditions. However, more clinical trials utilizing the approach presented in this paper should be performed to validate the capability of the bimorph to measure the shear stresses for both transtibial and transfemoral amputees. Also, more clinical trials with subjects of different weight and level of amputation are recommended. In addition, different activity movements such as sit to stand, slope climbing, and stair ascent/descent could provide further validation of the current concept. Finally, collecting data during clinical experiments could be easier by using a wireless system that facilitates the movement of the subject and provides better handling of the collected data.

Acknowledgment

This study was funded by Ministry of Higher Education (MOHE) of Malaysia, grant number UM.C/HIR/MOHE/ENG/14 D000014-16001.

Author Contributions

Amr M. El-Sayed studied the concept, conducted the experiments, analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript. Nur Azah revised the manuscript. Noor Azuan was responsible for study supervision.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Gong, S.; Yang, P.; Song, L. Development of an intelligent prosthetic knee control system. In Proceedings of the 2010 International Conference on Electrical and Control Engineering (ICECE), Wuhan, China, 25–27 June 2010; pp. 819–822.
- 2. Hoover, C.D.; Fulk, G.D.; Fite, K.B. Stair ascent with a powered transfermoral prosthesis under direct myoelectric control. *IEEE/ASME Transact. Mechatron.* **2013**, *18*, 1191–1200.
- 3. El-Sayed, A.M.; Hamzaid, N.A.; Abu Osman, N.A. Technology efficacy in active prosthetic knees for transfemoral amputees: A quantitative evaluation. *Sci. World J.* **2014**, *2014*, 297431.
- 4. Bellmann, M.; Schmalz, T.; Blumentritt, S. Comparative biomechanical analysis of current microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knee joints. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* **2010**, *91*, 644–652.
- 5. Jimenez-Fabian, R.; Verlinden, O. Review of control algorithms for robotic ankle systems in lower-limb orthoses, prostheses, and exoskeletons. *Med. Eng. Phys.* **2012**, *34*, 397–408.
- Sup, F.; Varol, H.A.; Mitchell, J.; Withrow, T.J.; Goldfarb, M. Preliminary evaluations of a self-contained anthropomorphic transfemoral prosthesis. *IEEE/ASME Transact. Mechatron.* 2009, 14, 667–676.
- 7. Herr, H.; Wilkenfeld, A. User-adaptive control of a magnetorheological prosthetic knee. *Ind. Robot Int. J.* **2003**, *30*, 42–55.
- 8. Kapti, A.O.; Yucenur, M.S. Design and control of an active artificial knee joint. *Mech. Mach. Theory* **2006**, *41*, 1477–1485.
- Geng, Y.; Xu, X.; Chen, L.; Yang, P. Design and analysis of active transfemoral prosthesis. In Proceedings of the IECON 2010—36th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, Glendale, AZ, USA, 7–10 November 2010; pp. 1495–1499.

- 10. Tanaka, M.; Akazawa, Y.; Nakagawa, A.; Kitayama, I. Identification of pressure distribution at the socket interface of an above-knee prosthesis. *Adv. Eng. Softw.* **1997**, *28*, 379–384.
- 11. Hernandez, W. Improving the response of a load cell by using optimal filtering. *Sensors* **2006**, *6*, 697–711.
- 12. Chao, L.-P.; Chen, K.-T. Shape optimal design and force sensitivity evaluation of six-axis force sensors. *Sens. Actuators A Phys.* **1997**, *63*, 105–112.
- 13. Song, A.; Wu, J.; Qin, G.; Huang, W. A novel self-decoupled four degree-of-freedom wrist force/torque sensor. *Measurement* **2007**, *40*, 883–891.
- 14. Ma, C.-C.; Huang, Y.-H.; Pan, S.-Y. Investigation of the transient behavior of a cantilever beam using pvdf sensors. *Sensors* **2012**, *12*, 2088–2117.
- 15. Piefort, V. Finite Element Modelling of Piezoelectric Active Structures. Ph.D. Thesis, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Bruxelles, Belgium, 2001.
- 16. El-Sayed, A.M.; Abo-Ismail, A.; El-Melegy, M.T.; Hamzaid, N.A.; Osman, N.A.A. Development of a micro-gripper using piezoelectric bimorphs. *Sensors* **2013**, *13*, 5826–5840.
- 17. Takagi, K.; Li, J.-F.; Yokoyama, S.; Watanabe, R.; Almajid, A.; Taya, M. Design and fabrication of functionally graded pzt/pt piezoelectric bimorph actuator. *Sci. Technol. Adv. Mater.* **2002**, *3*, 217–224.
- Grujicic, M.; Zhao, C.; Austin, E. Optimization of a piezoelectric bimorph grasper for use in minimally invasive surgical applications. *Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part B J. Eng. Manuf.* 2005, 219, 673–683.
- 19. Kursu, O.; Kruusing, A.; Pudas, M.; Rahkonen, T. Piezoelectric bimorph charge mode force sensor. *Sens. Actuators A Phys.* **2009**, *153*, 42–49.
- Hefferman, G.M.; Zhang, F.; Nunnery, M.J.; Huang, H. Integration of surface electromyographic sensors with the transfermoral amputee socket: A comparison of four differing configurations. *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.* 2014, doi:10.1177/0309364613516484.
- Polliack, A.; Sieh, R.; Craig, D.; Landsberger, S.; McNeil, D.; Ayyappa, E. Scientific validation of two commercial pressure sensor systems for prosthetic socket fit. *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.* 2000, 24, 63–73.
- 22. Hong, J.H.; Mun, M.S. Relationship between socket pressure and emg of two muscles in trans-femoral stumps during gait. *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.* **2005**, *29*, 59–72.
- Ali, S.; Abu Osman, N.A.; Eshraghi, A.; Gholizadeh, H.; Wan Abas, W.A.B.B. Interface pressure in transtibial socket during ascent and descent on stairs and its effect on patient satisfaction. *Clin. Biomech.* 2013, 28, 994–999.
- 24. Zhang, C.; Qiu, J.; Chen, Y.; Ji, H. Modeling hysteresis and creep behavior of macrofiber composite-based piezoelectric bimorph actuator. *J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct.* **2013**, *24*, 369–377.
- 25. Dehghani, A. Intelligent prosthesis—A biomechatronics approach. In *Mechatronics in Action*; Springer: London, UK, 2010; pp. 173–195.
- 26. Wu, S.-K.; Waycaster, G.; Shen, X. Electromyography-based control of active above-knee prostheses. *Control Eng. Pract.* **2011**, *19*, 875–882.
- 27. Ma, J.; Song, A.; Xiao, J. A robust static decoupling algorithm for 3-axis force sensors based on coupling error model and ε-SVR. *Sensors* **2012**, *12*, 14537–14555.

- Xu, G.; Su, J.; Chen, R.; Pan, H.; Zhang, L.; Wang, X. Measurement performance assessment: Dynamic calibration compared with static calibration method for roller tester of vehicle brake force. *Adv. Mech. Eng.* 2014, 2014, doi:10.1155/2014/162435.
- 29. Lee, Y.-G.; Kim, D.-H.; Kim, C.-G. Parametric study of the reflective periodic grating for in-plane displacement measurement using optical fibers. *Sensors* **2012**, *12*, 4265–4280.
- 30. Ballas, R.G. *Piezoelectric Multilayer Beam Bending Actuators: Static and Dynamic Behavior and Aspects of Sensor Integration*; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 2007.
- 31. Ogata, K.; Yang, Y. Modern Control Engineering; Prentice-Hall: New York, NY, USA, 1970.
- 32. 5800 series, Materials Testing Systems for the Most Demanding Applications. Available online: http://www.inteszt.hu/PDF/01/5800Brochure.pdf (accessed on 19 November 2014).
- 33. Filipiak, J.; Solarz, L.; Steczko, G. Surface acoustic wave (SAW) vibration sensors. *Sensors* **2011**, *11*, 11809–11832.
- 34. Jia, X.; Zhang, M.; Lee, W.C. Load transfer mechanics between trans-tibial prosthetic socket and residual limb—Dynamic effects. *J. Biomech.* **2004**, *37*, 1371–1377.
- Lee, V.; Solomonidis, S.; Spence, W. Stump-socket interface pressure as an aid to socket design in prostheses for trans-femoral amputees—A preliminary study. *Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part H J. Eng. Med.* 1997, 211, 167–180.
- Florez, J.; Velasquez, A. Calibration of force sensing resistors (FSR) for static and dynamic applications. In Proceedings of the 2010 IEEE ANDESCON, Bogota, Columbia, 15–17 September 2010; pp. 1–6.
- Dumbleton, T.; Buis, A.W.; McFadyen, A.; McHugh, B.F.; McKay, G.; Murray, K.D.; Sexton, S. Dynamic interface pressure distributions of two transtibial prosthetic socket concepts. *J. Rehabil. Res. Dev.* 2009, 46, 405–415.

© 2014 by the authors; licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Paper 2: Amr M. El-Sayed; Abo-Ismail, Ahmed; El-Melegy, Moumen T.; Nur Azah Hamzaid; Noor Azuan Abu Osman. Development of a micro-gripper using piezoelectric bimorphs. *Sensors*, 2013, 13(5), 5826-5840.



OPEN ACCESS

Article

Development of a Micro-Gripper Using Piezoelectric Bimorphs

Amr M. El-Sayed ^{1,2,*}, Ahmed Abo-Ismail ², Moumen T. El-Melegy ³, Nur Azah Hamzaid ¹ and Noor Azuan Abu Osman ¹

- ¹ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur 50603, Malaysia; E-Mails: azah.hamzaid@um.edu.my (N.A.H.); azuan@um.edu.my (N.A.A.)
- ² Mechanical Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Assiut University, Assiut 71516, Egypt; E-Mail: aboismail@aun.edu.eg
- ³ Electrical Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Assiut University, Assiut 71516, Egypt; E-Mail: moumen@aun.edu.eg
- * Author to whom correspondence should be addressed; E-Mail: amr.ahmed2@eng.au.edu.eg.

Received: 4 March 2013; in revised form: 25 March 2013 / Accepted: 28 April 2013 / Published: 7 May 2013

Abstract: Piezoelectric bimorphs have been used as a micro-gripper in many applications, but the system might be complex and the response performance might not have been fully characterized. In this study the dynamic characteristics of bending piezoelectric bimorphs actuators were theoretically and experimentally investigated for micro-gripping applications in terms of deflection along the length, transient response, and frequency response with varying driving voltages and driving signals. In addition, the implementation of a parallel micro-gripper using bending piezoelectric bimorphs was presented. Both fingers were actuated separately to perform mini object handling. The bending piezoelectric bimorphs were fixed as cantilevers and individually driven using a high voltage amplifier and the bimorph deflection was measured using a non contact proximity sensor attached at the tip of one finger. The micro-gripper could perform precise micro-manipulation tasks and could handle objects down to 50 μ m in size. This eliminates the need for external actuator extension of the microgripper as the grasping action was achieved directly with the piezoelectric bimorph, thus minimizing the weight and the complexity of the micro-gripper.

Keywords: piezoelectric actuator; bimorph

1. Introduction

Piezoelectric materials are ideal for systems such as micro-grippers due to their fast reaction time and miniaturization potential [1]. They have been used as sensor and actuator components due to their unique reversible electrical and mechanical properties. Applications of piezoelectric materials range from buzzers to diesel engines, fuel injectors, sonar, ultrasound, and nanopositioners in scanning microscopes [2]. As actuators, piezoelectric materials are increasingly important in the latest positioning technology due to their precise displacement [3] and their several other advantages such as quick response, large generative force, and high electromechanical coupling [4]. Piezoelectric actuators are categorized into two configurations: stack actuators and bending actuators. By stacking the piezoelectric layers on top of one another, the cumulative volume of piezoceramics increases the energy delivered to a load. On the other hand, bending actuators consist of multilayers of piezoceramics with greater length than the stacked type. Those multilayers can either be double mounted or single ended as a cantilever [5]. A special case of multilayer bending actuators is the piezoelectric bimorph actuator, which consists of two layers of piezoelectric material connected over their length surfaces. When electric voltage is applied, one layer extends and the other contracts [6,7]. The resultant bending motion becomes the working principle in micro-mechanical applications [8]. Consequently piezoelectric bimorphs have been involved in areas related to precision position control, loudspeakers, vibration damping, noise control, relays, phonograph pick-up, acoustics, and pressure sensing [9].

An important characteristic of bending piezoelectric bimorphs is that the deflection of the bender's tip is dependent on an alternating driving voltage. Many studies have investigated the behavior of piezoelectric actuators. Other studies performed investigations on the nonlinear behavior of bending piezoelectric bimorphs structures under exposure to high electric fields [10], modeling of asymmetrical bending piezoelectric bimorphs structures and the static behavior of the expected bending moment [11], and analytical description of the bending piezoelectric bimorphs' free tip deflection by matrix calculus [12]. The universal deformation state equations were further extended to trimorph bending structures [13]. The free tip deflection of piezoelectric multilayer beam bending actuators under the influence of an electric load was presented by DeVoe and Pisano [14]. The dynamic behavior of a bimorph bending structure excited to bending vibrations by external harmonic forces, bending moments, pressure loads and electrical driving voltages including a flexible plate attached at the free bender's tip had also been established [15,16] and a system of differential equations describing the dynamics of a bimorph was formulated [17]. These establishments of piezoelectric responses contributed towards its application as a micro-manipulating system.

A single-degree-of-freedom micro-manipulator suitable for space robots applications requires lightweight, simplicity, and immunity from magnetic fields [18]. Space robots most commonly require components that can survive at least the rigors of the space and perform exploration, construction, or other tasks. Smart materials are needed for developing some essential parts in space robots for specific applications. For example, robotic hands are used to contact worksite elements safely, quickly, and accurately without accidentally contacting unintended objects or imparting excessive forces beyond those needed for the task. All these tasks require smart materials with minimal time delay to allow distant humans to effectively command the robot to do useful work [19]. End effectors of space based robots must also be dexterous and precisely manage the position of the grasped object. Therefore, a

bending piezoelectric bimorph is an ideal solution for an end-effector that could perform such pick-and-place tasks which is the essence of micro-manipulation [20].

Grasping and moving small objects from one location to another depends on the shape and weight of the object, and whether the object is fragile or firm [21]. The basic operation of the micro-gripper depends on the mechanism of the specific type of actuators employed, such as thermo-piezoelectric actuator [20]. The utilized micro-gripper was developed of two parallel lead zirconate titanate (PZT) layers with a fixed range of displacement. Other micro-manipulation mechanisms were designed to enable the tip of the micro-gripper to move in parallel [22]. Static characteristics and control of the micro-manipulator and variation of deflection with the frequency were also reported [1]. This work aims to extend the investigation on parallel micro-gripping in terms of the effect of the sandwiched supporting layer on deflection of the piezoelectric bimorph actuator and to understand to what extent the rigidity of the bimorph varies due to the brass layer between both piezoceramic layers.

The second aim is in light of the implementation of parallel micro-gripper by utilizing the piezoelectric bimorph itself to grasp soft objects instead of attaching additional flexible cantilever [20,21]. It has been well reported that piezoelectric was used as an actuator for driving micro-manipulation of micro-objects [1,22,23]. A piezo-actuator was also utilized as a driver to provide movement to the flexible amplification mechanism of the micro-gripper. It may deliver a large force, but the size is big and it has a complex structure. This study aims to achieve the grasping action directly from the piezoelectric bimorph in order to minimize the weight and complexity of the micro-gripper. In addition, the essential role of the supporting brass layer in providing the essential behavior of the micro-gripper as well as increasing its life cycle was to be established.

This article presents: (i) the basics of a piezoelectric bimorph and the equations of deflection for both the non-supporting sandwiched layer and the brass supporting layer, (ii) the experimental setup that was used for piezoelectric bimorph characterization and also the overall diagram of the micro-gripper in addition to the tests performed for micro-gripper validation, and (iii) the theoretical and experimental results and discussion of the bimorph and the micro-gripper characteristics.

2. Configuration of Bending Piezoelectric Bimorphs

Bimorphs, which are commonly used as a fundamental element in many operating devices, are made of two piezoelectric sheets bonded together [24]. They were also used to control the vibration of a helicopter rotor blade with limited success [25]. Relations between intensive parameters, which refers to the deflection, bending angle, volume displacement and electrical charge derived for any point over the entire length of the piezoelectric bimorph; and extensive parameters, which refers to variables such as force, bending moment, pressure load and electrical driving voltage [26] have long been established [6,7,10,13,15]. The basic geometry, dimensions, and extensive parameters of our bimorph actuator are shown in Figure 1 where two piezoelectric layers are bonded together with the same polarization. After applying an electric field the piezoelectric bimorph will be deflected as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 1. Dimensions, extensive parameters, and polarization of the bimorph actuator.





Generally, piezoelectric bimorph layers are bonded together with a sandwiched supporting material. To establish the relevance of the supporting material, two types of piezoelectric bimorph were employed, in which one of them had the sandwiched supporting material removed. The relationship between the exciting voltage and the output deflection was estimated in both cases [10] and is discussed herein using the equations of deflection *versus* the applied voltage.

Case 1: Without supporting material between the two piezoelectric layers.

The two layers are identically in geometrical, electrical, and thermal parameters. The analytical bending curvature is given by Equation (1) [10]:

$$\delta\left(x\right) = \frac{3d_{31}x^{2}}{H^{2}}V$$
(1)

where $\delta(x)$, the deflection at any position -x (mm)

d 31, piezoelectric coefficient (mm/V)

H, total hickness of piezoelectric actuator (mm)

V, applied voltage (V)

Case 2: With a supporting brass layer between the two piezoelectric layers.

The typical configuration in this case of bimorph, which consists of a thin brass metal substrate sandwiched between two piezoceramic patches is presented in Figure 3.

Figure 3. Cross sectional area of the used bimorph actuator.



Equation (2) [10] shows the constitutive relationship of the triple layer piezoelectric bender with applied electric voltage V and tip deflection δ :

$$\delta = \frac{6 s_{11}^{m} d_{31} \left(h_{m} + h_{p}\right) L^{2}}{2 s_{11}^{m} \left(3 h_{m}^{2} h_{p} + 6 h_{m} h_{p}^{2} + 4 h_{p}^{3}\right) + s_{11}^{E} h_{m}^{3}} V$$
(2)

where S^{m}_{11} , elastic coefficient of the supporting layer (m²/N)

 S^{E}_{11} , elastic coefficient of the piezoelectric layer (m²/N)

 h_m , thickness of the supporting layer (mm)

 h_p , thickness of the piezoelectric layer (mm)

L, length of the piezoelectric bimorph (mm)

3. Experimental Setup

Experimental setup consists of two parts. The first setup was for measurement of static and dynamic characteristics of the piezoelectric bimorph (Figure 4) while the second setup is the general layout of the developed micro-gripper based on the previously obtained characteristics (Figure 5).

Figure 4. The experimental setup showing the sensor and piezoelectric actuator amongst other components.





Figure 5. General layout of the developed gripper.

3.1. Part 1: Static and Dynamic Characteristics Measurement

The apparatus consisted of a bending piezoelectric bimorph of two layers of piezoelectric material bonded together with opposite polarity in the form of a cantilever beam (Figure 4). The bimorph was connected to a mechanical breadboard and driven by a piezo-linear amplifier (Model EPA 007). The EPA-007 was a compact high voltage linear non-inverting amplifier, which was used as a high voltage driving source for the piezoelectric actuating device. The bimorph position was measured using a commercial high-resolution capacitive position sensor mounted on a carriage moved with a lead screw. A DC power supply and function generator were used to generate the drive voltages for the piezo driver. The application of an electric field to the bimorph caused one layer to extend slightly and the other layer to contract slightly in the x-direction. The differential length caused the beam to bend towards the contracting layer. The movement of the cantilever was adjusted by precisely regulating the applied electric field.

3.2. Part 2: General Layout of the Developed Micro-Gripper

The developed micro-gripper (Figure 5) consisted mainly of two piezoelectric bending bimorphs, *i.e.*, fingers. Both consisted of two PZT layers in which the bimorph was actuated by applying an electrical voltage across its width. A linear amplifier with a supply input signal drove each finger individually. By applying specific voltage to the bimorph, a definite proportional deflection was produced. The deflection was measured using a non-contact proximity displacement sensor. The output signal from the sensor was displayed on a digital oscilloscope.

Figure 6 illustrates a two-fingers parallel micro-gripper with a position sensor attached at the tip of the finger. The maximum displacement of the actuator was approximately $2,000 \mu m$. The resulting

gripper displacement was sufficient to grasp mini objects. To compensate for the small displacement of the finger, one of the fingers was fixed and the other was mounted on a carriage moved by a lead screw of 1,000 μ m resolution. Two different objects were used to test the performance of the micro-gripper. Object 1 was a thin strain gauge (17.5 mm × 7.5 mm × 0.1 mm) and object 2 was a smaller strain gauge (8 mm × 3 mm × 50 μ m). Figure 7 shows both objects used for assessment of the micro-gripper performance.

Figure 6. Front view of the two parallel piezoelectric bimorph with the non- contact sensor.



Figure 7. Two types of strain gauges (selected as a micro-objects).



Experiments were performed by grasping object 1, *i.e.*, the strain gauge, as shown in Figure 8. A gap of 100 μ m was produced by connecting both fingers with the same voltage. Then, another validation test was performed by picking up object 2 as shown in Figure 9. The micro-gripper successfully grasped the two different objects of different sizes. In the same manner, other objects with various sizes could be manipulated by setting the range of the gap between the two parallel bimorph fingers.



Figure 8. The micro-gripper grasps small object 1 (strain gauge).

Object 1 (strain gauge) grasped by the gripper





4. Results and Discussion

The characteristics of the developed micro-gripper in terms of all possible responses of the piezoelectric bimorphs were presented by measuring the bimorph's deflection. Variations of the measured deflections of the bimorph actuator along the length of the actuator for different driving voltages are illustrated in Figure 10. The experimental investigation was employed by varying the excitation voltage of the bimorph actuator. A bimorph actuator of 57.2 mm length was used for estimating the overall characteristics. The experimental results are correlated with the analytical results within an acceptable error of approximately 2%.




Further assessment of the tip deflection is presented in Figure 11, which highlighted the performance of experimental result conforming to theoretical values in case 2 where the bimorph is sandwiched with a brass layer of a thickness 0.13 mm.

Figure 11. Tip deflection *versus* applied voltage of piezoelectric bimorph, h_p : thickness of the piezoelectric layer (mm), h_m : thickness of the supporting layer (mm).



Nevertheless the results of case 1, *i.e.*, without supporting brass layer, did not agree with the analytical results. This verified the statement regarding the rigidity provided by the supporting layer. From the theoretical calculations of Equation (2) it was confirmed that the bending piezoelectric bimorph without the supporting layer produced a greater tip deflection of up to 1,150 μ m, as illustrated in Figure 11.

4.1. System Resolution and Sensitivity

The observation of either the force or displacement at the tip of the piezoelectric bimorph might be assessed based on the characteristics of the grasped object. The study assumed that the object to be gripped was delicate and lightweight, thus no slipping occurred during the handling process. Therefore, the assessment was performed for the deflection of piezoelectric bimorph and both resolution and sensitivity were considered to characterize the utilized bimorph.

Resolution of this system was defined as the output displacement of the device corresponding to the input voltage [27–29]. The resolution of the piezoelectric bimorph was dependent on the sensor used to measure the resulting displacement [30]. Results showed the resolution of the utilized piezoelectric bimorph finger for micro-positioning actions to be about 80 μ m, based on the non-contact proximity sensor used in the microgripper system. The resolution in terms of grasping action ability, defined by the thickness of the smallest object the gripper can grasp, was demonstrated through the experiment of grasping object 2 in this case, *i.e.*, 50 μ m, which was based on the smallest gap between the fingers.

Sensitivity indicates the amount of change in the output, *i.e.*, the displacement of the bimorph, as a result of change in the input, *i.e.*, the excited voltage [27–29]. The sensitivity in the current application was determined from the gradient of the output displacement *versus* input voltage graph (Figure 11) through experimental investigation to be 4 μ m/V. The relationship between the input voltage, V, and the blocking force, F, was 2.5 mN/V, derived from a theoretical relationship [10] as shown in Figure 12. The frequency curve of bending piezoelectric bimorph *versus* the length is shown in Figure 13, in which the rate of the natural frequency using bimorph of 57 mm in length is about 70 Hz.





Figure 13. Relationship between frequency and actuator length.



4.2. Step Responses

The step displacement responses of the piezoelectric bimorph due to different input amplitudes of $40 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $70 \,\mu\text{m}$ are illustrated in Figure 14, respectively.





The results indicated a fast response time of 0.05 s. However, the rise time was about 5.8 ms and 6.1 ms respectively. This satisfied the micro-gripper specification of control performance.

5. Dynamic Response of the Piezoelectric Bimorph

Figures 15 and 16 illustrate the dynamic displacement response under different AC driving signals of the actuator (1 Hz, 20 V).



Figure 15. Sine-wave signal.

Figure 16. Square-wave signal.



The output response of the square-wave was characterized by vibration followed by overshoot at the front edge of the square-wave driving voltage. A sine-wave output signal showed an acceptable response compared to square-wave signals. Therefore, sine-wave was better adopted as the control signal for dynamic precision positioning.

6. Frequency Response Measurement

The frequency response of the tip displacement of the piezoelectric bimorph was measured with an input signal of 5 V in the frequency range: 0.2-110 Hz and the results are shown in Figure 17.



Figure 17. Variation of the deflection with the frequency for bimorph actuator gripper.

The bandwidth estimated from the obtained results was 101 Hz for the bimorph actuator. The peaks and valleys show that the piezoelectric bimorph can be described as an underdamped system.

7. Conclusions

The characteristics of piezoelectric bimorphs bending actuators were obtained and the experimental setup of the piezoelectric actuator bimorph was successfully developed. The micro-gripper was developed using two parallel piezoelectric bimorphs (fingers) with a non-contact position sensor at the tip of one finger. Each finger was essentially a bending piezoelectric bimorph. To compensate the small displacement of the finger one of the fingers was fixed and the other was supported on a carriage moving on a lead screw, therefore, a sufficient range of object sizes can be handled by changing the initial distance between the fingers. Two micro objects of different dimensions were used as objects to check the validity of the developed micro-gripper. The piezoelectric bimorph micro-gripper time response was reasonable for precise engineering applications with a sine–wave being recommended as the control signal for dynamic precision positioning. This study provided a holistic characterization of a microgripper system for closed loop control as well as the utilization of the piezoelectric material itself as the gripper without requiring additional extension. To measure the micro-gripper displacement and blocking force more advanced sensors with higher accuracy are needed. Further investigations could be undertaken to assess the micro-gripper displacement control and to further develop the micro-gripper to perform more than a single axis movement for advanced automated applications.

Conflicts of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Pérez, R.; Agnus, J.; Clévy, C.; Hubert, A.; Chaillet, N. Modeling, fabrication, and validation of a high-performance 2-DoF piezoactuator for micromanipulation. *IEEE Trans. Mechatron. ASME* 2005, 10, 161–171.
- 2. Aksel, E.; Jones, J.L. Advances in lead-free piezoelectric materials for sensors and actuators. *Sensors* **2010**, *10*, 1935–1954.

- 3. Shen, J.C.; Jywe, W.Y.; Chiang, H.K.; Shu, Y.L. Precision tracking control of a piezoelectric-actuated system. *Precis. Eng.* **2008**, *32*, 71–78.
- Yao, K.; Zhu, W.; Uchino, E.; Zhang, Z.; Lim, L.C. Design and fabrication of a high performance multilayer piezoelectric actuator with bending deformation. *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control* 1999, 46, 1020–1027.
- 5. Ballas, R.G. *Piezoelectric Multilayer Beam Bending Actuators: Static and Dynamic Behavior and Aspects of Sensor Integration*; Springer: Heidelberg, Germany, 2007.
- Goli, J.; Smits, J.G.; Ballato, A. Dynamic Bimorph Matrix of End-loaded Bimorphs. In Proceedings of the 1995 49th IEEE International Frequency Control Symposium, San Francisco, CA, USA, 31 May–2 June 1995; pp. 794–797.
- Smits, J.G.; Ballato, A. Dynamic Behavior of Piezoelectric Bimorphs. In Proceedings of IEEE Ultrasonics Symposium, Baltimore, MD, USA, 31 October–3 November 1993; Volume 1, pp. 463–465.
- 8. Smits, J.G.; Choi, W. The constituent equations of piezoelectric heterogeneous bimorphs. *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control* **1991**, *38*, 256–270.
- Wang, Q.M.; Du, X.H.; Xu, B.; Cross, L.E. Electromechanical coupling and output efficiency of piezoelectric bending actuators. *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control* 1999, 46, 638–646.
- 10. Wang, Q.M.; Cross, L.E. Constitutive equations of symmetrical triple layer piezoelectric benders. *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control* **1999**, *46*, 1343–1351.
- 11. Brissaud, M.; Ledren, S.; Gonnard, P. Modelling of a cantilever non-symmetric piezoelectric bimorph. J. Micromech. Microeng. 2003, 13, 832–844.
- 12. Huang, C.; Lin, Y.; Tang, T. Study on the tip-deflection of a piezoelectric bimorph cantilever in the static state. *J. Micromech. Microeng.* **2004**, *14*, 530–534.
- 13. Low, T.; Guo, W. Modeling of a three-layer piezoelectric bimorph beam with hysteresis. *Microelectromec.Syst. J.* **1995**, *4*, 230–237.
- 14. DeVoe, D.L.; Pisano, A.P. Modeling and optimal design of piezoelectric cantilever microactuators. *Microelectromec. Syst. J.* **1997**, *6*, 266–270.
- 15. Smits, J.G.; Ballato, A. Dynamic admittance matrix of piezoelectric cantilever bimorphs. *Microelectromec. Syst. J.* **1994**, *3*, 105–112.
- 16. Yao, K.; Uchino, K. Analysis on a composite cantilever beam coupling a piezoelectric bimorph to an elastic blade. *Sens. Actuators A Phys.* **2001**, *89*, 215–221.
- 17. Fernandes, A.; Pouget, J. Analytical and numerical approaches to piezoelectric bimorph. *Int. J. Solids Struct.* **2003**, *40*, 4331–4352.
- Dabney, J.B.; Harman, T.L. Prototype Micromanipulator of Space Robotics Applications: Annual Report; The Institute for Space Systems Operations (ISSO), University of Houston: Houston, TX, USA, 2006, pp. 37–39.
- 19. Cowen, R. Roving on the red planet. Sci. News 2005, 167, 344-346.
- Rakotondrabe, M.; Ivan, I.A. Development and force/position control of a new hybrid thermo-piezoelectric microgripper dedicated to micromanipulation tasks. *IEEE Trans. Autom. Sci. Eng.* 2011, *8*, 824–834.

- 21. Chonan, S.; Jiang, Z.; Koseki, M. Soft-handling gripper driven by piezoceramic bimorph strips. *Smart Mater. Struct.* **1996**, *5*, 407–414.
- 22. Nah, S.; Zhong, Z. A microgripper using piezoelectric actuation for micro-object manipulation. Sens. Actuators A Phys. 2007, 133, 218–224.
- 23. Zubir, M.N.M.; Shirinzadeh, B.; Tian, Y. Development of a novel flexure-based microgripper for high precision micro-object manipulation. *Sens. Actutaors A Phys.* **2009**, *150*, 257–266.
- 24. Yan, Z.; Zaman, M.; Jiang, L. Thermo-electro-mechanical analysis of a curved functionally graded piezoelectric actuator with sandwich structure. *Materials* **2011**, *4*, 2151–2170.
- 25. Niezrecki, C.; Brei, D.; Balakrishnan, S.; Moskalik, A. Piezoelectric actuation: State of the art. *Shock Vib. Dig.* **2001**, *33*, 269–280.
- Ballas, R.G.; Schlaak, H.; Schmid, A. The constituent equations of piezoelectric multilayer bending actuators in closed analytical form and experimental results. *Sens. Actuators A Phys.* 2006, 130, 91–98.
- 27. Morris, A.S. *Measurement and Instrumentation Principles*; Butterworth-Heinemann: Oxford, UK, 2001.
- 28. Wilson, J.S. Sensor Technology Handbook; Newnes: Oxford, UK, 2004.
- 29. Zhang, P. Industrial Control Technology: A Handbook for Engineers and Researchers; William Andrew Publishing: Norwich, UK, 2008.
- Minase, J.; Lu, T.F.; Cazzolato, B.; Grainger, S. A review, supported by experimental results, of voltage, charge and capacitor insertion method for driving piezoelectric actuators. *Precis. Eng.* 2010, 34, 692–700.

© 2013 by the authors; licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

Paper 3: Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur A. Hamzaid, Kenneth Y.S. Tan, Noor A. Abu Osman. Detection of prosthetic knee movement phases via in-socket Sensors: A feasibility study. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2015, 13 pages.



Research Article

Detection of Prosthetic Knee Movement Phases via In-Socket Sensors: A Feasibility Study

Amr M. El-Sayed,^{1,2} Nur Azah Hamzaid,¹ Kenneth Y. S. Tan,¹ and Noor Azuan Abu Osman¹

¹ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Malaya, 50603 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia ² Mechatronics Section, Mechanical Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Assiut University, Assiut 71516, Egypt

Correspondence should be addressed to Amr M. El-Sayed; dr_amr90eg@yahoo.com

Received 23 June 2014; Revised 2 September 2014; Accepted 15 October 2014

Academic Editor: Alberto Borboni

Copyright © 2015 Amr M. El-Sayed et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

This paper presents an approach of identifying prosthetic knee movements through pattern recognition of mechanical responses at the internal socket's wall. A quadrilateral double socket was custom made and instrumented with two force sensing resistors (FSR) attached to specific anterior and posterior sites of the socket's wall. A second setup was established by attaching three piezoelectric sensors at the anterior distal, anterior proximal, and posterior sites. Gait cycle and locomotion movements such as stair ascent and sit to stand were adopted to characterize the validity of the technique. FSR and piezoelectric outputs were measured with reference to the knee angle during each phase. Piezoelectric sensors could identify the movement of midswing and terminal swing, pre-full standing, pull-up at gait, sit to stand, and stair ascent. In contrast, FSR could estimate the gait cycle stance and swing phases and identify the pre-full standing at sit to stand. FSR showed less variation during sit to stand and stair ascent to sensitively represent the different movement states. The study highlighted the capacity of using in-socket sensors for knee movement identification. In addition, it validated the efficacy of the system and warrants further investigation with more amputee subjects and different sockets types.

1. Introduction

An amputee user's locomotion phase detection in the field of transfemoral prosthesis system is still undergoing extensive research, especially detection originating directly from the users themselves. In general, a transfemoral prosthesis system has always been mechanically based in which the user had to adapt his gait pattern to accommodate the passive behavior of the prosthesis. Having knee joint across the prosthesis increased the complexity of the system but over the years, advancement of passive adaptive and active prosthetic knee has resulted in improved systems and designs for transfemoral amputees [1–3].

Nowadays, active prosthetic knee systems utilized sensors at certain locations around the prosthetic knee to measure specific parameters. Most of the current sensory systems in the development of prosthetic knee devices are usually located away from the knee axis and the muscles themselves. Such sensors measure parameters such as force, torque, position, velocity, and phase transitions for appropriate control decisions. The information derived from these mechanical sensors was used to derive the instantaneous state of movement to further control the prosthesis system. However, more accurate information about the user's instantaneous state of movement could be derived from the sensors if they are located closest to the user peripherals or nearby the knee joint axis itself. Optimal location of the sensors in a prosthetic knee system may provide better deduction capability of the prosthesis to improve user interaction and performance during daily activities, as the accuracy gained from better sensor placement could reduce the complexity of the knee control.

The identification of the different parameters during prosthetic knee movement is essential to control the knee. For example, the most critical input to be addressed during a transfemoral prosthesis controlled gait is the foot position, either on or off the ground, and this was determined from the angle, torque, and force sensors measurements. As the transition between gait phases is crucial for the control of active knee, such inertial sensors are used to recognize the transitions between the gait phases [4–6]. A magnetorheologic fluid actuated prosthetic knee used a strain gage sensors as an axial force sensors [1], sensor that is placed nearby the knee axis to detect force and torque [1]. The axial force sensors measured the force applied to the prosthetic knee from the ground in the longitudinal direction of the knee. Measurement of the knee torque was conducted by classifying the difference between the signals of the forward and hind strain gages [1]. Other sensory mechanisms used by other developed systems were summarized and presented in Table 1. In general, all sensors were embedded into the prosthetic system to deduce the user's current and intended knee movement without measuring them directly from the socket.

Another approach that is used to gain direct input from the muscle to control the active prosthetic knee is by using the electromyography (EMG) system. Direct user interaction was enabled in an active prosthetic knee system by embedding EMG system. In systems that incorporate EMG, the sensors are positioned to detect the user's flexor and extensor muscles activities from generally the rectus femoris, vastus lateralis, vastus medialis, biceps femoris, and semitendinosus. The EMG signal was utilized to formulate the control algorithm that assists the user to control the torque during activities such as stair ascent. However, the muscle activity may be varied depending on the individual amputee's residual limb muscles or according to the amputation type and level. This may require additional adjustment to the EMG electrodes and the control system [7, 8]. Inertial sensors such as accelerometer and EMG were used in combination to identify the start of the gait by using a technique called "per leading limb condition" of the prosthetic leg during walking [9]. However, skin conditions of the transfemoral amputees may affect the use of EMG [10]. In addition, the placement of EMG onto the skin surface and inside the socket may cause skin irritation and affect the user's comfort [11]. Therefore, another approach is needed to improve the control of the active knee device by choosing proper locations of the sensory system. The suitable location of the sensors could minimize the complexity of the control scheme of the lower prosthesis.

The signals from the inertial sensors are not the only ones that may be acquired to help improve the control of the active knee prosthesis. Further investigation on other alternative signals for characterizing the prosthetic knee movement for better control of the knee prosthesis should be conducted and integrated into future system developments [12]. Alternative options that could better characterize the knee movement will aid the designer to identify multiple solutions to improve the area of active prosthetic knee development [13].

Nowadays, researchers try to involve the amputee subjects with the sensory system more closely to assist the controller decision making. Attempts are ongoing to assist the amputee subjects to interact more naturally with the sensory system by making use of the specific high pressure locations inside the socket. Other sensors placed inside the socket such as the F-socket sensor have been used in investigating the pressure around the residual limb, but they were not meant for daily integration into the socket for identifying knee movements in active transfemoral prosthesis [14]. Various kinds of pressure sensors are used to measure the pressure for both transtibial and transfemoral amputees [14, 15]. Current pressure socket measurement systems such as F-socket (Tekscan, Inc., South Boston, USA) or pressure measuring system (Novel, Germany) were used to cover the circumference of the residual limb. However, they have to include all the posterior, anterior, lateral, and medial compartments of the residual limb. Nevertheless, by selecting specific locations inside the socket, limited number of sensors could be placed to provide sufficient measurements that would help to better improve the control scheme of the active knee.

In general, we proposed that direct user signals could be collected from sensors embedded in the socket and residual limb. This study aims to embed the sensory system inside the patient's socket, as this approach will provide less additional components and practically less setup time, thus more flexibility to the patient wearing the socket. This paper presented the efficacy of embedding mechanical sensors inside the socket's internal wall for movement identification. FSR and piezoelectric sensors were placed inside the socket to achieve the aim of this study. In the proposed study, the obtained insocket data from the interaction between the sensors and the amputee, as well as the biomechanical position of the ground reaction force acting against the sensors inside the socket due to the amputee's specific body posture, will enable the recognition of the user's leg movement as well as events of the movement. These were done by considering the signals from the sensors at different prosthetic knee movements performed by the amputee subject.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Sensor Characteristics and Utilization. The adopted sensors (FSR and piezoelectric) in the current study were placed inside the socket wall (Figure 1). FSR was chosen based on its small size (1.25 mm thickness and 12.7 mm diameter) that will not affect the user comfort. Similarly the piezoelectric sensor has a configuration (Figure 2) as well as dynamic characteristics that make it suitable for such applications [16]. The sensors were tethered to transmit the data directly to the PC via wires. The minimal thickness did not affect the user's natural movements. These sensors were able to accurately characterize the knee movements during walking, stair climbing, and sit to stand.

2.1.1. FSR Sensor and Piezoelectric Sensors. Two FSR sensors (Interlink Electronics 402, Interlink Electronics, USA) of sensing area diameter 12.7 mm were used in the current study based on the site that generated maximum stresses [17]. A signal conditioning circuit was built to acquire the output voltage from the FSR at a range of 0 to 3.5 volts. The output voltage from the FSR circuit was connected to a Simulink environment by using the Real-Time Windows Target Toolbox. Afterwards, a data acquisition system (Advantech PCI-1710HG, Advantech, USA) was utilized to analyze the output data from the FSR sensor.

The FSRs were placed at specific locations in the socket to effectively capture the maximum stress of the socket's

Author (year), system	Sensor type	Mechanism and function
Kapti and Yucenur (2006) [5], artificial knee joint	Rotary knee angle's potentiometer	Detects different angles of the knee joint from 119.5° to 180° as the sensor located at the joint centre.
Sup et al. (2009) [6],	Load cell	Detects force and torque loading at the knee and ankle.
Vanderbilt prosthetic leg	Rotary potentiometer	Detects the knee joint angles.
Martinez et al. (2009), agonist-antagonist prosthetic knee	Rotary encoder Digital encoder, to measure Ankle Angle Digital encoders, to measure motor displacements Hall sensor, to measure springs' Compression Force sensitive resistor, to Heel/Toe Contact	Detects the joint angles by controlling the motor displacement via the rotary encoder, attached to the motor shaft.
Sup et al. (2009) [6], Vanderbilt prosthetic leg	Custom load cell	Custom load cell was made to detect force and torque loading at the knee and ankle.
vanderone prostilette leg	Potentiometer	Detects the knee joint angles.
Geng et al. (2010) [4], four-bar linkage prosthetic knee	Knee angle sensor used to detect angle at different phases.	Prosthetic knee with four-bar linkages mechanism

TABLE 1: Sensory mechanisms used in prosthetic knee systems.





FIGURE 1: FSRs locations inside the socket during the experiment for both anterior and posterior sites.



FIGURE 2: (a) Basic dimensions, extensive parameters, polarization, and applied electric field acting on the bimorph generator [16]. (b) Dimensions of the used bimorph with two fixed ends.



FIGURE 3: Placement of the piezoelectric sensors at both anterior and posterior sites.

area [15]. Given the small area covered by the sensor, the anatomical muscle bulge during maximum contraction was identified to determine the sensor placement in the socket. Furthermore, to ensure that the sensor is in contact with the greatest pressure point against the socket wall when the muscle contracts, investigators palpated the muscles during maximum voluntary contraction of the amputee's residual limb. This ensured that the FSR was located at a position that allowed detection of highest variation of the signal originating from high pressure at the rectus femoris and biceps femoris muscles contraction [15, 18]. Given the minimal thickness of the FSR (<1.25 mm), the FSR was secured using adhesive sticker inside the socket's wall. This eliminated the user sensational awareness about the FSR in the socket which otherwise would have affected the user's natural movements. Trials were conducted to estimate the pattern variation of three major movements, namely, (i) full stance of gait, comprising heel strike, flat foot, and toe off; (ii) stair ascent; and (iii) sit to stand. The socket with the attached in-socket FSR is presented in Figure 1.

Piezoelectric sensors are used to identify the knee movement and facilitate the interaction between the user and the lower prosthesis through the socket. Piezoelectric sensors have been used to provide another technique that may help in the characterization of the knee movement. In addition, it may be compared to the FSR sensors to illustrate the extent of which both of them may be practically useful for the lower limb's designer. Moreover, the captured signals from the sensor assist in the development of prosthetic knee, in terms of the control strategy during different schemes. The piezoelectric sensors in this study were also placed inside the socket wall with specially made cavity to securely attach the sensor while allowing the required piezoelectric sensor deflection (Figure 3). Basically, one of the advantages of using piezoelectric bimorph is that it does not require external power supply to operate as it is considered an active sensor. Moreover, it also can be used to harvest energy when mechanical stress is applied on the bimorph surfaces [19, 20]. Basically, it consists of two layers sandwiched by metal layer for more flexibility as shown in a bimorph configuration as in Figures 2(a) and 2(b). Bimorph sensor is one of the

most widely used bender actuators in both academic studies and industrial applications [16]. When applying pressure to the surface an electrical charge appears. The amount of charge is transferred into measurable output voltage which is proportional to the amount of pressure. The piezoelectric bimorph has a good dynamic characteristics in terms of handling transient inputs; also it has a wide range of output voltage up to ±90 V as well as a bandwidth about 100 Hz [16]. In addition to, the bimorph layer has a bleed resistor that protects it from high transient voltages and mechanical shocks.

Three piezoelectric sensors were attached at specific positions [15] at the anterior distal, anterior proximal, and posterior sites of the socket in order to sense the knee movement at different phases. A third piezoelectric sensor was placed at the anterior site nearby the knee joint to collect better measurement about the joint movement [1]. Figure 3 shows the placement of the piezoelectric sensors at both anterior and posterior sites.

2.2. Subject Characteristics and Experiments. A 29-year-old male, 75 kg, of height 182 cm transfemoral amputee who had been using an above knee prosthesis for the past 10 years, was recruited for this study. An informed written consent was attained from the subject as approved by the ethics committee of University Malaya Medical Centre. Two separate experiments with the same procedure were performed for each sensor, that is, FSR and piezoelectric sensors. In the first experiment, FSR sensors were attached at the regions of the quadrilateral double socket based on the subject's anatomical muscle position. The quadrilateral double socket was selected as it was the type of socket he had been using thus ensuring no compensatory gait deviations of using a new socket type. The sensors' wires were carefully secured and lengthened to ensure that the participant's movement was not affected. The amputee was fitted with the instrumented socket and knee prosthesis and was requested to perform five repetitions each of complete gait cycle, stair ascent, and sit to stand movements. The subject performed the stance phase of the gait cycle, that is, heel strike, flat foot, and toe off, as shown in Figure 4 for 5 repetitions. The subject was then requested to

Direction of movement Frame 1 Frame 2 Frame 3 Frame 1 Frame 2 Frame 3 FSR sensor FSR sensor Section A-A Anterior Posterio FSR sensor Foot flat Initial contact Toe off (a) (b)

FIGURE 4: (a) Anterior FSR placement during full stance phase; (b) posterior FSR placement during full stance phase; and (c) the individual performing full stance phase (heel strike, flat foot, and toe off) while wearing the FSR instrumented socket.

(c)

go for stair ascent by positioning his leg in a flexed position upon an elevated step of 250 mm height (Figure 5), afterwards applying a downward force upon instruction. Finally, the amputee performed sit to stand action. The subject initially sat on a chair and stood up upon instruction (Figure 6).

2.3. Signal Processing and Movement Characterization. The signals generated from the user's activities were displayed and processed using Simulink (Real Time Windows Target Toolbox). The envelopes of the gait cycle curves were time aligned with the motion capture to define "heel strike," "flat foot," and "toe off" and processed to attain the amplitude patterns. The knee angle at each event was used as a reference to relate it with the captured signals as well as to show the ability of the sensors in characterizing the knee movement. Knee angle was captured by using Kinovea software and measured at each movement 30 Hz sampling rate in order to provide reference platform about the change during different phases. The curve profiles of the various movements were then characterized according to the standard deviation at specific points of each movement.

3. Results and Discussion

Variation of the captured signals versus time for FSR and piezoelectric sensors is presented in the following subsections. Knee angle was used as a reference for each case to relate the variation of the sensors output signals with the behavior of each knee movement phase.

3.1. Measurements of FSR and Piezoelectric Sensors throughout a Gait Cycle. This study protocol used FSR and piezoelectric sensors separately. A tethered FSR and piezoelectric sensors have been used. Using both sensors tethered together would add to the complexity of the setting which would inherently cause discomfort to the amputee subject thus producing unnatural gait.

The resulting FSR and piezoelectric sensors signals when performing different movements were compared. Figure 7 shows the FSR anterior and posterior outputs versus the knee angle throughout the gait cycle. The amplitude of both anterior and posterior sites started at heel strike. The pressure generated at anterior/posterior regions were the same as it produced output voltage of 3-3.1 V. However the knee angle at that phase is fully extended to begin the gait cycle. At about 33% of gait the FSR anterior output reached an amplitude of about 2.7 V. However voltage at the posterior sites remained higher than 3 V. At foot flat of 44% from the gait, the anterior voltage starts to increase and the posterior voltage has the same value of about 3 V. In addition, the knee angle started to flex before the time of foot flat preparing for the toe off stage. At the swing phase region which shows the maximum



FIGURE 5: (a) Anterior FSR placement during stair ascent; (b) posterior FSR placement during stair ascent; and (c) the individual performing stair ascent while wearing the FSR instrumented socket.



(c)

FIGURE 6: (a) Anterior FSR placement during sit to stand; (b) posterior FSR placement during sit to stand; and (c) the individual performing sit to stand while wearing the FSR instrumented socket.



FIGURE 7: FSR and piezoelectric sensors output during gait cycle: (a) FSR anterior, piezo anterior distal, and piezo anterior proximal sites, (b) FSR and piezoelectric sensors at posterior sites, (c) knee angle during stride, and (d) piezoelectric sensors with the knee angle at a region from 70% to 85%.

knee flexion of about 53 degrees the FSR output of both anterior/posterior sites displayed minimum of about zero reading which indicates that there is no loading at both sensors at this stage. The gait cycle ended by reaching the full extension of the knee angle and increased the amplitude of anterior/posterior sensors up to 3 V. In essence, FSR could provide information about the gait change from the stance phase to the swing phase as can been seen from anterior/posterior graphs with the knee angle.

Results corresponding to the piezoelectric tests are conducted to be compared with FSRs' trials. Figures 7(a) and 7(b) showed that both anterior distal and anterior proximal sensors have the same trend line at 0-0.4 s of about 0-40%stride. The peaks of piezoelectric sensors demonstrated how the piezoelectric contracted once the pressure was exerted (positive peaks) and released when the piezoelectric retracts (negative peaks). As can be noticed from the knee angle lines during the swing phase at 1.6 s about 70% stride, the trend of both anterior proximal and posterior sensors matches the knee angle; moreover the posterior sensor exhibits similar behavior with the knee angle until the time reached 2 s. The behavior of the posterior piezoelectric sensor mostly had the same trend compared to the knee angle particularly at the swing phase. The toe off stage occurred at about 74% of the gait cycle, while the output voltage from the piezoelectric sensors intersected with neutral at zero voltage. This is because the generated pressure at this phase decreases due to unloading of the subject's leg from the ground. At the end of the gait cycle the output voltage became 10 V and 9 V at anterior proximal and posterior sites, respectively. Figure 7(d) illustrates the knee angle and piezoelectric sensors signals in the same graph. As illustrated in Figure 7(d), the trend of the piezoelectric sensor at swing phase (75%-85%) matches the knee angle behavior and the peaks cross the zero to the positive region. Figure 7(d) shows a closer look at the swing phase region from 70% to 85% to show agreement between the knee angle and the piezoelectric sensors.

3.2. Measurements of FSR and Piezoelectric Sensors during Sit to Stand. Similarly, FSR and piezoelectric sensors were used to measure the dynamic variation inside the socket during sit to stand movement. Figure 8 illustrated the FSR output versus



FIGURE 8: FSR and piezoelectric sensors output during sit to stand movement: (a) FSR anterior, piezo anterior distal, and piezo anterior proximal sites, (b) FSR and piezoelectric sensors at posterior sites, (c) knee angle during stride, and (d) piezoelectric sensors with the knee angle at a region from 5% to 60%.

the complete stride during sit to stand. The knee angle shown as a reference (Figure 8(c)) at the start of the sitting position was about 90 degrees opposite to amplitude of 3 to 3.1 V from both anterior and posterior FSR. The knee angle increased to 130 degrees at 5% of the movement. However the output of FSRs decreased below the 3 V, due to the pressure decrease at both anterior/posterior sites compared to the sitting position. The knee angle increased gradually to 180 degrees and consequently the anterior/posterior FSR sensors decreased linearly to the minimum value of about 0 V. Linear decrease of the FSR can be interpreted due to the sudden change of the movement by the subject which started from the sitting position to about 60% of the full stride before the full standing. This is one of the limitations of the FSR during that movement that should be considered in the future applications.

Sit to stand movement was tested and piezoelectric measurements versus stride were presented in Figure 8. The

output signals from both anterior distal and posterior meets up from 50% to 60% have a zero voltage value, while at 60% to 100% of the stride, the piezoelectric sensor started to be decompressed as the voltage indicates negative value at that region. At anterior and posterior sites, two peaks of about 10 V and 5 V, respectively, can be noticed before the full standing position of the subject. As can be seen in Figure 8(d), a specific region from 5% to 60% was studied to show the relation between the knee angle and the piezoelectric signals. It is clear that the four signals of sensors and knee angle are straight line of about zero voltage for piezoelectric sensors and linear line of angle of a value of 140 degrees.

3.3. Measurements of FSR and Piezoelectric Sensors during Stair Ascent. Stair ascending was carried out as shown in Figure 9. The foot was placed on the step as shown in Figure 9 before the measurement of knee angle and sensors



FIGURE 9: FSR and piezoelectric sensors output during stair ascent: (a) FSR anterior, piezo anterior distal, and piezo anterior proximal sites, (b) FSR and piezoelectric sensors at posterior sites, (c) knee angle during stride, and (d) piezoelectric sensors with the knee angle at a region from 20% to 60%.

is started. As illustrated in the graph, the output voltage of both anterior and posterior sensors remains almost constant during the whole event because of the pressure generated from the ground, which is directly reflected as voltage of about 3–3.2 V. The knee angle varied from 23° to 9° at the end of the stair ascent phase. Stair ascent movement was conducted with the user wearing the socket embedded with the piezoelectric sensors. The knee angle decreases gradually from about 23° to 8°; however the variation of the output signals from piezoelectric sensor at both anterior distal and posterior proximal sensors changed minimally during the 0% to 60% stride. Piezoelectric sensor at the posterior site decompressed at the early stage of the stride at 10%. High compression value was noticed at anterior distal site which has a value of about 1.5 V (Figure 9). In overall, Figure 9(d) shows the three piezoelectric signals with the knee angle in the same graph. It can be noticed that the fluctuations of the piezoelectric sensors agreed at a region starting from 20% to 60%. This region can provide information when compared

with the variation of the knee angle which starts from 15° to almost 10°.

Analysis was conducted to identify the events during the gait cycle based on the events as described by Nordin and Frankel [22]. The swing phase is divided into initial swing (60-73% of gait cycle), midswing (73-87% of gait cycle), and terminal swing (87-100% of gait cycle). FSR output signals showed some delay during the transition from stand to swing as a result of the FSR characteristics reported that it has 1-2 ms mechanical rise time delay [17]. Therefore, at the walking phase the results of FSR are considered with the mentioned delay and piezoelectric sensors can function better than FSR. Results of the piezoelectric sensors (Figure 8(d)) can be combined to describe midswing and terminal swing events. Figure 9(d) illustrates good agreement between knee angle and the piezoelectric sensors within a range of voltage from -4 V to -2 V and the knee angle proportionally changed from 20° to 55°. Sit to stand phase is important to the transfemoral amputees and the movement events can be identified from



FIGURE 10: Flow chart presents the identification process of the knee state by consideration the range of voltage of piezoelectric sensor.

	Gait cycle	Standard deviation	Sit to stand	Standard deviation	Stair ascent	Standard deviation
	%	±	%	±	%	±
	0	0.016	0	0.032	0	0.058
	0.17	0.026	0.23	0.041	0.3	0.074
	44.44	0.047	0.5	0.046	0.6	0.099
	46.11	0.064	59.4	0.029	30	0.165
	62.78	0.000	61.7	0.027	33	0.173
Anterior	64.44	0.000	64	0.025	36	0.180
	66.67	0.000	66.3	0.029	40	0.189
	70	0.000	97.7	0.028	96	0.159
	72	0.000	100	0.024	100	0.151
	97.78	0.047				
	100	0.018				
	0	0.025	0	0.020	0	0.005
	0.17	0.027	0.23	0.010	0.3	0.015
	44.44	0.0 ± 04	0.5	0.013	0.6	0.029
	46.11	0.124	59.4	0.075	30	0.012
	62.78	0.000	61.7	0.078	33	0.014
Posterior	64.44	0.000	64	0.081	36	0.015
	66.67	0.000	66.3	0.082	40	0.000
	70	0.000	97.7	0.030	96	0.017
	72	0.000	100	0.027	100	0.019
	97.78	0.004				
	100	0.019				

 TABLE 2: Standard deviation values for FSR.

the signal pattern. The prestanding phase at 50 to 60% of the movement can be recognized from both FSR and piezoelectric signals (Figure 9).

Stair ascent movement was divided into five submovements [23]. The pull-up submovement could be determined by considering the piezoelectric signals while its voltage was between -1 and 1 V (Figure 9). Flowchart shown in Figure 10 concludes how the results conducted from the current study are used to build an algorithm to identify specific events during different knee movement. Walking gait, sit to stand, and stair ascent can be identified according to the flow chart. Specifically, midswing and terminal swing can be recognized. At sit to stand movement, pre-full standing event can be seen at 50-60% of the stride. Finally, pull-up event can be identified at the stair ascent movement. The variation of both FSR and piezoelectric sensors readings at specific points during each movement was reflected as the standard deviations in Appendix Tables 2 and 3. As can be noticed the wide range of measurements of piezoelectric sensor will help to identify the knee movement.

4. Study Limitation

This study was performed to establish the proof of concept with a single amputee subject particularly to look at the different sensor responses. The session was conducted with five trials per movement represented by the standard deviation values at the Appendix section. To ensure natural walking, quadrilateral socket was used in this study as it is the type of socket that is used by the subject in his daily activities. It was also assumed that the middle of the muscle belly is the area of greatest pressure within the socket, and in this case study it was verified by the greatest pressure felt during the subject's maximum voluntary contraction through manual palpitation of the muscles. In other cases, it could depend largely on the socket fit; thus this factor should be taken into consideration in further studies. Additionally, the current study indicated that the piezoelectric sensors could be useful in recognizing the knee movement better than the FSR because of the variations shown during each phase. More experiments should be conducted with different socket types in order to make better comparison between both sensors used in the current study. Moreover, statistical significance can be obtained by considering more than one subject to make the results more convincing.

5. Conclusion

This study presented the possibility of identifying the submovement of a transfemoral amputee using FSR and piezoelectric sensors integrated into the socket. A pair of FSR and three piezoelectric sensors were embedded separately at anterior and posterior sites inside of the socket to be directly in contact with the residual limb of a transfemoral amputee.

	Gait cycle	Standard deviation	Sit to stand	Standard deviation	Stair ascent	Standard deviation
	%	±	%	±	%	±
	0	0.448	0	0.783	0	1.276
Autorian listel	0.16	1.046	0.22	1.123	0.3	1.102
	42.22	3.057	0.45	3.707	0.6	1.202
	44.44	3.278	5.71	0.252	40	0.138
	46.11	4.086	59.42	0.422	43	0.006
Anterior distai	72.22	2.873	61.71	0.892	46	0.207
	73.88	0.192	64	1.203	50	0.203
	97.77	0.963	66.28	1.694	53	0.224
	100	0.811	97.71	2.149	96	1.308
			100	2.346	100	1.336
	0	0.849	0	4.617	0	0.654
	0.16	0.712	0.22	3.616	0.3	0.703
	42.22	4.909	0.45	2.428	0.6	0.705
	44.44	3.975	5.71	2.264	40	0.603
Anterior provinal	46.11	6.115	59.42	3.961	43	0.044
Anterior proximar	72.22	6.031	61.71	4.918	46	0.117
	73.88	5.598	64	5.075	50	0.479
	97.77	1.096	66.28	3.194	53	0.476
	100	1.173	97.71	1.853	96	0.497
			100	1.833	100	0.598
	0	2.375	0	2.026	0	1.439
	0.16	5.215	0.22	1.650	0.3	1.129
	42.22	5.284	0.45	3.168	0.6	1.442
	44.44	6.136	5.71	2.639	40	0.141
Destarion	46.11	5.715	59.42	3.643	43	0.189
1 Osterioi	72.22	2.853	61.71	4.032	46	1.253
	73.88	1.628	64	3.375	50	1.270
	97.77	6.081	66.28	3.119	53	1.308
	100	6.048	97.71	4.917	96	1.654
			100	4.930	100	1.675

TABLE 3: Standard deviation values for piezoelectric.

Complete gait cycles as well as stair ascent and sit to stand motions were performed by the transfemoral amputee to determine the predictability of the knee movement detection as well as user intention by using FSR and piezoelectric sensors. This would be useful in further studies related to the prosthetic knee development. The piezoelectric sensors indicated wide range of measurements at all conducted movements. In particular, piezoelectric sensors can identify submovements at gait and stair ascent movements within a specific range of output voltages. In addition, signals from piezoelectric sensors show acceptable agreement while tracking the knee angle at gait cycle and sit to stand. However, more work should be considered for using piezoelectric sensors at stair ascent/descent and slope climbing. In case of FSR, it could be useful in detecting the change of gait from stance phase to swing phase. FSR showed that it could be used in identifying the pre-full standing phase at sit to stand movement. Therefore, one of the recommendations from this study is that FSR may be more useful to be used as a trigger between the knee movements (walking, sit to

stand, and stair ascent) due to its measurement limitations and would complement the piezoelectric signal for major movement detection.

Following this efficacy study, it can be concluded that the user's intended movement could be detected prior to its angular mechanical change using an instrumented socket. Further trials are to be conducted with greater sample size to determine the consistency and accuracy of response in different subjects with different residual limb lengths, socket types, and muscle condition. This study also demonstrated that piezoelectric sensors could be safely and effectively be embedded onto the socket wall to provide reliable response signal that may be helpful in recognizing the user intention and maintain the amputee's comfort and normal stride while wearing his prosthesis. However, more subjects and simulation of different sensing methods are recommended to address more variations in sensor responses. The proposed approach presented in this study could serve as a complementary input to optimize the interaction of the user with the existing or new microcontrolled prosthetic devices.

Appendix

See Tables 2 and 3.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgment

This study was funded by Ministry of Higher Education (MOHE) of Malaysia, Grant no. UM.C/HIR/MOHE/ENG/14 D000014-16001.

References

- H. Herr and A. Wilkenfeld, "User-adaptive control of a magnetorheological prosthetic knee," *Industrial Robot*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 42–55, 2003.
- [2] Y. Dabiri, S. Najarian, M. R. Eslami, S. Zahedi, and D. Moser, "A powered prosthetic knee joint inspired from musculoskeletal system," *Biocybernetics and Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 118–124, 2013.
- [3] A. M. El-Sayed, N. A. Hamzaid, and N. A. Abu Osman, "Technology efficacy in active prosthetic knees for transfemoral amputees: a quantitative evaluation," *The Scientific World Journal*, vol. 2014, Article ID 297431, 17 pages, 2014.
- [4] Y. Geng, X. Xu, L. Chen, and P. Yang, "Design and analysis of active transfemoral prosthesis," in *Proceedings of the 36th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society (IECON '10)*, pp. 1495–1499, IEEE, Glendale, Ariz, USA, November 2010.
- [5] A. O. Kapti and M. S. Yucenur, "Design and control of an active artificial knee joint," *Mechanism and Machine Theory*, vol. 41, no. 12, pp. 1477–1485, 2006.
- [6] F. Sup, H. A. Varol, J. Mitchell, T. J. Withrow, and M. Goldfarb, "Preliminary evaluations of a self-contained anthropomorphic transfemoral prosthesis," *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 667–676, 2009.
- [7] C. D. Hoover, G. D. Fulk, and K. B. Fite, "Stair ascent with a powered transfemoral prosthesis under direct myoelectric control," *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 1191–1200, 2013.
- [8] C. D. Hoover, G. D. Fulk, and K. B. Fite, "The design and initial experimental validation of an active myoelectric transfemoral prosthesis," *Journal of Medical Devices, Transactions of the ASME*, vol. 6, no. 1, Article ID 011005, 2012.
- [9] E. C. Wentink, V. G. H. Schut, E. C. Prinsen, J. S. Rietman, and P. H. Veltink, "Detection of the onset of gait initiation using kinematic sensors and EMG in transfemoral amputees," *Gait* and Posture, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 391–396, 2014.
- [10] E. C. Wentink, E. C. Prinsen, J. S. Rietman, and P. H. Veltink, "Comparison of muscle activity patterns of transfemoral amputees and control subjects during walking," *Journal* of *NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, vol. 10, no. 1, article 87, 2013.
- [11] G. M. Hefferman, F. Zhang, M. J. Nunnery, and H. Huang, "Integration of surface electromyographic sensors with the transfemoral amputee socket: a comparison of four differing configurations," *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 2014.

- [12] R. R. Torrealba, J. M. Castellano, G. Fernández-López, and J. C. Grieco, "Characterisation of gait cycle from accelerometer data," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 43, no. 20, pp. 1066–1068, 2007.
- [13] R. R. Torrealba, C. Pérez-D'Arpino, J. Cappelletto, L. Fermín-Leon, G. Fernández-López, and J. C. Grieco, "Through the development of a biomechatronic knee prosthesis for transfemoral amputees: mechanical design and manufacture, human gait characterization, intelligent control strategies and tests," in *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA '10)*, pp. 2934–2939, 2010.
- [14] S. Ali, N. A. Abu Osman, A. Eshraghi, H. Gholizadeh, N. A. B. Abd Razak, and W. A. B. B. Wan Abas, "Interface pressure in transtibial socket during ascent and descent on stairs and its effect on patient satisfaction," *Clinical Biomechanics*, vol. 28, no. 9-10, pp. 994–999, 2013.
- [15] J. H. Hong and M. S. Mun, "Relationship between socket pressure and EMG of two muscles in trans-femoral stumps during gait," *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 59–72, 2005.
- [16] A. M. El-Sayed, A. Abo-Ismail, M. T. El-Melegy, N. Azah Hamzaid, and N. A. Abu Osman, "Development of a microgripper using piezoelectric bimorphs," *Sensors*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 5826–5840, 2013.
- [17] J. A. Flórez and A. Velásquez, "Calibration of force sensing resistors (fsr) for static and dynamic applications," in *Proceedings* of the IEEE ANDESCON Conference, pp. 1–6, IEEE, September 2010.
- [18] V. S. Lee P, S. E. Solomonidis, and W. D. Spence, "Stumpsocket interface pressure as an aid to socket design in prostheses for trans-femoral amputees—a preliminary study," *Proceedings* of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part H: Journal of Engineering in Medicine, vol. 211, no. 2, pp. 167–180, 1997.
- [19] H. A. Sodano, G. Park, D. J. Leo, and D. J. Inman, "Model of piezoelectric power harvesting beam," in *Proceedings of the ASME International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition*, pp. 345–354, The American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Washington, DC, USA, November 2003.
- [20] S. Pobering and N. Schwesinger, "Power supply for wireless sensor systems," in *Proceedings of the IEEE Sensors*, pp. 685–688, Lecce, Italy, October 2008.
- [21] E. C. Martinez-Villalpando and H. Herr, "Agonist-antagonist active knee prosthesis: a preliminary study in level-ground walking," *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 361–373, 2009.
- [22] M. Nordin and V. H. Frankel, Basic Biomechanics of the Musculoskeletal System, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2001.
- [23] J. M. Aldridge Whitehead, E. J. Wolf, C. R. Scoville, and J. M. Wilken, "Does a microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knee affect stair ascent strategies in persons with transfemoral amputation?" *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, vol. 472, no. 10, pp. 3093–3101, 2014.

Paper 4: Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur Azah Hamzaid, Noor Azuan Abu Osman. Modelling and control of a linear actuated transfemoral knee joint in basic daily movements. *Applied Mathematics & Information Sciences*, 2014, (In press).



Applied Mathematics & Information Sciences An International Journal

http://dx.doi.org/10.12785/amis/"Mypaper9_12_2014"

Modelling and Control of a Linear Actuated Transfemoral Knee Joint in Basic Daily Movements

Amr M. El-Sayed^{1,2}, Nur Azah Hamzaid¹, and Noor Azuan Abu Osman¹

¹Department of Biomedical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur 50603, Malaysia ²Mechatronics Section, Mechanical Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Assiut University, Assiut 71516, Egypt

Received: ..., Revised: ..., Accepted: ... Published online: ...

Abstract: This paper presents the modelling and control of an actuated prosthetic knee mechanism for transfemoral amputees. The mechanism consists of a linear actuation system that feeds the mechanism with the required moment and power at different movements. Physical simulation was utilized to simulate and identify the all physical parameters of the knee. Particular pattern of the knee angle was used as a reference to test the behavior of the knee mechanism in terms of the angle and speed. Movements such as sit- to- stand, slope climbing, and stair ascent were tested at different time intervals. PID control parameters were tuned while the angle of the actuated knee mechanism could track the desired angle at time period of 1 s and 0.1 s at different movements. However the mechanism showed deviation from the desired input at time periods of 0.05 s and 0.0125 s. In addition, the estimated amount of torque and power at time period less than 0.1s were about 15 N and 800 W. The physical simulation presented a realistic simulation of the actuated mechanism in terms of the knee parameters. Further analysis may be carried out during the development stage of the knee mechanism. Also, more experiments could be conducted with the transfemoral amputees to improve the overall performance of the knee mechanism.

Keywords: Linear actuated knee mechanism, Physical modelling

1 Introduction

The human knee is a complex structure that could perform different activities and movements. For above knee amputees, powered lower limb prosthesis are still in the development stage. As the transfemoral amputees are in need of performing several daily movements like other people, thus the progress in development of prosthetic knee mechanism is essential. Currently, some powered lower limb could mimic the normal walking activity of the transfemoral amputees [1,2,3]. The powered lower limb consists of knee and ankle prosthesis, and it could deliver sufficient power to assist the amputee during walking. Also, the powered limb system could change the impedance during the activity and it was verified through experimental studies with an amputee patient.

Another development is the prosthetic foot that uses spring that could store and release energy during different phases [4]. The active knee prosthesis has been developed using different types of actuator that could provide sufficient torque to move the knee joint. For example, a magnetorheological (MR) fluid actuator was utilized to develop the prosthetic knee joint, as MR was used in a shear mode to effectively modify the required torque. Also, pneumatic and hydraulic systems are used to change the damping of the knee mechanism during movement [5, 6, 7]. Pneumatic muscles were used as an approach to develop a prosthetic knee which behaves similar to the biological knee, and results revealed that the system can replicate the normal gait cycle [8]. So far, it can be addressed that the experimental studies that investigate the level ground walking were presented. However, similar studies presenting different activities such as stair ascent, stair climbing, and sit- to- stand are still very scarce. A preliminary validation of using a powered lower limb prosthesis during stair ascent and descent was presented and clinically evaluated with a transfemoral amputee subject [9]. The experiments showed appropriate performance related to the joint kinematics during the stair ascent trials. Standing movement was evaluated and a control scheme was developed to control the powered prosthesis during standing movement [10]. The results indicated that the

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: dr_amr90eg@yahoo.com

controller could assist to deliver positive power during standing up.

It is anticipated from the prosthetic knee mechanism to rotate within a certain range to perform various movements such as walking, stair ascent, sit- to- stand, and slope climbing [11,12]. In most activities, the maximum flexion of a normal knee angle is about 140°, but practically the knee does not fully bent up to 140°. The flexion angle range required to accomplish the activities range only from 0° - 120° [13]. It is requested from the amputees to be able to perform most of daily activities by allowing the prosthetic knee to flex up to 120°. Therefore, one of the goal of current is to make the knee mechanism flexes within a range of 0° - 120° to meet the basic daily activities. In order to accomplish that range of angle, the knee mechanism should articulate using an actuation system that could deliver a sufficient amount of torque to perform that task.

In particular the knee joint that could perform various daily activities is dependent on the control of the actuation system. In other words, the actuation system is responsible of generatintg sufficient force and varying the impedance might enhance the development of the prosthetic knee mechanism [14] by adopting a Mechatronic approach actuation system can be designed and tested during the that operation of the knee mechanism at different level of movements. The Mechatronics approach offers an opportunity to utilize a pre-design investigation of the system using a physical modelling. That physical modelling is essential before the actual development, as it could provide a sufficient information about the system before the actual physical development stage [15]. In addition, the physical modelling tool provides a comprehensive view about the overall system in terms of its dynamic behavior rather than using the conventional modelling method of deriving the dynamic equations [16]. Also, the physical modelling can perform a complete simulation of the entire system and assists to update the system components and parameters during the stage of the design.

Different structures of the lower limb prosthesis were introduced in previous studies. In this study, the main demand is to control and evaluate the performance of the actuated knee mechanism and adjust the actuation system parameters at various movements. In other words, the assessment of the performance of the knee mechanism and the actuation system in terms of the overall parameters shall provide a clear platform for the development of the prosthetic knee mechanism. In this study, stages of developing a prototype of prosthetic knee mechanism as well as the physical modelling of the updated prototype of the knee mechanism were presented.

In this study the lower limb at normal ground walking was physically simulated. An estimation of the knee joint damping and spring stiffness were estimated for the purpose of validating the concept of setting the actuation system of the knee mechanism. An actuated knee mechanism that utilized a motor-spindle system was

© 2014 NSP Natural Sciences Publishing Cor. modeled using SimulinkTM developed by MathWorks[®]. The desired angle patterns were fed into the actuated knee mechanism in order to test the performance of the knee joints inclination at various knee movements of walking, sit-to-stand, stair ascent, and slope climbing. Finally, the overall parameters of the knee mechanism and actuation system in terms of the damping coefficient and spring stiffness were concluded. Moreover, the main features of the actuated knee mechanism were listed.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Simulation of multi-body of the lower limb

In order to start the development of an actuated knee joint, it is recommended at the first stage of the process to simulate the lower limb movement for the purpose of estimating the dynamics of the lower leg. The simulation of the lower leg can be performed using a physical modelling (multi-body simulation) using SimulinkTM developed by MathWorks[®]. Basically, multi-body systems are used to model the dynamic behavior of interconnected rigid bodies that have their relative motion constrained by kinematic joints and that are actuated by forces or moments. The multi-body model was developed in the current stage and presented in Figure 1. The data was obtained from, a person weighting 56.7 kg has a corresponding leg mass of 2.63 kg [17]. The lower leg is composed of the foot (body), ankle (joint), leg (body), and knee (joint). Each body element was characterized by mass, moment of inertia tensor, center of mass, and dimensions, while the joints were defined by the degree of freedom (DOF) and constraints.



Figure 1. Scheme for the multibody knee model with the representation of kinematics and kinetics prescribed at the knee joint.

To carry out the model analysis at the first stage of the development, it is essential to determine the kinematics of each joint. Translational movement occurs at (X,Y) coordinates, while rotational movement occurs around the Z axis, at the sagittal plane. Basically, translational and rotational movement was determined relative to the knee joint, where the leg, ankle joint, and foot elements were connected, respectively. The rotational movement of the leg through the knee joint was prescribed relatively to the position of the leg, where the neutral position of zero degree of the leg occurs when the leg and thigh are totally

extended. According to the joints kinematics, it is necessary to set the parameters of the knee joint model to use. In order to evaluate the design of the prosthesis, a prosthetic knee model is proposed (Figure 2). Spring damper arrangement is proposed to replicate the knee joint behavior. As a first iteration of the design, control algorithm was built to control the angle of the knee joint with reference to a pre-defined normal walking pattern [18]. Variation of the lower limb joint angles during the stride was simulated and presented in Figure 3.



Figure 2. Multibody biomechanical model used in the simulation with a simplified spring-damper arrangements.



Figure 3. Lower limb different scripts during stride.

To mimic the normal knee angle movement and set the parameters of the knee joint during the stride, different modes of control algorithm were implemented (P, PI, PD, and PID). The lower leg range of motion measured in degrees was established as close as possible to the leg human range motion during level-ground walking by applying PID controller [19]. The damping coefficient and spring stiffness of the knee joint were listed in Table 1 along with the controller parameters. With all joints parameters prescribed, it was necessary to set the parameters of the joint model to be used as a platform at the next stage of the development.

Table 1. Parameters of the knee joint during stride.

Variable	Value
Spring stiffness	0.1 N.m/deg
Damping coefficient	0.3 N.m/(deg/sec)
Proportional gain	25
Integral gain	47
Derivative gain	0.14

2.2 Stages of developing the actuated prosthetic knee mechanism

The assistance of the transfemoral amputee to replicate different gait phases can be provided by a prosthetic knee device [20,21]. As described in the prior section the multibody modelling of the lower limb was implemented. Inhere, detailed information about the proposed actuated knee mechanism is discussed. In order to move the prosthetic knee mechanism, the actuation system must produce enough power to provide the knee movement during different phases.

2.2.1 Mechanical design and development stages of the actuated knee mechanism

The development of the actuated prosthetic knee has gone through several stages and ideas based on the Mechatronics approach [22]. First prototype of a prosthetic knee system was developed by the authors, which consists of knee mechanism components that were fabricated using aluminium 6061. The knee joint consists of a simple, hinged based structure. It allowed movement of a single degree of freedom in the sagittal plane. The actuator was a servomotor (Maxon[®] EC 32, brushless) that was connected to spindle drive to supply the sufficient force to the knee joint. The motor was capable of operating at 9460 rpm constant speed. A spindle drive GP 32 S from Maxon[®] was connected into the motor in order to increase the output torque a well as decrease the motor speed. Rotational motor torque was transmitted by the metric spindle screw to linear output force via a lead screw assembly. Linear force was transmitted to angle-dependent rotational torque about the knee joint via the moment of arm. The motor spindle drive was mounted to the mechanical structure of the knee joint to achieve 0° - 60° range of motion, which was the required range of motion for walking and sit-to-stand.. However, the system could not meet the speed requirement. Therefore, the update of the early version was necessary to improve such movement performance.

Based on the limitation of the first prototype, a new design was adopted and tested. The proposee design should be able to perform movements such as walking, stair ascent, sit- to- stand, and slope climbing. The actuated prosthetic knee mechanism was physically modeled in order to move the knee at a range of motion

3

from 0°- 120°. The design was implemented using CAD software, SolidWorks[®]. The physical simulation of the actuated prosthetic knee was performed using SimulinkTM MathWorks[®]. As shown in Figure 4, the mechanism is similar to the crank slider mechanism cite1. Different isometric view of the actuated prosthetic knee is shown in Figure 5. As the knee joint has to rotate to achieve walking, sit- to- stand, stair ascent, and slope climbing movements. The actuation system is responsible for delivering the required output mechanical energy to move the knee joint. Thus, actuation system parameters should be tuned to meet these requirements at each movement. Therefore, the spring stiffness and damping coefficient at each phase should be determined accordingly.

4



Figure 4. Overall view of the proposed motor- actuated prosthetic knee.



Figure 5. Different isometric views of the actuated prosthetic knee.

2.2.2 Physical modelling of the actuated prosthetic knee mechanism

The main focus of the current study is to develop the actuation system of the knee joint that could assist to perform different activities. Thus, a physical modelling of the knee joint mechanism was modeled using SimulinkTM MathWorks[®]. The advantages of such method of physical modeling is to simulate and mimic the actual system by adjusting all parameters and variables. As can be seen in Figure 6, the overall block diagram of the knee joint was physically modeled and the details components

of the knee components were linked and simulated as in Figure 7. As discussed earlier during the lower leg simulation, the estimation of the spring stiffness and damping coefficient are useful to select an appropriate actuation parameters for each knee movements. The actuation system used to actuate the knee mechanism is motor- spindle drive. The motor- spindle drive produces the required force to move a prismatic joint. At the end, the force is converted to the knee torque by means of the moment of arm. In order to control the actuation system, it is recommended to get the simple model of the knee joint.



Figure 6. Overall physical block diagram of the prosthetic knee joint.



Figure 7. Detailed physical modelling of the knee joint mechanism including the all the components and joints. The simplified knee joint model can be obtained Newton second law for rotational motion as in equation (1) [23].

$$\tau_k = J_k \theta^{..} \tag{1}$$

where J_k is the knee rotational inertia due to foot mass, and $\theta^{..}$ is the knee angular acceleration. Equation (1) can be written as a transfer function using the Laplace transformation, resulting equation (2).

$$G_k(s) = \frac{\theta_k(s)}{\tau_k} \tag{2}$$

The resulting transfer function represents a second order system which will be considered in the design of the control system of the actuation system along with the knee joint.



2.2.3 Performance of the actuation system and knee joint at different movement phases

During the development of the knee joint, the actuation system could assist the amputees to perform activities. Therefore, appropriate control strategies have to be implemented. It is necessary to devise a control scheme where the manipulated and controlled variables are to be adjusted. The control scheme presented in Figure 8, is a closed-loop control system, where the difference in the desired and actual condition creates a correction control command to remove the error [24]. The control scheme produces the a suitable signal to operate the actuation system that produces the required force, in addition the master function of the controller is to adjust the knee angle at different movement trajectories.



Figure 8. Diagram of a simplified control scheme for controlling the knee angle movement.

3 Results and Discussion

To evaluate the capability of the proposed actuated knee mechanism, different trajectories were chosen to test the mechanism. Walking, slope climbing, stair ascent, and sitto- stand movements were adopted as a reference patterns. Afterwards, an appropriate control scheme was developed to track the reference trajectories of each movement. Also, a step response was used to test the behavior of the knee joint at specific knee flexion angles. Also, to check the performance of the actuation system, the force produced from the motor-spindle to actuate the knee mechanism was presented at each movement.

3.1 Testing the knee mechanism at specific flexion angles

The actuation system is chosen based on a suitable knowledge of the knee joint requirements that could move the knee joint at a specific range of motion. The force generated from the actuation system could move the knee mechanism at various knee flexion positions. The actuation system was controlled using the PID control scheme that was developed and a specific knee joint positions were tested at different flexion angles (Figure 9). As shown in equation (2), that the simplified model of the knee can be represented in a second order form. Thus, the PID control scheme was applied to check the performance during the different knee flexion. The actuation system shows a capability to move the knee joint within the specific range required from $0^{\circ} - 120^{\circ}$.



Figure 9. The prosthesis positions at the different knee flexion angles.

As the knee angle varies suddenly at certain phases during the stride. Subsequently, a step input response at different knee flexion shown in Figure 10 was conducted while using PID control scheme. It was assumed that the knee joint responses according to the desired input occurs at a rapid time, thus a 0.2 s was adopted as an interval to check the response [25]. As can be seen four states of the knee angles were tested and the responses were recorded and compared with desired input. The step responses at 30° and 60° show less oveshoot and settling time. In contrast, the 90° response exhibits smoothely without overshoot and shows rapid settling time. A steady state error at the 120° response is clear, as the controller attempts to settle the mecanism inertia in a small period of time.



Figure 10. PID control scheme responses at 30° , 60° , 90° , and 120° , (a), (b), (c), and (d).

A.M. El-Sayed: Modelling and Control of a Linear Actuated Transfemoral Knee Joint in Basic Daily Movements

3.2 Testing the knee mechanism with the normal knee angle profile at various speeds

6

In order to test the performance of the knee joint, a reference pattern of the normal walking was applied as an input to the knee system. For further analysis, the knee mechanism was tested under different time bases, 1, 0.1, 0.05, and 0.0125 s. the purpose of using different time base is to check the knee performance under various speeds (Figure 11 and 12). In addition, to test the performance of the mechanism dynamics at various conditions. The torque and power delivered from the actuation system to the knee mechanism can be calculated at different speeds. The output knee angles were obtained and compared to the input signal at PID control algorithm.







Figure 12. Knee angle, torque and power delivered from the actuator at different time bases, 0.05 s and 0.0125 s, (a), (b), and (c).

In general, Figure 11 shows the knee angle performance at 1 s and 0.1 s intervals, it can be observed that the knee mechanism could track the normal gait. The fluctuation of torque and power at 1 s and 0.1 s were recorded to show the change of torque and power rates during the time intervals. In contrast, the performance of the knee angle at less time intervals of 0.05 s and 0.0125 s indicate some delay from the system during tracking the desired angle profile (Figure 12). The output profile of the knee angle at 0.0125 s shows delay at the two peaks at stance and swing phase which could not track the desired input. Also it can be noticed that the amount of power and torque required to provide the movement are 15 N.m and 800 W respectively. In comparison with low speeds the torque and power rates are about 7 N.m and 200 W respectively. The performance of the current knee mechanism at time base less than 0.1 s shows large amount of torque and power that accommodate with the normal knee pattern.

3.3 Testing the knee mechanism at slope movement

The knee mechanism was tested at slope climbing movement at 9 degrees slope inclination [26]. The

SP SP

7

reference trajectory was used to check the movement of the knee joint. PID Controller was utilized to explore the performance of the knee mechanism. Two time bases were selected to test the mechanism performance and the its dynamics. The output from the system was tested at 1 s and 0.1 s to get the performance at different times. As overall, the results at 1 s shows that the output track the desired input. However, at 0.1 s indicates a delay between the desired and the measured at the time interval. It is obvious that the generated torque and power that are required to move the system are 8 N.m and 1500 W respectively (Figure 13).

3.4 Testing the knee mechanism at stair ascent

The stair ascent movement of the knee mechanism was assessed by using a reference input [9]. The knee mechanism was tested at 1s and 0.1s with a desired input profile. Figure 14 shows that both time intervals successfully could track the desired movement trajectory. The torque and power generated from the actuator to the knee during the strides were recorded.



Figure 13. Knee angle, torque and power delivered from the actuator at slope climbing movement, 1 s and 0.1s, (a), (b), and (c).



Figure 14. Knee angle, torque and power delivered from the actuator at stair ascent, 1 s and 0.1 s, (a), (b), and (c).

3.5 Testing the knee mechanism at sit- to- stand

The performance of the knee mechanism at siting phase was tested according to a desired input [27] with time intervals of 1 s and 0.1 s the behavior of the system can be studied. The behavior of the knee mechanism during sit-to-stand was analyzed using PID controller. Figure 15 shows that the mechanism could respond to the desired inputs and both 1 s and 0.1 s. In addition, the torque and power were measured at the knee joint during the movement.



S A.M. El-Sayed: Modelling and Control of a Linear Actuated Transfemoral Knee Joint in Basic Daily Movements



8

Figure 15. Knee angle, torque and power delivered from the actuator at sit- to- stand, 1 s and 0.1 s, (a), (b), and (c).

As the results of the actuated knee mechanism at various phases shown in Figure 12. It can be noticed, the flexion of the knee mechanism at 30° , 60° , and 90° showed zero error during the selected step time (0.2 s). However, the performance of the mechanism at 90° shows less settling time compared to the 30° and 60° phases. Therefore, it can be expected that the behavior of the knee mechanism at such sit- to- stand movement shall provide rapid response. The performance of the knee mechanism at 120° indicates a steady state error over the step time. The error is about 4.5° which is quite acceptable as the activity at 120° is seldom performed compared to the normal activities such as walking or sitting. Overall, the actuated knee mechanism showed an appropriate results at the four phases tested. The second part of the results present the capability of the proposed knee mechanism to track a desired or pre-defined input pattern at different time intervals. The behavior of the mechanism presented less error while tracking the desired input at 1 s and 0.1 s intervals respectively. On the other hand, at time intervals less than 0.1 the output results at different movements show less deviation from the desired. As the actuation system could not accommodate with fast movements according to the results. As the goal of the current study is to mimic the different movements of the knee joint by following the physical simulation goal achievement, the knee mechanism can be developed and components such the actuation system can be selected. Figure 16, shows the proposed knee mechanism of the actuated knee assembled with the other lower limb prosthetic components.



Figure 16. Complete structure of the knee mechanism at different activities, slope climbing, stair ascent sit- to-stand, and walking, (a), (b), (c), and (d).

The control of the actuated knee mechanism is necessary after considering all parameters and dynamics of the knee mechanism. In order to adjust the control parameters of the knee mechanism for walking, sit- to- stand, slope climbing, and stair ascent the parameters of the knee mechanism in terms of the spring stiffness and damping coefficient were adjusted as listed in Table 2. The PID control scheme could mimic the reference trajectory at each movement and could generate the sufficient force to the knee joint.

Table 2. Estimated parameters of the knee jo	oint
mechanism at average time interval of 1 s	5.

Activity	Spring stiffness (N.m/deg)	Damping coefficient N.m/(deg/sec))
Normal	4	0.003
walking		
Slope	0.5	0.03
climbing		
Stair ascent	0.8	0.1
Sit- to- stand	1.5	0.5

The actuation system is responsible to produce force at both direction (knee flexion and extension) in order to move the moment of arm of the knee. In the current investigation, the power variation provided from the actuation system was recorded at different time intervals (Figure 17). For the development it is required to estimate the average power required from the motor in order to move the system.





Figure 17. Estimated power required from the actuation system at 1s, 0.1s, 0.05 s, and 0.0125 s, (a), (b), (c), and (d).

Choosing the components of the proposed knee mechanism that fulfil the requirements of the adopted movements have to be concluded for physical implementation of the actuated knee mechanism. As the first prototype showed some lack in terms of time delay during the movement of the knee mechanism. Therefore, the actuation system was updated to adapt with the different knee movements. For instance it is expected that during the stance phase of normal walking the stiffness of the knee joint is high to maintain the knee in extension throughout the stance phase. Therefore, the actuation system controller must interact with the knee mechanism to vary its stiffness and damping at such situation. As the motor-spindle drive acts as an actuation system, the value of the spring stiffness during the design could be practically transformed to series spring component to improve the performance of the actuation system [15]. At the development stage and physical implementation of the actuated knee mechanism, there are varieties of choosing the actuation system that could actuate the knee mechanism. The simulation showed the proposed knee mechanism requires an average power delivered that from the actuation system at various time intervals as shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Average output power rates from the actuationsystem at various time cycle.

Time interval (s)	Average motor power (W)
1	1
0.1	12
0.05	24
0.0125	60

Based on Mechatronics approach, it is recommended to choose the sensory system in the same time with other parts of the system (actuation, mechanical, and control scheme) [28,29]. Thus, the sensory system should be selected in such a way to be compatible with the other components and should be integrated with other parts to come out with an integrated system [24]. The benefit of choosing the components of the system in the same time, may minimize the time of development and decrease some problems inside mechanical system such as friction [15]. The Mechatronics approach shall improve the overall performance of the system and make it more

compact. There are various options of sensory system that could be used to measure the knee joint angle. Such sensors can be used in different locations either below the foot or integrated inside the socket of the amputee. The characteristics obtained from the current study concluded the main parameters requested to develop such actuated knee mechanism that could perform various movements whisch are listed in Table 3.

9

Table 4. Estimated	parameters of the	proposed actuated
	knee mechanism.	

Parameter	Value
Peak actuator force	3500 N
Range of actuator force	-3000- 3500 N
Range of actuator motion	0- 0.1 m
Range of actuator velocity	0-14 m/s
Range of actuated knee mechanism	0- 120°
Average motor speed	8000 rpm
Average rated power	$\approx 50 \mathrm{W}$
Estimated weight of the actuator	0.3 kg
system	
Estimated weight of actuated knee	2.02 kg
mechanism (Aluminium Alloy	
6061)	

4 Conclusion

In this study, by means of physical modelling tool, overall features of an actuated prosthetic knee mechanism were obtained and controlled for the purpose of developing an actuated knee mechanism. Physical modelling tool was used to build the actuated knee mechanism and adjustment of all parameters and dynamics of the mechanism dynamics were performed. The angle of the mechanism was measured at all gait phases during walking according to a reference input signal. The actuated knee mechanism could rotate at a range from 0° -120°. The mechanism was tested under different time intervals with respect to the desired input angle. In addition, four knee movements (walking, stair ascent, slope climbing, and sit- to- stand) were presented and tested under different time bases. By adjusting the stiffness and damping at each movement, a PID control algorithm was built to control the behavior of the mechanism. The PID controller showed that the actuated knee mechanism could track the desired pattern at various activities. The parameters of the actuation system in terms of stiffness and damping were tuned and adjusted for the purpose of physical implementation of the actuated knee mechanism. Also, overall features of the actuated knee mechanism conducted from the physical modelling were obtained and listed. As can be noticed from the current study that the goal was to obtain a clear idea about the actuated knee mechanism features before the physical implementation. The physical simulation showed a realistic behavior of the knee mechanism and showed the

workspace of the knee mechanism in terms of knee angle at different movements. However the current mechanism could not match with the desired movements at time less than 0.1s. Therefore, the designer should consider that issue at the development stage. In addition, the current mechanical design may be modified to assist the mechanism to perform different movements at less time intervals. Further investigation can be obtained from the actual physical system and the experiments. The evaluation of the system with amputee subjects shall provide better information about the system in real situation. Furthermore, it will assist the prosthetist to provide worthy feedback to the designer to improve the limitations of the current system.

5 Acknowledgement

This study was funded by Ministry of Higher Education (MOHE) of Malaysia, grant number UM.C/HIR/MOHE/ENG/14 D000014-16001.

References

- F. Sup, A. Bohara, and M. Goldfarb, Design and Control of a Powered Knee and Ankle Prosthesis, IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, pp. 4134-4139 (2007).
- [2] F. Sup, A. Bohara, and M. Goldfarb, Design and control of a powered transfemoral prosthesis, The International journal of robotics research, 27, pp. 263-273 (2008).
- [3] F. Sup, H. A. Varol, J. Mitchell, T. Withrow, and M. Goldfarb, in Proc. IEEE/RAS-EMBS Int. Conf. Biomed. Robot. Biomechatron, pp. 523-528 (2008).
- [4] SK. Au, J. Weber, and H. Herr, Powered ankle?foot prosthesis improves walking metabolic economy, IEEE Transactions on Robotics, 25, pp. 51-66 (2009).
- [5] D. Popovic, L. Schwirtlich, Belgrade active A/K prosthesis, Electrophysiological Kinesiology, pp. 337-343 (1988).
- [6] J.L. Johansson, D.M. Sherrill, P.O. Riley, P. Bonato, H. Herr, A clinical comparison of variable-damping and mechanically passive prosthetic knee devices, American journal of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 84, pp. 563-575 (2005).
- [7] A.M. El-Sayed, N.A. Hamzaid, N.A. Abu Osman, Technology Efficacy in Active Prosthetic Knees for Transfemoral Amputees: A Quantitative Evaluation, The Scientific World Journal, p. 17 (2014).
- [8] Y. Dabiri, S. Najarian, M.R. Eslami, S. Zahedi, D. Moser, A powered prosthetic knee joint inspired from musculoskeletal system, Biocybernetics and Biomedical Engineering, 33, pp. 118-124 (2013).
- [9] B. Lawson, H.A. Varol, A. Huff, E. Erdemir, M. Goldfarb, Control of stair ascent and descent with a powered transfemoral prosthesis, IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, 21, pp. 466-473 (2013).
- [10] H.A. Varol, F. Sup, M. Goldfarb, Powered sit-to-stand and assistive stand-to-sit framework for a powered transfermoral prosthesis, IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics (ICORR), pp. 645-651 (2009).

- [11] A.M. El-Sayed, N.A. Hamzaid, K.Y. Tan, N.A.A. Osman, Detection of Prosthetic Knee Movement Phases via in-Socket Sensors: A Feasibility Study, The Scientific World Journal, In press, (2014).
- [12] A.M. El-Sayed, Abo-Ismail, A., El-Melegy, M.T., N.A. Hamzaid, N.A.A.Osman, Development of a Micro-Gripper Using Piezoelectric Bimorphs, Sensors, 13, pp. 5826-5840 (2013).
- [13] B. Kingston, Understanding joints: a practical guide to their structure and function, Nelson Thornes, (2000)
- [14] P. Dilworth, H. Herr, D. Paluska, Artificial human limbs and joints employing actuators, springs, and variable-damper elements, Google Patents, (2006).
- [15] D. Bradley, D. Russell, Mechatronics in Action, Springer (2010).
- [16] A. Downey, Physical Modeling in MATLAB, Green Tea Press, (2008).
- [17] R. Borjian, J. Lim, M.B. Khamesee, W. Melek, The design of an intelligent mechanical active prosthetic knee, IEEE Annual Conference of Industrial Electronics (IECON), pp. 3016-3021 (2008).
- [18] D.A. Winter, The biomechanics and motor control of human gait: normal, elderly and pathological, University of Waterloo Press, (1991).
- [19] A.O. Kapti, M.S. Yucenur, Design and control of an active artificial knee joint, Mechanism and machine theory, **41**, pp. 1477-1485 (2006).
- [20] F. Sup, H.A. Varol, J. Mitchell, T.J. Withrow, M. Goldfarb, Preliminary evaluations of a self-contained anthropomorphic transfemoral prosthesis, IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics, 14, pp. 667-676 (2009).
- [21] A.A. Alzaydi, A. Cheung, N. Joshi, S. Wong, Active Prosthetic Knee Fuzzy Logic-PID Motion Control, Sensors and Test Platform Design, International Journal of Scientific and Engineering Research, 2, pp. 1-17 (2011).
- [22] D. Bradley, Mechatronics in Action: Case Studies in Mechatronics-Applications and Education, Springer (2010).
- [23] O.S. Zahedi, A. Sykes, S. Lang, a.I. Cullington, Adaptive prosthesis ? a new concept in prosthetic knee control, Robotica, 23, pp. 337-344 (2005).
- [24] R.H. Bishop, Mechatronic systems, sensors, and actuators: fundamentals and modeling, CRC press (2007).
- [25] C. Vasconcelos, J. Martins, M. Silva, Active orthosis for ankle articulation pathologies, EUROMECH Colloquium 511 on Biomechanics of Human Movement, pp. 9-12 (2010).
- [26] F. Sup, H.A. Varol, M. Goldfarb, Upslope walking with a powered knee and ankle prosthesis: initial results with an amputee subject, IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, **19**, pp. 71-78 (2011).
- [27] F.C. Sup, A powered self-contained knee and ankle prosthesis for near normal gait in transfemoral amputees, Vanderbilt University Libraries, (2009).
- [28] D. Shetty, R. Kolk, Mechatronics System Design, SI Version, Cengage Learning, (2010).
- [29] A.M. El-Sayed, N.A. Hamzaid, N.A. Abu Osman, Piezoelectric Bimorphs' Characteristics as In-Socket Sensors for Transfemoral Amputees, Sensors, 14, pp. 23724-23741 (2014).





Amr Mohammed El-Sayed received the B.Sc. and M.Sc. in Mechatronics and Robotics from Assiut University, Egypt, in 2004 and 2010, respectively. He has been working toward the Ph.D. degree in Biomedical Engineering at University of Malaya, Malaysia. His

research interests include the design of Mechatronics and Biomechatronics systems, control systems, smart sensors and actuators, control of upper and lower extremity prostheses, rehabilitation engineering, wearable robotics, and embedded system design.



Azah Hamzaid Nur Senior Lecturer is at Biomedical Engineering, University of Malaya, recieved Malaysia, She BEng from Universiti Islam Antarabangsa (UIAM), Malaysia. She recieved PhD, university of Sydney, Her Australia. research

in areas of Rehabilitation Engineering, Computer Play Therapy, Functional Electrical Stimulation, Biomechatronics.



NoorAzuanBinAbuOsmangraduatedfromUniversityofBradford,UKwithaB.Eng.inMechanicalEngineering,followedbyMSc.andPh.D.in Bioengineering fromUniversityofStrathclyde,UnitedKingdom.HeiscurrentlytheDean of

of Engineering, University of Malaya, Malaysia. His main interests are the measurements of human movement, prosthetics design, the development of instrumentation for forces and joint motion, and the design of prosthetics, orthotics and orthopaedic implants.

CHAPTER 4 : DISCUSSION

4.1 Introduction

The aim of the thesis was to show the possibility of using an alternative sensory system that is able to interact with the residual limb of the transfemoral amputee to better control the performance of the knee prosthesis in terms of the intention and transition between phases. This sensing system is supposed to be an alternative solution to electromyography (EMG) and electroencephalography (EEG) techniques that are currently used in some knee prostheses. Moreover, design, testing, and investigating of a knee prosthesis mechanism that could function within the normal range of about 120° and could replicate basic daily activities such as walking, sit-to-stand, stair ascent/descent, and slope climbing was sought. In order to address the aims of the thesis, the existing knee prostheses for transfemoral amputees was analyzed.

4.2 Outcome of the research questions

4.2.1 Sensory system

It is found that the existing sensory system in knee prosthesis for transfemoral amputees can be updated to better control its overall performance. Most studies of the knee prostheses used pure mechanical sensors to measure kinematics and kinetics parameters of the knee, for example, angle, force, and torque at the knee joint. Such sensors are fed to the control unit that consequently controls the movement and damping of the knee prosthesis during the movement. Beside the mechanical sensors, there are attempts to enhance the control of the powered knee prosthesis using EMG and EEG that are based on detecting the signals from muscle and brain activities, respectively. Previous types of knee prostheses (active/powered) are equipped with below foot on/off switches to detect the transition between states during the movement. The control unit of the knee prosthesis adjusts the amount of damping/torque according to the signals received from both mechanical sensors and the on/off switches.

Few critical points and questions are noted here:

- a) Active/ powered knee prostheses contain on/off switches that are attached below the prosthetic foot to detect the transitions between phases: The user wears the knee prosthesis and a fixed foot prosthesis that contains on /off switches. The question that can be asked, is it necessary to find a method to transfer the on/off switches from the location below the foot to another location near the knee prosthesis?
- b) The active/motorized knee prosthesis requires a sensing element to be in a direct contact with the human body (residual limb) to provide information about the amputee's intention (transition between phases). To what extent could the alternative sensing element that was adopted provide information about the intention or the transition between phases?
- c) To what extent can the sensing element be used instead of the mechanical sensors that are used to measure force and torque of the knee?
- d) Does the configuration of the sensing element affect the measurement of the output signal?
- e) In terms of comfort and satisfaction, to what extent does the placement of the sensing element inside the socket's wall affect the satisfaction and comfort of the user?
- f) To what extent could the sensing element be used as a pressure sensing element?

By addressing the above questions (a-f) and questions related to the sensory system that were adopted in the current thesis, the concept of using an embedded sensor that is placed inside the socket's wall was applied. Such location assists the sensing element to be directly in contact with the residual limb, or in direct contact with motor control system of the human body. It could also enhance the practical application of the system especially during donning and doffing, reducing the requirement of electrode placement and preparation such as in EMG and EEG applications. The sensing element is assumed to provide direct information about the transition during the movement of the knee prosthesis. There are existing studies that involve researches in the same field of the knee prosthesis that use mechanical sensors, EMG, EEG, and on/off switches techniques to control the knee prosthesis. Varol et al., (2009), developed a powered leg (knee and foot prosthesis), the controller of the powered leg was built, and the feedback was achieved using load cell and angle sensors that measure the force and angle of the knee respectively. The supervisory control system was developed and an embedded system was built. In addition, the phase transition was identified using on/off switches that are placed below the prosthetic foot. Although, there are attempts to enhance the performance of the knee prosthesis, still the mechanical sensors are used to measure the torque and position of the knee without using a reliable sensing element that could directly interact with the residual limb or amputee.

Another attempt by the researchers were to use EMG to improve the control the knee prosthesis. Dawley et al., (2013), used EMG approach to control the knee prosthesis, the knee prosthesis was tested with a unilateral transfemoral amputee. Although this study tested the performance of the prosthesis at level walking, the processing of EMG signals that generated from the muscles required an amplification and special calibration for the antagonist muscles.

Paper 1 discusses the concept of using in-socket sensor (sensor placed inside the socket's wall). However, the purpose was to improve the current sensory system of the existing knee prostheses. The alternative sensing elements could be involved in the field of the knee prosthesis to overcome the limitations of EMG and EEG techniques. The results obtained
from the current study that are related to the in-socket sensors (piezoelectric bimorph as a sensing element) were promising, because, they showed the capability of piezoelectric bimorph to interact with the residual limb and successfully identify the transitions between phases during stride at various activities.

Paper 3 presents the usage of both FSR and piezoelectric bimorph as in-socket sensors. The obtained results are a promising step that respond to question b, it is considered that the transitions that were identified are occurred based on the change in the remaining muscles of the residual limbs. Afterwards, those signals from the change of muscles can be processed using some kind of classifier or pattern recognition algorithm. The classifier can be used to predict the intended action and feed it into the actuation system of the knee prosthesis.

Paper 3 refers also to the question a, based on the results obtained from the piezoelectric bimorph as in-socket sensor, and this preliminary investigation of using FSR sensor can be used instead of the below on/off switches. The FSR showed the possibility to be used as triggering sensor that could identify the transition between states. It is promising to the user to use knee prosthesis along with any type of foot prosthesis, especially if the lower prostheses (knee and foot prostheses) are consisted of two fixed modules which are permanently connected to each other such as Vanderbilt leg (Sup et al., 2011). It is believed that it is easier and comfortable to the user to choose the type of foot prosthesis rather than being imposed to use a fixed type.

To discuss question c, the results acquired from the in-socket sensor cannot provide a comprehensive idea about the potential of using piezoelectric bimorph instead of the mechanical sensors. However, during the experiments that were conducted to compare FSR and piezoelectric bimorph, the piezoelectric bimorph showed an appropriate agreement with

reference to the knee angle during the movements. But, further studies are recommended to be conducted using the piezoelectric bimorph to prove the possibility of using it as an alternative solution to the current mechanical sensors.

Further to question d and e, the configuration of the piezoelectric bimorph was selected based on the manufacturer dimensions, (Piezo systems, Inc, MA, USA). The characteristics that were obtained from the piezoelectric bimorph as a sensing and an actuation elements were based on those dimensions. However, if the shape and dimension of the bimorph are different from those that are used in the current study, it may lead to different static and dynamic characteristics, for example the trapezoidal and circular shapes provide different deflection and force values. Thus, it is recommended that the researchers to conduct a full calibration for the smart element that is going to be used in the future studies. Also, referring to question v, at the stage of conducting the experiments and trials, the amputee subject did not complain from discomfort or dissatisfaction due to the presence of the in-socket sensors (FSR and piezoelectric bimorph). It is considered that there is another positive indication of the feasibility of using the piezoelectric bimorph as an in socket sensing element.

Paper 1 discusses the full characteristics that were conducted with the piezoelectric bimorph beam as a sensing element which refers to question f. The results showed the capability of the bimorph to be used as an in-socket sensor. The case study that was conducted using piezoelectric bimorph showed that the piezoelectric bimorph could measure a maximum interface pressure of about 27 kPa that occurred at the anterior proximal site. The piezoelectric bimorph sensor was compared to the current available sensors, Flexforce and FBG in terms of rage of force and linearity. The piezoelectric bimorph showed similarity to the Flexforce sensor in terms of the static operating range, however the bimorph presented a more suitable dynamic measuring range compared to both the Flexforce (FSR) and FBG

sensors. Therefore, it can be concluded that piezoelectric bimorph can be utilized as an insocket to observe the pressure mapping between the socket and the stump.

It can be concluded that, a piezoelectric bimorph is considered a self-sensing element that is categorized under the sensory aspect of mechanoreceptors. In mechanoreceptors, signals come from the user to provide information about the user intention, and the signals are used to establish a robust controller for the prosthesis. Another advantage of the smart piezoelectric beams is their capabilities to function as a power harvesting device. The power harvesting is beneficial to produce some amount of power that can be stored to operate on/off switches or electronic circuits (Ottman et al., 2002). Therefore, the current study provides an overview about the usage of the piezoelectric bimorph as a power harvesting device. A question can be asked further on that point, how can the piezoelectric bimorph be used as a harvesting device and involved in the field of the knee prosthesis?

Paper 1 and paper 2 present the full characteristics of a piezoelectric bimorph as both a sensing and actuating elements were conducted. The piezoelectric bimorph as an actuator was tested with square and sine-wave forms, and the piezoelectric bimorph beam could bend in z- direction in a certain range of motion. Moreover, the experimental frequency response along the length of the piezoelectric bimorph is an important factor when the bimorph is utilized as a power harvesting device. The frequency response is set at the operating frequencies of the device, to avoid the resonance frequencies. Based on the information obtained from the piezoelectric bimorph characteristics presented in the current study, the circuit and configuration of how the piezoelectric bimorph element can be used as a harvesting device is shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Piezoelectric bimorph harvesting kit, (a) Harvesting piezoelectric element circuit (Piezo Systems, Inc., MA, USA), (b) Harvesting electronic circuit

The harvesting circuit uses a piezoelectric bimorph can save about 5.2 V at the capacitor. When the output voltage reduces to 3.5 V, the circuit restarts the charging process. The basic concept of the circuit based on the energy harvesting bender (piezoelectric bimorph) during the compression and extension, one layer of the bimorph is compressed while the other layer is stretched, resulting in power generation. It may be excited by intermittent pulses or continuously from low frequency to resonant frequency (where rated displacement is achieved at the lowest force level). The piezoelectric bimorph as a harvesting device can be involved in the field of knee prosthesis. It is suggested that the arrangement of using the piezoelectric as a harvesting element can be used in knee prosthesis application, as shown in Figure 4.2. The diagram shows the framework of how the piezoelectric bimorph as a sensing element as well as a harvesting device. The piezoelectric bimorph as a sensing element is called in-socket sensor that establishes a framework of controlling the knee prosthesis.



Figure 4.2: Diagram shows the possibility of using the piezoelectric bimorph as a power harvesting device besides controlling the knee prosthesis using piezoelectric in-socket sensor

4.2.2 Actuation system

Paper 4 presents the efficacy of the adopted actuation system of knee prosthesis to replicate the normal range of motion. The actuation systems of the current knee prosthesis were studied, various types of actuation systems are used in the knee prostheses. Herr et al., 2003, developed an active knee prosthesis that could replicate the walking pattern. Furthermore, pneumatic and hydraulic actuation systems were used in the early stage of developing the powered leg prosthesis by Sup et al., 2009. However, the prior types of the actuation system showed shortcomings in some daily activities that are requested by the user and still need to be achieved, for example, sitting to standing, and stair ascent/descent are not extensively studied. Another type of actuation system was used by Martinez et al., 2009, in which agonist-antagonist technique was used to provide movement to the knee prosthesis. Agonist-antagonist knee prosthesis was designed using an electric motor with series of springs. The knee prosthesis could mimic the normal walking of the amputee subject. However, no more trials were conducted to study the other daily activities. Goldfarb et al., 2011, developed a lower leg prosthesis using two electric motors for both foot and knee modules. The movement is delivered to the knee joint via a moment of arm using a spindle drive that is connected with the motor shaft. Experiments were conducted with an amputee subject to replicate walking, slope, and siting situation. The results showed that the leg prosthesis could assist the patient to do the previous activities.

Paper 4 also shows how the knee joint mechanism can be simulated and tested in order to be used in the knee prosthesis. The arrangement of the knee prosthesis was successfully simulated and tested for basic daily movements. The arrangement of the actuation system consists of an electric motor (EC) from Maxon[®], combined with gearbox that is used as a knee actuator. A lead screw is connected to the motor/gearbox arrangement which delivers the moment of arm the required torque to move the knee joint.

A physical simulation tool using Simulink[™], was adopted to simulate and test the suggested actuation system. The actuation system could operate the knee mechanism at basic daily movements such as walking, sit-to-stand, stair ascent/descent, slope climbing. Furthermore, the damping and stiffness of the actuation system were adjusted during each movement. The physical simulation was essential before the real development of the actuation system, as it provides a guideline to the people who are going to develop the lower prosthesis. Although, the actuation system was studied and simulated using the physical simulation tool, still the development and experimental study of the that proposed actuation system are needed for further analysis and investigation.

It is claimed that, the real development of the actuation system could not be achieved at the current stage of the ongoing research. However, an actuation system and mechanical structure were tested previously, but the system showed some limitations which are related to the low speed of the motor and the lead screw. Therefore, it is preferred to use the physical simulation tool to model, simulate, and test the actuation system before the development process. As a conclusion point of the knee actuation system, it can be referred to the human muscles that have a number of functionalities such as the generation, consumption and transmission of force, and energy storage. Thus, research towards new polymeric materials may be adopted for the field of the knee prosthesis. These materials could be used as artificial muscles that exhibit more muscle-like functionalities.

4.2.3 Mechanism and materials of the knee prosthesis

The third question is referring to the efficacy of the mechanism of the knee prosthesis to mimic the basic daily activities. The knee joint mechanism was designed, simulated, and tested at different daily activities. The knee mechanism is composed of the actuation system (linear actuation system) and the mechanical structure. As most activities occurred within the range from 0°-120° as reported by Kingston, 2001. The mechanism was designed using the CAD drawing software, Solidworks[™]. The CAD drawing was imported to the Simulink[™] environment and the dynamics of the knee mechanism for all joints were determined and adjusted. The mechanism basically was designed based on the crank slider mechanism which was adopted by Varol et al., (2009) and Sup et al., (2007). The proposed knee mechanism could be made to provide a range of knee angle from 0°-120°. Also, a PID control algorithm was established to adjust the knee mechanism that is capable of delivering the required torque at basic daily activities (refer to paper 4). The different types of basic daily activities named, walking, sit-to-stand, stair ascent/descent, and slope climbing were tested within time intervals of 1 s, 0.5 s, and 0.1 s. The knee mechanism successfully replicated these movements at time intervals of 1 s and 0.5 s, respectively. However, the mechanical structure requires modifications to replicate the daily activities at a time interval of 0.1 s, as the values of the mass and inertia of the mechanical structure need to be revised to meet the requirements of a minimum time intervals.

In conclusion, the knee prosthesis mechanism was simulated and tested. The material of the knee structure was selected, Aluminum Alloy 6061as it is light in weight and less expensive compared to other alloys. Moreover, the mechanical structure should be fabricated with structural materials of an appropriate strength and durability as well as some functionality, also materials should give the prosthesis a lifelike natural body appearance (cosmesis). Furthermore, searching for new materials such as carbon fibre to be used in the prosthesis fabrication is recommended to improve the prosthesis functionality. Carbon fibre composite materials have the advantages of composite materials that include extremely strong and light weight, and are less-expensive than alternatives such as steel, aluminium, titanium and magnesium, and have greater resistance to corrosion, greater flexibility, impact resistance and vibration damping. They are also extremely resilient and show superior performance in a wide range of temperatures. The advantages of such new materials are savings in a patient's energy expenditure and an improved and more comfortable fit. Clinical studies have confirmed many aspects of these improvements. The following section shows an overall framework of controlling the actuated knee mechanism for transfemoral amputees using in- socket sensors.

Also, in order to develop an advanced knee prosthesis system, Figure 4.3 illustrates the general steps involved in system design and development of the knee prosthesis from initial stages to final validation and approval. It should be noted that all the stages of conceptual design, testing and validation of that, as well as detailed design and prototyping involving a number of iterations, before the final product satisfies the specifications and the requirements.



Figure 4.3: Suggested development stages of the future knee prosthesis

4.2.4 Framework of controlling the knee prosthesis using in-socket sensor

This section presents the possibility of controlling the knee prosthesis using the in-socket sensors (Figure 4.4). The prosthetic limb can be integrated with the in-socket sensory system, the sensing element is a force sensing resistor or a piezoelectric sensor. The sensory system can detect the gait phase comprises heel strike, foot flat, toe-off, stair ascend, and sit to stand movements. The prosthetic limb integrated with the sensory system, the sensing element is mounted on an inner surface of the prosthetic socket.



Figure 4.4: Detailed description of the controlling the prosthetic limb via in-socket sensors

The prosthetic limb integrated with the sensory system, the sensing elements are mounted at an anterior rectus femoris and posterior biceps femoris regions of the prosthetic socket. The method of producing the prosthetic limb movement by using the prosthetic limb integrated with the sensory system can be performed according to the following steps. Firstly, transmitting information from the sensing element to the controller. Secondly, estimating the gait phase using the controller and creating the input signal based on the information received from the plurality of sensing elements. Thirdly, sending the input signal from the controller to the actuator to produce the prosthetic limb movement. The information of the lower limb can detected by the sensing element and then analyzed by the controller based on maximum value of amplitude voltage, minimum value of amplitude voltage. The prosthetic socket can be made of various materials and in different sizes, but preferably custom-made for each amputee according to the shape and condition of the residual amputee stump and the amputee's mobility grade.

A lever arm connects the prosthetic socket to an actuator for actuating a movement of the prosthetic limb. The actuator is an electric motor coupled with a spindle drive and revolute joint on a knee chassis. The spindle is connected to a spindle nut that moves along the spindle to produce a linear motion of the prosthetic limb as shown in Figure 4.4. The prosthetic limb further includes a fail-safe feature in which the prosthetic limb will become a free moving passive limb or will fully extend in the case of a system failure or a loss of power supply. This will allow the amputee some level of mobility and stability to get to a safe place to assess a problem or to get help.

The prosthetic limb is integrated with the sensory system for detecting amputee's intention movement in order to achieve a more responsive gait as well as improve abilities beyond normal walking such as stair climbing and hill descent. The sensory system is a communication mechanism connecting the sensing element, the controller, and the actuator. The sensing element is mounted on an inner surface of the prosthetic socket. Generally, placing the sensing element in these two regions (biceps and rectus femoris) should be sufficient in detecting the amputee's intention for movement. Adding the sensing element onto those regions at both proximal and distal regions of the prosthetic socket may give a more accurate reading for estimation of a gait phase.

CHAPTER 5 : CONCLUSION

In the current thesis three aims were presented, each aim was achieved at a specific stage of the research. First stage, the smart piezoelectric bimorph was fully tested in terms of its functionality as a sensing element and also an actuation element. The piezoelectric bimorph was characterized as an in- sensor, and trials were conducted with an amputee subject. The bimorph showed the ability to measure the pressure variation during the stride with comparison of FSR and FBG. In addition, the bimorph static and dynamic parameters were worked out to be used as guidelines for the future development of the knee prosthesis. Similarly, the capability of piezoelectric bimorph as an actuator was tested by using it in a particular application of grasping small object. The deflection, time response, and dynamic range of the piezoelectric bimorph were experimentally investigated to show the validity of the piezoelectric bimorph at this particular application.

The second stage was to compare the piezoelectric bimorph as in–socket sensor with another available sensor force sensitive resistor (FSR). The comparison was conducted by utilizing the piezoelectric bimorph and the FSR to detect the movements of the knee prosthesis during walking, stair ascent, and sit-to-stand. Both sensing elements were embedded to the socket's wall, and the subject was asked to perform different knee activities. The piezoelectric bimorph showed agreement with reference to the knee angle at most of the movements. However, the FSR was exhibited as a triggering sensor while the knee angle varied during the movements, therefore, it is recommended to use the FSR as a triggering sensor.

The third stage of the current research was to design, simulate, test, and control a new knee prosthesis mechanism that is actuated by a linear actuation system. As the literature

indicated, some limitation of the actuation system in terms of generating required torque and power at movements such as stair ascent, stair climbing, and sit-to-stand as well as some limitation in the range of motion. Thus, the linear actuated knee mechanism was physically simulated, and its performance during different basic daily activities was tested. The new actuated mechanism was capable of replicating the movements while the knee mechanism was controlled using PID controller, the actuation system could generate the required torque at different knee flexion angles. The parameters of the actuation system and the estimated parameters of the knee prosthesis mechanism were listed for the purpose of future development of the mechanism. The physical simulation tool was an efficient method while the dynamic parameters in terms of damping coefficient, spring stiffness, and inertia were incorporated during the simulation. In addition, the physical simulation provides more flexibility to test the knee mechanism before the development stage.

It is believed that there are possibilities to improve the work presented here. Furthermore, several important directions for the future work can be identified. However, it is seen that the first step to further improve the current work, is to assess it based on the following three points:

a. The aim of the work:

The current work presents two aims which are, design, testing, investigation and evaluation of the sensory system, and mechanism of the knee prosthesis. First, with respect to the design of the sensing element which is the basic part of the sensory system was not fully achieved in the current thesis. However the piezoelectric bimorph was purchased from the manufacturer for the purpose of using it in the prosthesis application. In addition, the signal conditioning circuits and data acquisition system were established during the experiments. The piezoelectric bimorph is considered a smart sensor that can function without the need to external power supply. Second, the testing and investigation of the piezoelectric bimorph were carried out. A comprehensive calibration was performed using a standard calibration machine. Also, investigation of the sensory/actuation capability of the bimorph was achieved by using it in two different applications, to evaluate its performance. Moreover, the full investigation that was investigated will provide an appropriate guideline to the researchers to make use of such kind of smart elements in the field of lower and upper prosthesis. Finally, the clinical evaluation of the piezoelectric bimorph was performed by fixing it inside the socket's wall of a transfemoral amputee, while the amputee was instructed to replicate different daily activities. Each activity was repeated 5 times to check the repeatability and sensitivity of the sensory system in the real situation. It is believed that, more clinical trials may give further evaluation of the sensory system.

The second aim is related to the prosthesis mechanism. The design of the knee mechanism was successfully accomplished and simulated. The investigation of the mechanism was simulated using a physical simulation tool. This simulation tool is a new approach that is used nowadays in simulating different control system applications. The physical simulation could mimic the realistic behavior of a system with acceptable assumptions. However, still the real development of the knee mechanism may show a realistic investigation than the simulated one. At the current study, the knee joint mechanism could not be fabricated. However, the first prototype was developed at the early stage of the research. The prototype showed some limitations in some aspects such as speed of the knee rotation and mechanical design. So, it is recommended to use the physical simulation to check the validity of the knee mechanism prior to the development process. Although the physical simulation could successfully mimic the performance of knee mechanism during simulation, the knee

mechanism has not been yet tested by a user. Testing the knee mechanism with transfermoral amputees has to be taken into consideration in the future research.

b. The significance of thesis contribution

The thesis presents some important aspects that may be useful in the field of prostheses development First, the possibility of using the smart piezoelectric bimorph as an alternative sensing element to EMG and EEG in the field of prostheses. The literature does not provide sufficient characteristics about the sensing element (piezoelectric bimorph) that was used in the current study. Thus, full characterization and evaluation of the piezoelectric bimorph that was conducted during the study is considered a crucial step in the field of prostheses. On the other hand, the physical simulation tool using Simulink[™] is newly used in the field of designing and developing the prostheses especially in the analysis of the system's dynamics and building the control system. This physical simulation tool reduces the errors that may occur during the manufacturing process of the mechanism and it provides feedback to the designer for updating the dimensions of the mechanism according to the suggestions and recommendations received from the users and specialists.

c. Appropriate methodology and methods

In the current thesis, a non-traditional philosophy was adopted in order to achieve the aim of the thesis. It is believed that the biomechatronics philosophy provides a possibility to use a smart sensing element that was involved in the in-socket sensor and simulate and test the knee mechanism. Furthermore, the standard calibration machine that was used to perform the full calibration for the sensing element contains useful static and dynamic functions. Especially when performing the dynamic test for the sensing element, the machine could generate various types of functions such as sine and square waves with different amplitudes and frequencies. Those functions helped to get extensive characteristics of sensing that was not fully performed in the previous studies. On the other hand, the type of socket that was used during the experiments which was a quadrilateral double socket, was used by the user for several years. Also, it was informed by the user that his socket was comfortable and he was satisfied with it. However, different types of sockets are recommended to be tested for further clinical evaluation of the sensory system.

5.1 Directions for Future Work

5.1.1 Knee prosthesis design and development

Design and development of the knee prosthesis should start with a clear description of requirements, which will be translated into system specifications. For lower limb prosthesis, the aim is a system that mimics human locomotion, including all aspects of functionality and appearance. By considering the functionality, system requirements may be summarized in general terms as follows. The system should provide locomotion like normal, interact with the user, be comfortable, and adapt with different terrains and environments,

Research is needed to clearly understand normal human locomotion and how the biological system adapts itself to various terrains and environments. Such research into normal and pathological human locomotion has greatly helped the design and development of new generations of the prosthesis. The testing and evaluation of these systems on amputees and the feedback from the various parties involved to have also helped in system development and improvement.

5.1.2 Useful points for the upcoming research

As a final conclusion of the current study, it can be noted that there are several possibilities to enhance the current work and various directions of further research that can be listed as follows:

- Clinical trials with more subjects of different types of the socket will provide more investigation about the behavior of the in-socket sensor during different level of movements.
- ii) The development, testing, and clinical evaluation of the adopted new design of the knee mechanism with a transfermoral amputees, may provide some important aspects that have to be considered during the early stage of the design.
- iii) Development of knee prosthesis using new materials such as carbon fibre will lead to light weight and less-expensive knee system compared to other types of materials.
- iv) The framework of controlling the actuated knee mechanism can be implemented and tested with different amputee subjects, various types of sockets, and different level of amputations.
- v) Piezoelectric bimorph and FSR sensors that were used in the current study may be compared with different type of sensing technologies such as F-scan for more comprehensive investigation about the effect of using the variety of sensors.

REFERENCES

- Almouahed, S., Gouriou, M., Hamitouche, C., Stindel, E., & Roux, C. (2011). The use of piezoceramics as electrical energy harvesters within instrumented knee implant during walking. *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics*, 16(5), 799-807.
- Alzaydi, A. A., Cheung, A., Joshi, N., & Wong, S. (2011). Active prosthetic knee fuzzy logic-PID motion control, sensors and test platform design. *International Journal of Scientific & Engineering Research*, 2(12), 1-17.
- Bellmann, M., Schmalz, T., & Blumentritt, S. (2010). Comparative biomechanical analysis of current microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knee joints. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 91(4), 644-652.
- Bellmann, M., Schmalz, T., Ludwigs, E., & Blumentritt, S. (2012). Immediate effects of a new microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knee Joint: a comparative biomechanical evaluation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 93(3), 541-549.
- Bishop, R. H. (2007). *Mechatronic systems, sensors, and actuators: fundamentals and modeling:* CRC Press Inc.
- Borjian, R. (2008). *Design, modeling, and control of an active prosthetic knee* (Master's thesis), University of Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.
- Bradley, D. (2010). *Mechatronics in action: case studies in mechatronics-applications and education*: Berlin Springer Verlag.
- Brooker, G. (2012). Introduction to biomechatronics: Scitech Pub Incorporated.
- Dawley, J. A., Fite, K. B., & Fulk, G. D. (2013). EMG control of a bionic knee prosthesis: exploiting muscle co-contractions for improved locomotor function. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics, (pp. 1-6).
- Dedic, R., & Dindo, H. (2011). SmartLeg: an intelligent active robotic prosthesis for lowerlimb amputees. Proceedings of IEEE International Symposium on Information, Communication and Automation Technologies, (pp. 1-7).
- Du, L., Zhang, F., Liu, M., & Huang, H. (2012). Towards Design of an Environment-aware Adaptive Locomotion-Mode-Recognition System. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 59(10), 2716-2725.
- Dunmin, L., Daoxiang, G., Ye, T., & Aiping, X. (2011). Mechanism and dynamics of active and passive knee joint of Above knee prosthesis. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Computer Science and Automation Engineering, (pp. 246-249).
- El-Sayed, A., Hamzaid, N., & Abu Osman, N. (2014). Piezoelectric bimorphs' characteristics as in-socket sensors for transfemoral amputees. *Sensors*, 14(12), 23724-23741.

- El-Sayed, A. M., Abo-Ismail, A., El-Melegy, M. T., Hamzaid, N. A., & Osman, N. A. A. (2013). Development of a micro-gripper using piezoelectric bimorphs. *Sensors*, 13(5), 5826-5840.
- Geng, Y., Xu, X., Chen, L., & Yang, P. (2010). Design and analysis of active transfermoral prosthesis. Proceedings of IEEE Conference on Industrial Electronics Society, (pp. 1495 - 1499).
- Gultepe, E., Randhawa, J. S., Kadam, S., Yamanaka, S., Selaru, F. M., Shin, E. J., Kalloo, A. N., & Gracias, D. H. (2013). Biopsy with Thermally-Responsive Unterhered Microtools. *Advanced Materials*, 25(4), 514-519.
- Hardaker, P. A., Passow, B. N., & Elizondo, D. (2014). Multiple sensor outputs and computational intelligence towards estimating state and speed for control of lower limb prostheses. Proceedings of 14th UK Workshop on Computational Intelligence, (pp. 1-8).
- Herr, H., & Wilkenfeld, A. (2003). User-adaptive control of a magnetorheological prosthetic knee. *Industrial Robot: An International Journal*, 30(1), 42-55.
- Highsmith, M. J., Kahle, J. T., Bongiorni, D. R., Sutton, B. S., Groer, S., & Kaufman, K. R. (2010). Safety, energy efficiency, and cost efficacy of the C-Leg for transfemoral amputees: A review of the literature. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 34(4), 362-377.
- Hollander, K. W., Sugar, T. G., & Herring, D. E. (2005). Adjustable robotic tendon using a 'Jack Spring'&trade. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics, (pp. 113-118).
- Hoover, C. D., Fulk, G. D., & Fite, K. B. (2013). Stair ascent with a powered transfermoral prosthesis under direct myoelectric control. *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics*, 18(3), 1191-1200.
- Jay Martin, B., CP, LP, Andrew Pollock, BS, Jessica Hettinger, BS. (2010). Microprocessor lower limb prosthetics: review of current state of the art. *American Academy of Orthotists and Prosthetists*, 22(2010), 183-193.
- Jimenez-Fabian, R., & Verlinden, O. (2012). Review of control algorithms for robotic ankle systems in lower-limb orthoses, prostheses, and exoskeletons. *Medical Engineering & Physics*, 34(4), 397-408.
- Johansson, J. L., Sherrill, D. M., Riley, P. O., Bonato, P., & Herr, H. (2005). A clinical comparison of variable-damping and mechanically passive prosthetic knee devices. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 84(8), 563-575.
- Kapti, A. O., & Yucenur, M. S. (2006). Design and control of an active artificial knee joint. *Mechanism and Machine Theory*, 41(12), 1477-1485.

- Khatwani, P., & Tiwari, A. (2013). A survey on different noise removal techniques of EEG signals. International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer and Communication Engineering, 2(2), 1091-1095.
- Lawson, B. E., Varol, H. A., & Goldfarb, M. (2011). Standing stability enhancement with an intelligent powered transfemoral prosthesis. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 58(9), 2617-2624.
- Lawson, B. E., Varol, H. A., Sup, F., & Goldfarb, M. (2010). Stumble detection and classification for an intelligent transfermoral prosthesis. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference of Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, (pp. 511-514).
- Martinez-Villalpando, E. C., & Herr, H. (2009). Agonist-antagonist active knee prosthesis: A preliminary study in level-ground walking. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development*, 46(3), 361-373.
- Martinez-Villalpando, E. C., Weber, J., Elliott, G., & Herr, H. (2008). Design of an agonistantagonist active knee prosthesis. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Biomedical Robotics and Biomechatronics, (pp. 529-534).
- McGimpsey, G., & Bradford, T. (2011). Limb prosthetics services and devices critical unmet need: market analysis. *Bioengineering Institute Center for Neuroprosthetics: Worcester Polytechnic Institution*, 1-35.
- Michael, J. W. (1999). Modern prosthetic knee mechanisms. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 36(1), 39-47.
- OBE, S. Z., Sykes., A., Lang, S., & Cullington, a. I. (2005). Adaptive prosthesis a new concept in prosthetic knee control. *Robotica*, 23, 337–344.
- Ottman, G. K., Hofmann, H. F., Bhatt, A. C., & Lesieutre, G. A. (2002). Adaptive piezoelectric energy harvesting circuit for wireless remote power supply. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 17(5), 669-676.
- Popovic, D., & Schwirtlich, L. (1988). Belgrade active A/K prosthesis. *Electrophysiological Kinesiology*, 337-343.
- Radcliffe, C. (1977). The Knud Jansen lecture: above-knee prosthetics. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 1(3), 146-160.
- Repovš, G. (2010). Dealing with noise in EEG recording and data analysis. *Informatica Medica Slovenica*, 15(1), 18-25.
- Segal, A. D., Orendurff, M. S., Klute, G. K., McDowell, M. L., Pecoraro, J. A., Shofer, J., & Czerniecki, J. M. (2006). Kinematic and kinetic comparisons of transfemoral amputee gait using C-Leg[®] and Mauch SNS[®] prosthetic knees. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 43(7), 857-870.

- Song, L., Wang, X., Gong, S., Shi, Z., & Chen, L. (2008). Design of active artificial knee joint. Proceedings of 7th Asian-Pacific Conference on Medical and Biological Engineering (pp. 155-158).
- Stein, J. L., & Flowers, W. C. (1987). Stance phase control of above-knee prostheses: knee control versus SACH foot design. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 20(1), 19-28.
- Sup, F., Bohara, A., & Goldfarb, M. (2007). Design and Control of a Powered Knee and Ankle Prosthesis. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automationm, (pp. 4134-4139).
- Sup, F., Varol, H. A., & Goldfarb, M. (2011). Upslope walking with a powered knee and ankle prosthesis: initial results with an amputee subject. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 19(1), 71-78.
- Sup, F., Varol, H. A., Mitchell, J., Withrow, T., & Goldfarb, M. (2008). Design and control of an active electrical knee and ankle prosthesis. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Biomedical Robotics and Biomechatronics, (pp. 523-528).
- Syrseloudis, C. E., Emiris, I. Z., Maganaris, C. N., & Lilas, T. E. (2008). Design framework for a simple robotic ankle evaluation and rehabilitation device. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, (pp. 4310-4313).
- Teplan, M. (2002). Fundamentals of EEG measurement. *Measurement science review*, 2(2), 1-11.
- Van der Linde, H., Hofstad, C. J., Geurts, A. C., Posterna, K., Geertzen, J. H., & van Limbeek, J. (2004). A systematic literature review of the effect of different prosthetic components on human functioning with a lower-limb prosthesis. *Journal* of Rehabilitation Research & Development, 41(4), 555-570.
- Wang, B., Xie, H., Cong, D., & Xu, X. (2007). Biped robot control strategy and openclosed-loop iterative learning control. *Frontiers of Electrical and Electronic Engineering in China*, 2(1), 104-107.
- Wu, S.-K., Waycaster, G., & Shen, X. (2011). Electromyography-based control of active above-knee prostheses. *Control Engineering Practice*, 19(8), 875-882.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS, CONFERENCE PROCEEDING, AND PATENT

Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur Azah Hamzaid, Noor Azuan Abu Osman. Modelling and control of a linear actuated transfemoral knee joint in basic daily movements. *Applied Mathematics & Information Sciences*. 2014, (In press).

Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur Azah Hamzaid, Noor Azuan Abu Osman. Piezoelectric bimorphs' Characteristics as in-Socket sensors for transfemoral amputees. *Sensors*, 2014, 14(12), 23724-23741.

Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur A. Hamzaid, Kenneth Y.S. Tan, Noor A. Abu Osman. Detection of prosthetic knee movement phases via in-socket Sensors: A feasibility study. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2015, 13 pages.

Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur Azah Hamzaid, and Noor Azuan Abu Osman, "Technology efficacy in active prosthetic knees for transfemoral amputees: a quantitative evaluation. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014, 17 pages.

Amr M. El-Sayed; Abo-Ismail, Ahmed; El-Melegy, Moumen T.; Nur Azah Hamzaid; Noor Azuan Abu Osman. Development of a micro-gripper using piezoelectric bimorphs. *Sensors*, 2013, 13(5), 5826-5840.

Kenneth Y.S., Amr M. El-Sayed, Nur A. Hamzaid, In-socket sensor for transfemoral prosthesis, *International Convention on Rehabilitation Engineering & Assistive Technology*. 2012, South Korea.

Amr M. El-Sayed and Nur Azah Hamzaid, Prosthetic limb integrated with a sensory system. *Patent*, PI 2014701205.